Section 1: 10-Q (10-Q)
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
[ x ] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018
[]

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _____________ to _____________
Commission File Number 001-10822

National Health Investors, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland

62-1470956

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

222 Robert Rose Drive, Murfreesboro, Tennessee

37129

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

(615) 890-9100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [ x ] No [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such
files). Yes [ x ] No [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an
emerging growth company. See definition of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company”
in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer
[x]
Non-accelerated filer
[]
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer
[]
Smaller reporting company [ ]
Emerging growth company [ ]

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [ ] No [ x ]
There were 42,230,851 shares of common stock outstanding of the registrant as of November 2, 2018.

Table of Contents

Page
Part I. Financial Information
Item 1. Financial Statements

3

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

26

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

51

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

52

Part II. Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

53

Item 1A. Risk Factors

53

Item 6. Exhibits

54

Signatures

55
2

Table of Contents
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

(unaudited)
Assets:
Real estate properties:
Land
Buildings and improvements
Construction in progress

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Real estate properties, net
Mortgage and other notes receivable, net
Cash and cash equivalents
Straight-line rent receivable
Other assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Equity:
Debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Dividends payable
Lease deposit liabilities
Deferred income

200,197
2,599,302
7,890

$

191,623
2,471,602
2,678

2,807,389
(433,484)

2,665,903
(380,202)

2,373,905
155,461
2,638
114,397
24,608

2,285,701
141,486
3,063
97,359
18,212

$

2,671,009

$

2,545,821

$

1,220,135
18,750
42,231
21,275
5,218

$

1,145,497
16,302
39,456
21,275
1,174

Total Liabilities

1,307,609

1,223,704

422
1,336,779
23,686
2,513

415
1,289,919
32,605
(822)

1,363,400

1,322,117

Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' Equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized;
42,230,851 and 41,532,154 shares issued and outstanding
Capital in excess of par value
Cumulative net income in excess of dividends
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total Stockholders' Equity
$

Total Liabilities and Equity

2,671,009

$

2,545,821

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017 was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date.

3

Table of Contents
NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Revenues:
Rental income

$

Interest income and other
Expenses:
Depreciation
Interest, including amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Legal
Franchise, excise and other taxes
General and administrative
Loan and realty losses

Income before investment and other gains and losses
Investment and other gains
Loss on convertible note retirement
$

Net income
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018
2017
(unaudited)

2018
2017
(unaudited)

71,688
3,227

$

$
$

$

210,809
9,807

$

197,077
10,499

74,915

71,352

220,616

207,576

18,153
12,374
371
245
2,793
—

17,023
11,746
215
268
2,513
—

53,282
36,207
705
857
9,727
1,849

50,006
35,139
417
802
9,143
—

33,936

31,765

102,627

95,507

40,979
—
—

39,587
—
(495)

117,989
—
(738)

112,069
10,088
(591)

40,979

$

42,187,077
42,434,499

Earnings per common share:
Net income per common share - basic
Net income per common share - diluted

68,204
3,148

.97
.97

39,092

$

41,108,699
41,448,263

$
$

.95
.94

117,251

$

41,808,017
41,932,736

$
$

2.80
2.80

121,566

40,681,582
40,937,337

$
$

2.99
2.97

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

(unaudited)
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gains on securities
Reclassification for amounts recognized in investment and other gains
Increase (decrease) in fair value of cash flow hedges

$

40,979

$

—
—
401
(27)

Reclassification for amounts recognized as interest expense
$

Comprehensive income

41,353

39,092

$

—
—
(290)
695

374

Total other comprehensive income (loss)

39,497

117,251

$

—
—
2,774
326

405
$

2017

(unaudited)

(26)
(10,038)
(515)
2,129

3,100
$

120,351

121,566

(8,450)
$

113,116

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018

2017
(unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of debt issuance costs, debt discounts and prepaids
Amortization of commitment fees and note receivable discounts
Amortization of lease incentives
Straight-line rent income
Non-cash interest income on construction loans
Gain on sale of real estate
Loss on convertible note retirement
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Loan and realty losses
Payment of lease incentives
Non-cash stock-based compensation
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investments in mortgage and other notes receivable
Collections of mortgage and other notes receivable
Investments in real estate
Investments in real estate development
Investments in renovations of existing real estate
Proceeds from disposition of real estate properties
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Payments on revolving credit facility
Borrowings on term loan
Payments on term loans
Debt issuance costs
Taxes remitted on employee stock awards
Proceeds from issuance of common shares
Convertible note redemption
Dividends paid to stockholders
Net cash used in financing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

117,251

$

121,566

53,282
3,229
(625)
240
(17,516)
(1,257)
—
738
—
1,849
(3,000)
2,131

50,006
4,154
(393)
69
(18,956)
(708)
(50)
591
(10,038)
—
(2,250)
2,270

(3,664)
3,340

(2,575)
2,274

155,998

145,960

(16,144)
3,640
(129,558)
—
(7,412)
—
—

(44,729)
30,025
(133,251)
(9,901)
(5,614)
450
18,182

(149,474)

(144,838)

211,000
(409,000)
300,000
(854)
(2,113)
(730)
47,893
(29,985)
(123,160)

193,000
(184,000)
250,000
(250,593)
(4,149)
(586)
122,198
(14,312)
(113,586)

(6,949)

(2,028)

(425)
3,063

(906)
4,832

2,638

$

3,926

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018

2017
(unaudited)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Change in accounts payable related to investments in real estate construction
Tenant investment in leased asset

$

32,680

$

31,414

$
$

568
3,775

$
$

1,500
1,250

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Capital in
Excess of Par
Value

Cumulative
Net Income in
Excess of
Dividends

415

$ 1,289,919

$

Common Stock
Shares
Balances at December 31, 2017

Amount

41,532,154

$

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

—

—

—

Total comprehensive income

—

—

—

Equity component in redemption of convertible notes

—

—

668,072

7

—

—

(730)

30,625

—

—

Non-cash stock-based compensation

—

—

2,131

Dividends declared, $3.00 per common share

—

—

—

422

$ 1,336,779

Issuance of common stock, net
Taxes remitted on employee stock awards
Shares issued on stock options exercised

Balances at September 30, 2018

42,230,851

$

32,605

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$

(235)

(822)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
$

1,322,117

235

—

117,251

3,100

120,351

(2,427)

—

—

(2,427)

47,886

—

—

47,893

—

—

(730)

—

—

—

—

—

(125,935)
$

23,686

2,131

—
$

2,513

(125,935)
$

1,363,400

The accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
NOTE 1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
We, the management of National Health Investors, Inc., (“NHI” or the “Company”) believe that the unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of which these notes are an integral part include all normal, recurring adjustments that are necessary to fairly present the condensed
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of NHI in all material respects. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2017 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date. We assume that users of these condensed
consolidated financial statements have read or have access to the audited December 31, 2017 consolidated financial statements and that the adequacy of
additional disclosure needed for a fair presentation, except regarding material contingencies, may be determined in that context. Accordingly, footnotes
and other disclosures which would substantially duplicate those contained in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017 have been omitted. This condensed consolidated financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for a full year for a variety of reasons including, but not limited to, acquisitions and dispositions, changes in interest rates, rents and the timing
of debt and equity financings. For a better understanding of NHI and its condensed consolidated financial statements, we recommend reading these
condensed consolidated financial statements in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017,
which are included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), a copy of which is
available at our web site: www.nhireit.com.
Principles of Consolidation - The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries, joint ventures, partnerships and consolidated variable interest entities (“VIE”), if any. All intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
A VIE is broadly defined as an entity with one or more of the following characteristics: (a) the total equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance
the entity’s activities without additional subordinated financial support; (b) as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack (i) the ability to
make decisions about the entity’s activities through voting or similar rights, (ii) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity, or (iii) the right
to receive the expected residual returns of the entity; or (c) the equity investors have voting rights that are not proportional to their economic interests,
and substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve, or are conducted on behalf of, an investor that has disproportionately few voting rights.
We apply Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance for our arrangements with VIEs which requires us to identify entities for which
control is achieved through means other than voting rights and to determine which business enterprise is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. In
accordance with FASB guidance, management must evaluate each of the Company’s contractual relationships which creates a variable interest in other
entities. If the Company has a variable interest and the entity is a VIE, then management must determine whether the Company is the primary beneficiary
of the VIE. If it is determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary, NHI would consolidate the VIE. We identify the primary beneficiary of a VIE
as the enterprise that has both: (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; and (ii)
the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant to the entity. We perform this analysis on an ongoing
basis.
At September 30, 2018, we held an interest in eight unconsolidated VIEs, and, because we generally lack either directly or through related parties any
material input in the activities that most significantly impact their economic performance, we have concluded that NHI is not the primary beneficiary.
Accordingly, we account for our transactions with these entities and their subsidiaries at amortized cost.
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Our VIEs are summarized below by date of initial involvement. For further discussion of the nature of the relationships, including the sources of our
exposure to these VIEs, see the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements cross-referenced below.
Date

Name

2012
2014
2014
2015
2016
2017
2017
2018

Bickford Senior Living
Senior Living Communities
Life Care Services affiliate
Affiliates of East Lake
Senior Living Management
Navion Senior Solutions
Evolve Senior Living
Comfort Care Senior Living

1

Source of Exposure

Carrying Amount

Various1
Notes and straight-line receivable
Notes receivable
Straight-line receivable
Notes and straight-line receivable
Straight-line receivable
Note receivable
Straight-line receivable

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

46,319,000
42,105,000
57,308,000
4,151,000
26,531,000
553,000
9,923,000
54,000

Maximum Exposure to
Loss
Note Reference
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

75,275,000
56,108,000
59,772,000
4,151,000
26,531,000
553,000
9,923,000
54,000

Notes 2, 3
Notes 2, 3
Note 3
Note 2
—
—
—
Note 2

Notes, straight-line rent receivables, and unamortized lease incentives

We are not obligated to provide support beyond our stated commitments to these tenants and borrowers whom we classify as VIEs, and accordingly
our maximum exposure to loss as a result of these relationships is limited to the amount of our commitments, as shown above and discussed in the
notes. When the above relationships involve leases, some additional exposure to economic loss is present. Generally, additional economic loss on a
lease, if any, would be limited to that resulting from a short period of arrearage and non-payment of monthly rent before we are able to take effective
remedial action, as well as costs incurred in transitioning the lease. The potential extent of such loss will be dependent upon individual facts and
circumstances, cannot be quantified, and is therefore not included in the tabulation above. Typically, the only carrying amounts involving our leases are
accumulated straight-line receivables. For VIE relationships listed above without a note reference, please refer to our most recent Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Earnings Per Share - The weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period is used to calculate basic earnings
per common share. Diluted earnings per common share assumes the exercise of stock options using the treasury stock method, to the extent dilutive.
Diluted earnings per share also incorporate the potential dilutive impact of our convertible senior notes. We apply the treasury stock method to our
convertible debt instruments, the effect of which is that conversion will not be assumed for purposes of computing diluted earnings per share unless the
average share price for the period exceeds the conversion price per share.
Reclassifications - We have reclassified certain balances where necessary to conform the presentation of prior periods to the current period. These
reclassifications had no effect on previously reported net income.
New Accounting Pronouncements - For a review of recent accounting pronouncements pertinent to our operations and management’s judgment as
to the impact that the eventual adoption of these pronouncements will have on our financial position and results of operations, see Note 11.
NOTE 2. REAL ESTATE
As of September 30, 2018, we owned 219 health care real estate properties located in 33 states and consisting of 143 senior housing communities
(“SHO”), 71 skilled nursing facilities (“SNF”), 3 hospitals and 2 medical office buildings. Our senior housing communities include assisted living
facilities, senior living campuses, independent living facilities, and entrance-fee communities. These investments (excluding our corporate office of
$2,471,000) consisted of properties with an original cost of approximately $2,804,918,000 rented under triple-net leases to 29 lessees.
We acquired the following real estate properties during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 (in thousands):
Operator
The Ensign Group
Bickford Senior Living

Date

Properties

Asset Class

January/May 2018
April 2018

3
5

SNF
SHO

May 2018

2

SHO

Comfort Care Senior Living

10

Amount
$

43,404
69,750
17,140

$

130,294

Table of Contents
Ensign
On January 12, 2018, NHI acquired from a developer a 121-bed skilled nursing facility in Waxahachie, Texas for a cash investment of $14,404,000, and
in May, we acquired from another developer two 132-bed skilled nursing facilities in Garland and Fort Worth, Texas for a cash investment totaling
$29,000,000. Additional consideration of $1,275,000 for the Waxahachie property and $1,250,000 for each of Garland and Ft. Worth were contributed by
the lessee, The Ensign Group (“Ensign”). We have capitalized the tenant contributions as a component of the cost of the facilities and have recorded
the contributions as deferred revenue, which we are amortizing to revenue over the term of the master lease to which these properties have now been
added. The remaining term of the master lease extends through April 2031, plus renewal options. The blended initial lease rate is set at 8.1%, subject to
annual escalators based on prevailing inflation rates. The acquisitions were accounted for as an asset purchase and fulfill our commitment to acquire
and lease to Ensign four skilled nursing facilities in New Braunfels, Waxahachie, Garland and Fort Worth, Texas.
Comfort Care
On May 31, 2018, NHI acquired two assisted living facilities comprising a total of 106 units in Bridgeport and Saginaw, Michigan for a cash
investment of $17,140,000, inclusive of $100,000 in closing costs. We leased the facilities to affiliates of Comfort Care Senior Living (“Comfort Care”) at
an initial lease rate of 7.25% with annual escalators adjusted for prevailing inflation rates, subject to a floor and ceiling of 2% and 3%, respectively. The
lease provides for an initial six-month cash escrow. With the acquisition, NHI also obtained fair value-based purchase options for two newly
constructed facilities operated by Comfort Care, with the purchase option windows to open upon stabilization. The acquisition was accounted for as an
asset purchase.
Our relationship to Comfort Care consists of our leasehold interests and purchase options and is considered a variable interest, analogous to a
financing arrangement. Comfort Care is structured to limit liability for potential damage claims, is capitalized for that purpose and is considered a VIE
within the definition set forth in Note 1.
Affiliates of East Lake Capital Management
In documents we have previously filed with and furnished to the SEC, we have used the shorthand “East Lake” to refer to the East Lake Capital
Management affiliated entities for whom we act as landlord. These entities consist of EL FW Intermediary I, LLC (for the Freshwater/Watermark
continuing care retirement communities) and SH Regency Leasing, LLC (for the three assisted living facilities in Tennessee, Indiana and North Carolina
referred to as “Regency”).
Our relationship with the affiliates of East Lake Capital Management (“Affiliates”) consists of our leasehold interests and is considered a variable
interest, analogous to a financing arrangement. The Affiliates are structured to limit liability for potential damage claims, are capitalized for that purpose
and are considered VIEs within the definition set forth in Note 1. See Note 6 for a discussion of the litigation between East Lake and NHI and the status
of our lease with the affiliated entities.
Major Tenants
Bickford
On April 30, 2018, we acquired an assisted living/memory-care portfolio in Ohio and Pennsylvania totaling 320 units and comprised of five facilities,
one of which is subject to a ground lease with remaining term, including extensions, of 50 years. The purchase price was $69,750,000, inclusive of
$500,000 in closing costs and a $1,750,000 commitment for specified capital improvements which will be added to the lease base upon funding. This
portfolio is in a separate master lease with Bickford Senior Living (“Bickford”) which provides for a lease rate of 6.85%, with annual fixed escalators over
a term of 15 years plus renewal options, subject to a fair market value rent reset feature available to NHI between years three and five. We accounted for
the acquisition as an asset purchase.
As of September 30, 2018, our Bickford portfolio consists of leases with lease expiration dates as follows (in thousands):
Lease Expiration
Sep/Oct 2019
Number of Properties
2018 Contractual Rent

June 2023

Sept 2027

May 2031

Apr 2033

Total

$

10
9,264 $
(617)

13
11,133 $
588

4
1,515 $
221

20
19,872 $
3,813

5
3,105 $
607

52
44,889
4,612

$

8,647 $

11,721 $

1,736 $

23,685 $

3,712 $

49,501

Straight Line Rent Adjustment
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Of our total revenues, $12,937,000 (17%) and $10,897,000 (15%) were recognized as rental income from Bickford for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017,respectively, including $1,169,000 and $1,600,000 in straight-line rent income, respectively. Of our total revenues,
$36,792,000 (17%) and $30,170,000 (15%) were recognized as rental income from Bickford for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, including $3,541,000 and $3,416,000 in straight-line rent income, respectively.
Senior Living
As of September 30, 2018, we leased nine retirement communities totaling 1,970 units to Senior Living Communities, LLC (“Senior Living”). The 15year master lease, which began in December 2014, contains two 5-year renewal options and provides for an annual escalator of 4% effective January 1,
2018 and 3% thereafter.
Of our total revenues, $11,469,000 (15%) and $11,431,000 (16%) in rental income were derived from Senior Living for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, including $1,359,000 and $1,746,000 in straight-line rent income, respectively. Of our total revenues,
$34,374,000 (16%) and $34,293,000 (17%) in rental income were derived from Senior Living for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, including $4,076,000 and $5,238,000 in straight-line rent income, respectively.
Holiday
As of September 30, 2018, we leased 25 independent living facilities to an affiliate of Holiday Retirement (“Holiday”). The 17-year master lease, which
began in December 2013, currently provides for a minimum annual escalator of 3.5% through the end of the lease term.
Of our total revenues, $10,954,000 (15%) and $10,954,000 (15%) were derived from Holiday for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, including $1,530,000 and $1,849,000 in straight-line rent income, respectively. Of our total revenues, $32,863,000 (15%) and $32,863,000
(16%) were derived from Holiday for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, including $4,591,000 and $5,547,000 in straightline rent income, respectively. Our tenant operates the facilities pursuant to a management agreement with a Holiday-affiliated manager. As of
September 30, 2018, our straight-line rent receivable from Holiday is $43,614,000.
See Note 12 for a discussion of our agreement with Holiday, finalized on November 5, 2018, to modify our existing master lease.
NHC
As of September 30, 2018, we leased 42 facilities under two master leases to National HealthCare Corporation (“NHC”), a publicly-held company and
the lessee of our legacy properties. The facilities leased to NHC consist of 3 independent living facilities and 39 skilled nursing facilities (4 of which are
subleased to other parties for whom the lease payments are guaranteed to us by NHC). These facilities are leased to NHC under the terms of an amended
master lease agreement originally dated October 17, 1991 (“the 1991 lease”) which includes our 35 remaining legacy properties and a master lease
agreement dated August 30, 2013 (“the 2013 lease”) which includes 7 skilled nursing facilities acquired from a third party.
The 1991 lease has been amended to extend the lease expiration to December 31, 2026. There are two additional 5-year renewal options, each at fair
rental value of such leased property as negotiated between the parties and determined without including the value attributable to any improvements to
the leased property voluntarily made by NHC at its expense. Under the terms of the 1991 lease, the base annual rental is $30,750,000 and rent escalates
by 4% of the increase, if any, in each facility’s revenue over a 2007 base year. The 2013 lease provides for a base annual rental of $3,450,000 and has a
lease expiration of August 2028. Under the terms of the 2013 lease, rent escalates 4% of the increase, if any, in each facility’s revenue over the 2014 base
year. For both the 1991 lease and the 2013 lease, we refer to this additional rent component as “percentage rent.” During the last three years of the 2013
lease, NHC will have the option to purchase the facilities for $49,000,000.
The following table summarizes the percentage rent income from NHC (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

Current year
Prior year final certification1

$

853
—

$

782
—

$

2,558
285

$

2,345
194

Total percentage rent income

$

853

$

782

$

2,843

$

2,539

1

For purposes of the percentage rent calculation described in the master lease agreement, NHC’s annual revenue by facility for a given year is certified to NHI by March 31st
of the following year.

Of our total revenues, $9,389,000 (13%) and $9,318,000 (13%) were derived from NHC for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Of our total revenues, $28,453,000 (13%) and $28,149,000 (14%) were derived from NHC for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively.
The chairman of our board of directors is also a director on NHC’s board of directors. As of September 30, 2018, NHC owned 1,630,462 shares of our
common stock.
Other Portfolio Activity
Tenant Transition
We have identified a single-property lease with a tenant in Wisconsin as non-performing. In accordance with our revenue recognition policies, we
will recognize future rental income from the lease in the period in which cash is received, approximately $362,000 of which is in arrears at September 30,
2018. Additionally, we are transitioning the lease to a new tenant. As a consequence of this determination, the related straight-line receivable is
uncollectible, and, in June 2018, we wrote off the balance of $1,436,000 pertaining to this tenant and included this amount in loan and realty losses for
the nine months ended September 30, 2018.
Tenant Non-Compliance
In October 2017, we issued a letter of forbearance to one of our tenants for a default on our lease terms involving mandated lease coverage ratios and
working capital. Lease revenues from the tenant and its affiliates comprise less than 4% of our rental income, and the related straight-line rent receivable
was approximately $4,332,000 at September 30, 2018. The tenant has maintained its status as current on all rent payments to NHI, and we have made no
rent concessions.
Further, we have determined that another of our tenants is in material non-compliance with provisions of our lease regarding mandated coverage
ratios and working capital. Lease revenues from the tenant comprise less than 2% of our rental income, and the related straight-line rent receivable was
approximately $1,365,000 at September 30, 2018. The tenant has continued to be current on its rent payments to NHI, and we have made no rent
concessions.
The defaults mentioned above typically give rise to considerations regarding the impairment or recoverability of the related assets, and we give
additional attention to the nature of the defaults’ underlying causes. As of September 30, 2018, our assessment of likely undiscounted cash flows,
calculated at the lowest level for which identifiable asset-specific cash flows are largely independent, reveals no impairment on the underlying real estate
for either of the non-compliant operations discussed above.
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NOTE 3. MORTGAGE AND OTHER NOTES RECEIVABLE
At September 30, 2018, we had net investments in mortgage notes receivable with a carrying value of $112,579,000, secured by real estate and UCC
liens on the personal property of 11 facilities, and other notes receivable with a carrying value of $42,882,000, guaranteed by significant parties to the
notes or by cross-collateralization of properties with the same owner. No allowance for doubtful accounts was considered necessary at September 30,
2018 or December 31, 2017. Revenue of $3,197,000 and $3,045,000 from mortgage and other notes receivable reported for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, is included as interest income in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. Revenue of $9,713,000
and $10,125,000 from mortgage and other notes receivable reported for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, is included as
interest income in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.
Bickford
At September 30, 2018, our construction loans to Bickford are summarized as follows:
Commencement

Rate

Maturity

July 2016
January 2017
January 2018

9%
9%
9%

5 years
5 years
5 years

July 2018

9%

5 years

Commitment

Drawn

$

14,000,000
14,000,000
14,000,000
14,700,000

$

(13,047,000)
(10,577,000)
(2,238,000)
(1,882,000)

$

56,700,000

$

(27,744,000)

Location
Illinois
Michigan
Virginia
Michigan

The promissory notes are secured by first mortgage liens on substantially all real and personal property as well as a pledge of any and all leases or
agreements which may grant a right of use to the subject property. Usual and customary covenants extend to the agreements, including the borrower’s
obligation for payment of insurance and taxes. NHI has a purchase option on the properties at stabilization, whereby the lease rate will be set with a floor
of 9.55%, based on NHI’s total investment, plus fixed annual escalators. On these and future loan development projects, Bickford as the borrower is
entitled to up to $2,000,000 per project in incentive loan draws based upon the achievement of predetermined operational milestones, the funding of
which will increase the principal amount, NHI's future purchase price under option and, upon exercise, eventual lease payment to NHI.
Our loans to Bickford represent a variable interest as do our leases which are considered variable interests analogous to financing arrangements.
Bickford is structured to limit liability for potential claims for damages, is capitalized to achieve that purpose and is considered a VIE within the definition
set forth in Note 1.
Timber Ridge
In February 2015, we entered into an agreement to lend up to $154,500,000 to LCS-Westminster Partnership III LLP (“LCS-WP”), an affiliate of Life
Care Services (“LCS”). The loan agreement conveys a mortgage interest and facilitated the construction of Phase II of Timber Ridge at Talus (“Timber
Ridge”), a Type-A continuing care retirement community in Issaquah, WA managed by LCS. Our loan to LCS-WP represents a variable interest. As an
affiliate of a larger company, LCS-WP is structured to limit liability for potential damage claims, is capitalized to achieve that purpose and is considered a
VIE within the definition set forth in Note 1.
The loan took the form of two notes under a master credit agreement. The senior note (“Note A”) totals $60,000,000 at a 6.75% interest rate with 10
basis-point escalators after year three, and has a term of 10 years. We have funded $57,536,000 of Note A as of September 30, 2018. Note A is interestonly and is locked to prepayment for three years. Beginning in February 2018, the prepayment penalty started at 5% and will decline 1% annually for five
years. Note B was a construction loan for up to $94,500,000 at an annual interest rate of 8% and a five-year maturity and was fully drawn during 2016.
We began receiving repayment with new resident entrance fees upon the opening of Phase II during the fourth quarter of 2016. The balance remaining
on Note B at December 31, 2017, of $1,953,000 was repaid during the first quarter of 2018, resulting in the recognition of interest income of $515,000 in
unamortized commitment fees.
NHI has an option to purchase the entire Timber Ridge property for the greater of a mutually agreed-upon fair market value or $115,000,000 during a
window of 120 days that is set to open in February 2019.
Senior Living Communities
In connection with the acquisition in December 2014 of properties leased to Senior Living, we provided a $15,000,000 revolving line of credit, the
maturity of which mirrors the 15-year term of the master lease. Borrowings are used to finance construction
14
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projects within the Senior Living portfolio, including building additional units. Up to $5,000,000 of the facility may be used to meet general working
capital needs. Amounts outstanding under the facility, $997,000 at September 30, 2018, bear interest at an annual rate equal to the prevailing 10-year U.S.
Treasury rate, 3.05% at September 30, 2018, plus 6%.
NHI has two mezzanine loans totaling $14,000,000 to affiliates of Senior Living, whose purpose was to partially fund construction of a 186-unit senior
living campus on Daniel Island in South Carolina, which opened in April 2018. The loans bear interest payable monthly at a 10% annual rate and mature
in March 2021. The lending arrangement provides NHI with a purchase option at fair value on the campus upon its meeting certain operational metrics.
The community opened in the first quarter of 2018. The option is to remain open during the term of the loans, plus any extensions.
Our loans to Senior Living and its subsidiaries represent a variable interest as does our lease, which is considered to be analogous to a financing
arrangement. Senior Living is structured to limit liability for potential damage claims, is appropriately capitalized for that purpose and is considered a VIE
within the definition set forth in Note 1.
Other Loan Activity
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we took a direct write-off of $413,000 (included in loan and realty losses) on a non-mortgage
receivable with remaining balance of $400,000, secured by personal guarantees.
NOTE 4. OTHER ASSETS
Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2018
Accounts receivable and other assets
Regulatory escrows

December 31,
2017

$

11,486
8,208
4,914

$

5,187
8,208
4,817

$

24,608

$

18,212

Reserves for replacement, insurance and tax escrows

Reserves for replacement, insurance and tax escrows include amounts required to be held on deposit in accordance with regulatory agreements
governing our Fannie Mae and HUD mortgages.
NOTE 5. DEBT
Debt consists of the following (in thousands):
September 30,
2018
Convertible senior notes - unsecured (net of discount of $1,582 and $2,637)
Revolving credit facility - unsecured
Bank term loans - unsecured
Private placement term loans - unsecured
HUD mortgage loans (net of discount of $1,340 and $1,402)
Fannie Mae term loans - secured, non-recourse

$

Unamortized loan costs
$

15

118,418
23,000
550,000
400,000
43,093
96,127
(10,503)
1,220,135

December 31,
2017
$

$

144,938
221,000
250,000
400,000
43,645
96,367
(10,453)
1,145,497
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Aggregate principal maturities of debt as of September 30, 2018 for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in thousands):
Twelve months ended September 30,
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

1,176
1,219
121,267
274,316
426,366
409,216

Thereafter

1,233,560
(2,922)
(10,503)

Less: discount
Less: unamortized loan costs
$

1,220,135

On September 17, 2018, we executed a $300,000,000 expansion of our bank credit facility, discussed below, whereby our total unsecured credit facility
consists of $250,000,000 and $300,000,000 term loans and a $550,000,000 revolving credit facility. The $250,000,000 term loan and $550,000,000 revolving
facility mature in August 2022, and the $300,000,000 term loan matures in September 2023. As of September 30, 2018, we had $527,000,000 available to
draw on our revolving credit facility.
The revolving facility fee is currently 20 basis points per annum, and based on our current leverage ratios, the facility presently provides for floating
interest on the revolver and the term loans at 30-day LIBOR plus 115 and a blended 127 bps, respectively. At September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017,
30-day LIBOR was 226 and 123 bps, respectively. Within the facility, the employment of interest rate swaps for our fixed term debt leaves only our
revolving credit facility and newly issued term loan of $300,000,000 exposed to interest rate risk through April 2019, when our $40,000,000 swap expires.
Our swaps and the financial instruments to which they relate are described in the table below, under the caption “Interest Rate Swap Agreements.”
Generally, the new September 2018 term loan is subject to the same covenants and financial statement metrics required for compliance with terms of
the 2017 Agreement.
Our current interest spreads and facility fee reflect our leverage-ratio compliance, measuring debt to “total asset value,” at a level between 0.35 and
0.40, as defined by the 2017 and 2018 credit facility agreements. The agreements further require that we calculate specified financial statement metrics
and meet or exceed a variety of leverage ratios that are usual and customary in nature. These ratios are calculated quarterly and have been within
required limits of our credit agreements.
Pinnacle Bank is a participating member of our banking group. A member of NHI’s board of directors and chairman of our audit committee is also the
chairman of Pinnacle Financial Partners, Inc., the holding company for Pinnacle Bank. NHI’s local banking transactions are conducted primarily through
Pinnacle Bank.
The composition our private placement term loans is summarized below (in thousands):
Amount
$

125,000
50,000
75,000
50,000
100,000

$

400,000

Inception

Maturity

Fixed Rate

January 2015
November 2015
September 2016
November 2015

January 2023
November 2023
September 2024
November 2025

3.99%
3.99%
3.93%
4.33%

January 2015

January 2027

4.51%

Except for specific debt-coverage ratios, covenants pertaining to our private placement term loans having face value of $400,000,000 as of September
30, 2018, are generally conformed with those governing our credit facility.
In March 2014 we issued $200,000,000 of 3.25% senior unsecured convertible notes due April 2021 (the “Notes”) with interest payable April 1st and
October 1st of each year. The Notes were convertible at an initial rate of 13.93 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount, representing a
conversion price of approximately $71.81 per share for a total of approximately 2,785,200 underlying shares. The conversion rate is subsequently
adjusted upon each occurrence of certain events, as defined in the indenture governing the Notes, including the payment of dividends at a rate
exceeding that prevailing in 2014. The conversion option was accounted for as an “optional net-share settlement conversion feature,” meaning that
upon conversion, NHI’s conversion obligation
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may be satisfied, at our option, in cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock. Because we have the ability and
intent to settle the convertible securities in cash upon exercise, we use the treasury stock method to account for potential dilution.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we undertook targeted open-market repurchases of certain of our convertible notes. Settlement of
the notes requires management to allocate the consideration we ultimately pay between the debt component and the equity conversion feature as
though they were separate instruments. The allocation is effected by fair valuing the debt component first, with any remainder allocated to the
conversion feature. Amounts expended to settle the notes are recognized first as a settlement of the notes at our carrying value and then are recognized
in income to the extent the portion allocated to the debt instrument differs from carrying value. The remainder of the allocation, if any, is treated as
settlement of equity and adjusted through our capital in excess of par account.
A roll-forward of our note balances, including the effect of period amortization, net of issuance costs, is presented below:
December 31,
2017
Face Amount
Discount

$

Issuance Costs
Carrying Value

$

147,575 $
(2,637) $
(1,752) $
143,186

Cash Paid
(27,575) $
458 $
297 $

September 30,
2018

Amortization
— $
597
415
$

120,000
(1,582)
(1,040)
117,378

Total expenditures of $29,985,000 include paid amounts of $27,558,000 allocated to the note retirement with the remaining expenditure of $2,427,000
allocated to capital in excess of par. A loss of $738,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, resulted from the excess of cash expenditures over
the book value of the notes retired, net of discount and issuance costs. No notes were retired during the three months ended September 30, 2018.
As of September 30, 2018, our senior unsecured convertible notes were convertible at a rate of 14.37 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal
amount, representing a conversion price of approximately $69.57 per share for a total of 1,724,900 remaining underlying shares. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, dilution resulting from the conversion option within our convertible debt is 57,802 shares. If NHI’s current share price
increases above the adjusted $69.57 conversion price, further dilution will be attributable to the conversion feature. On September 30, 2018, the value of
the convertible debt, computed as if the debt were immediately eligible for conversion, exceeded its face amount by $10,385,000.
We may continue from time to time to seek to retire or purchase some of our outstanding convertible notes through cash open market purchases,
privately-negotiated transactions or otherwise. As with our 2018 repurchases, amounts and timing of further repurchases or exchanges, if any, will be
dependent on prevailing market conditions, liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors.
Our HUD mortgage loans are secured by ten Bickford-operated properties having a net book value of $51,296,000 at September 30, 2018. Nine
mortgage notes require monthly payments of principal and interest from 4.3% to 4.4% (inclusive of mortgage insurance premium) and mature in August
and October 2049. One additional HUD mortgage loan assumed in 2014 requires monthly payments of principal and interest of 2.9% (inclusive of
mortgage insurance premium) and matures in October 2047.
In connection with our November 2017 acquisition of a property in Tulsa, we assumed a Fannie Mae mortgage loan which amortizes through 2025
when a balloon payment will be due, is subject to prepayment penalties until 2024, bears interest at a rate of 4.6%, and has a remaining balance of
$18,043,000 at September 30, 2018.
In March 2015 we obtained $78,084,000 in Fannie Mae financing. The term debt financing consists of interest-only payments at an annual rate of
3.79% and a 10-year maturity. The mortgages are non-recourse and secured by thirteen properties leased to Bickford. These notes, together with the
Fannie Mae debt assumed in connection with the 2017 Tulsa acquisition mentioned above, are secured by facilities having a net book value of
$139,053,000 at September 30, 2018.
The following table summarizes interest expense (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Interest expense on debt at contractual rates
Losses (gains) reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into interest expense
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges
Capitalized interest
Charges taken on restructuring credit facility

$

2017

11,637

$

$

Total interest expense

12,374

2018

10,225

(27)
—
(50)
—
814

Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
$

695
(350)
(301)
584
893
$

11,746

2017

33,579

$

30,570

325
—
(122)
—
2,425
$

2,129
(350)
(462)
584
2,668

36,207

$

35,139

Interest Rate Swap Agreements
Our existing interest rate swap agreements will collectively continue through June 2020 to hedge against fluctuations in variable interest rates
applicable to our $250,000,000 bank term loan. With the amendment to our credit facility in August 2017, the introduction to the bank term loan of a
LIBOR floor not present in the hedges resulted in hedge inefficiency of $353,000, which we credited to interest expense in 2017. On January 1, 2018, we
adopted ASU 2017-12 Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities, as discussed in Note 11. Upon the
adoption of the new standard, we reversed cumulative ineffectiveness, resulting in a retroactive net charge to retained earnings and a credit to
accumulated other comprehensive income of $235,000 as of January 1, 2018.
During the next twelve months, approximately $1,153,000 of gains, which are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), are
projected to be reclassified into earnings. As of September 30, 2018, we employ the following interest rate swap contracts to mitigate our interest rate risk
on the $250,000,000 term loan (dollars in thousands):
Date Entered

Maturity Date

Fixed Rate

Rate Index

Notional Amount

May 2012
June 2013
March 2014

April 2019
June 2020
June 2020

2.84%
3.41%
3.46%

1-month LIBOR
1-month LIBOR
1-month LIBOR

$
$
$

40,000
80,000
130,000

Fair Value
$
$
$

214
917
1,380

If the fair value of the hedge is an asset, we include it in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets among other assets, and, if a liability, as a
component of accrued expenses. See Note 10 for fair value disclosures about our interest rate swap agreements. Net asset/(liability) balances for our
hedges included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets on September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017 were $2,511,000 and $(588,000), respectively.
NOTE 6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of commitments, typical of which are those for the funding of revolving credit arrangements,
construction and mezzanine loans to our operators to conduct expansions and acquisitions for their own account, and commitments for the funding of
construction for expansion or renovation to our existing properties under lease. In our leasing operations, we offer to our tenants and to sellers of
newly-acquired properties a variety of inducements which originate contractually as contingencies but which may become commitments upon the
satisfaction of the contingent event. Contingent payments earned will be included in the respective lease bases when funded. The tables below
summarize our existing, known commitments and contingencies at September 30, 2018, according to the nature of their impact on our leasehold or loan
portfolios.

Loan Commitments:
Life Care Services Note A
Bickford Senior Living
Senior Living Communities

Asset Class

Type

SHO
SHO

Construction
Construction

SHO

Revolving Credit
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Total

Funded

Remaining

$

60,000,000
56,700,000
15,000,000

$

(57,536,000)
(27,744,000)
(997,000)

$

2,464,000
28,956,000
14,003,000

$

131,700,000

$

(86,277,000)

$

45,423,000
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See Note 3 for full details of our loan commitments. As provided above, loans funded do not include the effects of discounts or commitment fees. We
expect to fully fund the Life Care Services Note A during 2018. Funding of the commitments for construction is made monthly based on inspection of
work performed.

Asset Class

Type

Development Commitments:
EL FW Intermediary I, LLC
Bickford Senior Living
Senior Living Communities
Discovery Senior Living
Woodland Village
Chancellor Health Care

SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO

Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Construction

Navion Senior Solutions

SHO

Construction

Total

Funded

Remaining

$

8,937,000
4,150,000
6,830,000
500,000
7,450,000
62,000
650,000

$

(8,937,000)
(1,647,000)
(2,413,000)
—
(4,480,000)
(62,000)
—

$

—
2,503,000
4,417,000
500,000
2,970,000
—
650,000

$

28,579,000

$

(17,539,000)

$

11,040,000

As discussed in Note 2, we have satisfied our obligation to purchase skilled nursing facilities in Texas which had been leased to Legend and
subleased to Ensign. Our commitment to fund renovations for EL FW Intermediary I, LLC, originally scheduled for up to $10,000,000, has expired. Our
commitment to fund up to $650,000 in construction for Chancellor has expired.

Contingencies:
Bickford Senior Living
Bickford Senior Living
SH Regency Leasing, LLC
Navion Senior Solutions
Prestige Care
The LaSalle Group

Asset Class

Type

SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO

Lease Inducement
Incentive Loan Draws
Lease Inducement
Lease Inducement
Lease Inducement

SHO

Lease Inducement

Total

Funded

Remaining

$

10,000,000
8,000,000
8,000,000
4,850,000
1,000,000
5,000,000

$

(6,250,000)
(250,000)
—
—
—
—

$

3,750,000
7,750,000
8,000,000
4,850,000
1,000,000
5,000,000

$

36,850,000

$

(6,500,000)

$

30,350,000

Contingent lease inducement payments of $10,000,000 related to the five Bickford development properties constructed in 2016 and 2017 include a
licensure incentive of $250,000 per property and a three-tiered operator incentive schedule paying up to an additional $1,750,000, based on the
attainment of certain performance metrics. Upon funding, these payments are added to the lease base and amortized against rental income.
For a discussion of incentive loan draws of $8,000,000 available to Bickford related to our development loans in Illinois, Michigan and Virginia, see
Note 3.
In connection with our July 2015 lease to SH Regency of three senior housing properties, NHI has committed to certain lease inducement payments
of $8,000,000 contingent on reaching and maintaining certain metrics. The inducements are assessed as not probable of payment, and we have not
recorded them on our condensed consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2018. Not included in the above table is a seller earnout of $750,000,
which is recorded on our condensed consolidated balance sheets within accounts payable and accrued expenses.
Litigation
On June 15, 2018, East Lake Capital Management LLC and certain related entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC (“Regency”), filed suit against
NHI and NHI-REIT of Axel, LLC (Case No. DC-18-07841 in the District Court of Dallas County, Texas; 95th Judicial District) for injunctive and
declaratory relief and, unspecified monetary damages including attorney’s fees. The suit seeks, among other things, to enjoin NHI from making certain
references to East Lake in NHI’s public filings. NHI asserts the claims are meritless and intends to vigorously defend itself. Subsequent to the receipt of
the filed action, NHI has countersued Regency for declaratory judgment, specific performance, monetary damages, and attorneys’ fees relating to
Regency’s alleged defaults under a lease with NHI-REIT of Axel, for, among other things, the failure to provide required financial information under the
lease. During the pendency of this litigation, NHI in its public filings will endeavor to refer to tenant-specific names, namely “EL FW Intermediary I,
LLC” (for the Watermark continuing care retirement communities) and “SH Regency Leasing, LLC” (for the three Regency assisted living facilities).
Management believes that the eventual resolution of this controversy will have no
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material adverse effect on the Company. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we collected $3,829,000 in rent payments from SH Regency
Leasing, LLC.
Our facilities are subject to claims and suits in the ordinary course of business. Our lessees and borrowers have indemnified, and are obligated to
continue to indemnify us, against all liabilities arising from the operation of the facilities, and are further obligated to indemnify us against environmental
or title problems affecting the real estate underlying such facilities. While there may be lawsuits pending against certain of the owners and/or lessees of
the facilities, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such pending proceedings will have no material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
NOTE 7. INVESTMENT AND OTHER GAINS
The following table summarizes our investment and other gains (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Gain on sale of real estate

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

50
10,038

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

10,088

Gain on sales of marketable securities

In January and February 2017, we recognized gains of $10,038,000 on sales totaling $11,718,000 of marketable securities with a carrying value
$11,745,000 and an adjusted cost of $1,680,000 at December 31, 2016. Total proceeds of $18,182,000 from sales of marketable securities for 2017 included
settlements occurring in 2017 of $6,464,000 that resulted from sales in December 2016.
NOTE 8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
We recognize stock-based compensation for all stock options granted over the requisite service period using the fair value of these grants as
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model. All restricted stock granted (if any) is recognized over the requisite service period
using the market value of our publicly-traded common stock on the date of grant.
Stock-Based Compensation Plans
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (“the Committee”) has the authority to select the participants to be granted options; to
designate whether the option granted is an incentive stock option (“ISO”), a non-qualified option, or a stock appreciation right; to establish the number
of shares of common stock that may be issued upon exercise of the option; to establish the vesting provision for any award; and to establish the term
any award may be outstanding. The exercise price of any ISO’s granted will not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the shares of common stock
on the date granted, and the term of an ISO may not be more than ten years. The exercise price of any non-qualified options granted will not be less than
100% of the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the date granted unless so determined by the Committee.
In May 2012, our stockholders approved the 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2012 Plan”) pursuant to which 1,500,000 shares of our common stock
were made available to grant as stock-based payments to employees, officers, directors or consultants. Through a vote of our shareholders on May 7,
2015, we increased the maximum number of shares under the plan from 1,500,000 shares to 3,000,000 shares; increased the automatic annual grant to nonemployee directors from 15,000 shares to 20,000 shares; and limited the Company’s ability to re-issue shares under the Plan. Through a second
amendment approved on May 4, 2018, our shareholders voted to increase the maximum number of shares under the plan to 3,500,000 and to increase the
automatic annual grant to non-employee directors to 25,000. The individual restricted stock and option grant awards may vest over periods up to five
years. The term of the options under the 2012 Plan is up to ten years from the date of grant.
As of September 30, 2018, there were 891,668 shares available for future grants under the 2012 Plan.
In May 2005, our stockholders approved the NHI 2005 Stock Option Plan (“the 2005 Plan”) pursuant to which 1,500,000 shares of our common stock
were made available to grant as stock-based payments to employees, officers, directors or consultants.
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The 2005 Plan has expired and no additional shares may be granted under the 2005 Plan. The individual restricted stock and option grant awards vest
over periods up to ten years. The term of the options outstanding under the 2005 Plan is up to ten years from the date of grant.
Compensation expense is only recognized for the awards that ultimately vest. Accordingly, forfeitures that were not expected will result in the
reversal of previously recorded compensation expense. Non-cash compensation expense reported for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 was $337,000 and $405,000, respectively. Non-cash compensation expense reported for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was
$2,131,000 and $2,270,000, respectively. Non-cash compensation expense is included in general and administrative expense in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Income.
At September 30, 2018, we had, net of expected forfeitures, $945,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options which is
expected to be expensed over the following periods: 2018 - $359,000, 2019 - $528,000 and 2020 - $58,000.
The weighted average fair value per share of options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $4.49 and $5.75,
respectively. The fair value of each grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions:

Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected lives
Risk-free interest rate

2018

2017

6.5%
19.4%
2.9 years
2.39%

5.3%
19.8%
2.9 years
1.49%

The following table summarizes our outstanding stock options:
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Options outstanding January 1,
Options granted under 2012 Plan
Options exercised under 2012 Plan
Options forfeited under 2012 Plan

859,182
560,000
(241,669)
(30,001)
(6,668)

Options exercised under 2005 Plan
Options outstanding, September 30,
Exercisable at September 30,

2017
541,679
495,000
(155,829)
(6,668)
(15,000)

1,140,844

859,182

697,490

465,831

NOTE 9. EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER COMMON SHARE
The weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period is used to calculate basic earnings per common share.
Diluted earnings per common share assume the exercise of stock options and the conversion of our convertible debt using the treasury stock method, to
the extent dilutive. If our average stock price for the period increases over the conversion price of our convertible debt, the conversion feature will be
considered dilutive.
The following table summarizes the average number of common shares and the net income used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per
common share (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
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Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Net income

$

BASIC:
Weighted average common shares outstanding

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

40,979

$

2018

39,092

$

2017

117,251

$

121,566

42,187,077

41,108,699

41,808,017

40,681,582

Convertible subordinated debentures

42,187,077
98,269
149,153

41,108,699
74,769
264,795

41,808,017
66,917
57,802

40,681,582
69,210
186,545

Weighted average dilutive common shares outstanding

42,434,499

41,448,263

41,932,736

40,937,337

DILUTED:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Stock options

Net income per common share - basic
Net income per common share - diluted

$
$

.97
.97

Incremental shares excluded since anti-dilutive:
Net share effect of stock options with an exercise price in excess of the average
market price for our common shares

$
$

.95
.94

615
$

Regular dividends declared per common share

$
$

2.80
2.80

403

1.00

$

.95

$
$

2.99
2.97

31,616
$

760

3.00

$

2.85

NOTE 10. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Our financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (based on the hierarchy of the three levels of inputs described in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K) on a recurring basis have included marketable securities, derivative
financial instruments and contingent consideration arrangements. Derivative financial instruments include our interest rate swap agreements.
Contingent consideration arrangements relate to certain provisions of recent real estate purchase agreements involving asset acquisitions.
Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are valued in the market using discounted cash flow techniques. These techniques
incorporate Level 1 and Level 2 inputs. The market inputs are utilized in the discounted cash flow calculation considering the instrument’s term, notional
amount, discount rate and credit risk. Significant inputs to the derivative valuation model for interest rate swaps are observable in active markets and are
classified as Level 2 in the hierarchy.
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurement
September 30,
2018

Balance Sheet Classification

December 31,
2017

Level 2
Other assets

$

2,511

$

159

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

—

$

747

Interest rate swap asset
Interest rate swap liability

Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 in the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows (in thousands):
Carrying Amount
2018

Fair Value Measurement

2017

2018

2017

Level 2
Fixed rate debt

$

653,524

$

679,855

$

632,668

$

679,385

$

155,461

$

141,486

$

151,202

$

140,049

Level 3
Mortgage and other notes receivable

Fixed rate debt. Fixed rate debt is classified as Level 2 and its value is based on quoted prices for similar instruments or calculated utilizing model
derived valuations in which significant inputs are observable in active markets.
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Mortgage and other notes receivable. The fair value of mortgage and other notes receivable is based on credit risk and discount rates that are not
observable in the marketplace and therefore represents a Level 3 measurement.
Carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The
fair value of our borrowings under our revolving credit facility and other variable rate debt are reasonably estimated at their notional amounts at
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, due to the predominance of floating interest rates, which generally reflect market conditions.
NOTE 11. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In May 2014 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09
provides a principles-based approach for a broad range of revenue generating transactions, including the sale of real estate, which will generally require
more estimates, judgment and disclosures than under current guidance.
The Company adopted this standard using the modified retrospective method on January 1, 2018. The ASU provides for revenues from leases to
continue to follow the guidance in Topics 840 and 842 (when adopted) and provides for loans to follow established guidance in Topic 310. Because this
ASU specifically excludes these areas of our operations from its scope, there was no impact to our accounting for lease revenue and interest income
resulting from the ASU. Additionally, the other significant types of contracts in which we periodically engage, sales of real estate to customers, typically
never remain executory across points in time, so that nuances related to the timing of revenue recognition as mandated under Topic 606 are not expected
to impact our results of operations or financial position. Because all performance obligations from these contracts can therefore be expected to continue
to fall within a single period, the timing of our revenue recognition from future sales of real estate is not expected to be affected by the ASU. A number
of practical expedients are available in applying the recognition and measurement principles within the standard, including those permitting the
aggregation of contract revenues and costs with components of interest income or amortization expense whose period of aggregation, within
parameters, is not considered to be of significant duration for separate treatment. We realized no significant revenues in 2017 or 2018 within the scope of
ASU 2014-09, and, accordingly, adoption of the ASU did not have a material impact on the timing and measurement of the Company’s revenues.
In February 2016 the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which has been codified under Topic 842. Public companies will be required to apply ASU
2016-02 for all accounting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. All leases with lease terms greater than one year will
be recognized in the balance sheet by lessees under Topic 842, including existing leases in place. The principal difference between Topic 842 and
previous guidance is that, for lessees, lease assets and lease liabilities arising from operating leases will be recognized in the balance sheet. While the
accounting applied by a lessor is largely unchanged from that applied under previous GAAP, changes have been made to align i) certain lessor and
lessee accounting guidance, and ii) key aspects of the lessor accounting model with the revenue recognition guidance in Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which we adopted January 1, 2018. Under Topic 842 and unlike prior GAAP, a buyer-lessor in a sale-leaseback transaction
will be required to apply the sale and leaseback guidance to determine whether the transaction qualifies as a sale. Topic 842 includes provisions which
generally conform with Topic 606, and the presence of a lessee purchase option on real estate in a sale and leaseback transaction will result in recording
the transaction as a financing that would otherwise meet the requirements for lease accounting under previous guidance. As a result, NHI may explore
different structures to continue to apply lease accounting rather than record a financing similar to a long-term note. The accounting treatment for saleleaseback transactions will mirror the guidance for lessees which may result in a financing transaction.
The Company will continue to evaluate the impact of Topic 842 on our consolidated financial statements. In April 2018, the Company entered into a
ground lease in connection with its acquisition of certain real estate assets. In accordance with current standards under Topic 840, we have accounted
for the lease as an operating lease. As the lessee, under transition accounting on the adoption of Topic 842 in 2019, we expect to elect the package of
practical expedients that allow the continuation of accounting for this lease as an operating lease. We expect little balance sheet impact from the
adoption of ASU 2016-02. Consistent with present standards, upon the adoption of ASU 2016-02, NHI will continue to account for lease revenue on a
straight-line basis for most leases. Also consistent with NHI’s current practice, under ASU 2016-02 only initial direct costs that are incremental to the
lessor will be capitalized. While we have made steady progress in evaluating the extent to which adopting the provisions of ASU 2016-02 in 2019 will
affect NHI, we cannot yet ascertain with accuracy what the effect of grossing up revenues and expenses will have on our presentation of operations. In
July 2018 the FASB issued ASU 2018-11 Leases - Targeted Improvements, which provides an alternative adoption method at the transition date,
allowing entities to recognize a cumulative effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings upon adoption. We continue to study
alternative methods by which NHI will adopt ASU 2016-02.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses. ASU 2016-13 will require more timely recognition of credit losses
associated with financial assets. While current GAAP includes multiple credit impairment objectives
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for instruments, the previous objectives generally delayed recognition of the full amount of credit losses until the loss was probable of occurring. The
amendments in ASU 2016-13, whose scope is asset-based and not restricted to financial institutions, eliminate the probable initial recognition threshold
in current GAAP and, instead, reflect an entity’s current estimate of all expected credit losses. Previously, when credit losses were measured under
GAAP, we generally only considered past events and current conditions in measuring the incurred loss. The amendments in ASU 2016-13 broaden the
information that we must consider in developing our expected credit loss estimate for assets measured either collectively or individually. The use of
forecasted information incorporates more timely information in the estimate of expected credit loss that will be more useful to users of the financial
statements. ASU 2016-13 is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. Because we are likely to continue to invest in loans and generate receivables, adoption of ASU 2016-13 in 2020 will have some effect on our
accounting for these investments, though the nature of those effects will depend on the composition of our loan portfolio at that time; accordingly, we
are in the initial stages of evaluating the extent of the effects, if any, that adopting the provisions of ASU 2016-13 in 2020 will have on NHI.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Restricted Cash. ASU 2016-18 requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during
the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents, generally by
requiring the inclusion of restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments in this ASU do not provide a definition of restricted cash or
restricted cash equivalents. ASU 2016-18 is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods. The
adoption of ASU 2016-18, effective January 1, 2018, did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In August 2017 the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities, which is
available for early adoption in any interim period after issuance of the update, or alternatively requires adoption for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018. The purpose of this updated guidance is to better align a company’s financial reporting for hedging activities with the economic
objectives of those activities. On January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2017-12, among whose provisions is a change in the timing and income statement
line item for ineffectiveness related to cash flow hedges. The transition method is a modified retrospective approach that requires the Company to
recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the ASU as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) with a corresponding
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year that we adopt the update. The primary provision in the
ASU requiring an adjustment to our beginning consolidated retained earnings in 2018 is the change in timing and income statement line item for
ineffectiveness related to cash flow hedges. In applying the transition guidance provided in the ASU, as of January 1, 2018, cumulative ineffectiveness
of $235,000 as adjusted for any prior off-market cashflow hedges was reclassified out of beginning retained earnings and into accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).
NOTE 12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Holiday
On November 5, 2018, we reached an Amendment to Master Lease and Termination of Guaranty (“Agreement”) with our third largest tenant, Holiday,
on an extension to and modifications of their existing lease. The settlement of obligations under the 2013 lease will result in value to NHI of $65,762,000
in cash and other specified consideration, the composition of which will be at our election and subject to completion of our diligence. We may elect to
receive a portion of the settlement in additional independent living facilities whose cash rent would reflect current market rates as stipulated to by the
parties to the Agreement.
Assuming we do not elect to receive part of the consideration in the form of an additional independent living facility, under the Agreement our new
lease with Holiday would provide for a combined initial annual lease payment of $31,500,000 for 25 properties, effective January 1, 2019, with variable
escalators beginning November 1, 2020, and each November 1 thereafter through the lease term ending on December 31, 2035, the escalators having a
floor of 2% and a cap of 3%. The new lease is to be secured by one-half the $21,275,000 deposit collected under the 2013 lease and will be subject to
credit enhancements by Holiday’s parent. Contractual rent under the original lease was scheduled to be $39,014,000 in 2019.
Regency
In response to ongoing litigation with East Lake Capital Management LLC and certain related entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC
(“Regency”) described more fully in Note 6, we filed suit in state courts in Indiana (Case No. 49D14-1810-PL-042742, Marion Superior Court, Civil
Division 14), North Carolina (Case No. 18CVM 26763, The General Court of Justice District Court Division, Mecklenburg County) and Tennessee (Case
No.18-1162-II, Chancery Court for Davidson County, Nashville Division). On October 23, 2018, we entered motions calling for the immediate appointment
of a receiver and for pre-judgment possession,
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hearing, and bond. The motions alleged, among other things, that the tenant had failed to meet the required coverage ratio under the lease, had failed to
make any curative shortfall deposits, and had failed to provide documents, reports and other information required under the lease. A hearing on these
and counter-party motions is set for mid-November.
As of September 30, 2018, based on our assessment of likely undiscounted cash flows we determined there was no need for an impairment charge on
the related land, building and improvements. Our determination to press for a tenant transition was arrived at only with the failure, in October 2018, of
alternative solutions. With the judicial impasse, we continue to collect scheduled rent as due, and our ability to evict the tenant has been placed beyond
our legal recourse. We have continued to record straight-line receivables, totaling $1,820,000 as of September 30, 2018. Should the stream of rental
payments ultimately fail and/or should our power of eviction under the lease be eventually upheld, subsequent write-off of the receivables would be
considered probable.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Forward Looking Statements
References throughout this document to NHI or the Company include National Health Investors, Inc., and its consolidated subsidiaries. In
accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s “Plain English” guidelines, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q has been written in the first
person. In this document, the words “we”, “our”, “ours” and “us” refer only to National Health Investors, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries and not
any other person. Unless the context indicates otherwise, references herein to “the Company” include all of our consolidated subsidiaries.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and other materials we have filed or may file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as well as information
included in oral statements made, or to be made, by our senior management contain certain “forward-looking” statements as that term is defined by the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements regarding our expected future financial position, results of operations, cash flows, funds
from operations, continued performance improvements, ability to service and refinance our debt obligations, ability to finance growth opportunities, and
similar statements including, without limitation, those containing words such as “may,” “will,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,”
“estimates,” “plans,” and other similar expressions, are forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ
materially from those projected or contemplated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors including, but not limited to, the following:
*

We depend on the operating success of our tenants and borrowers for collection of our lease and note payments;

*

We depend on the success of property development and construction activities, which may fail to achieve the operating results we expect;

*

We are exposed to the risk that our tenants and borrowers may become subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings;

*

We are exposed to risks related to governmental regulations and payors, principally Medicare and Medicaid, and the effect that lower
reimbursement rates would have on our tenants’ and borrowers’ business;

*

Legislative, regulatory, or administrative changes could adversely affect us or our security holders.

*

We are exposed to the risk that the cash flows of our tenants and borrowers would be adversely affected by increased liability claims and
liability insurance costs;

*

We are exposed to risks related to environmental laws and the costs associated with liabilities related to hazardous substances;

*

We are exposed to the risk that we may not be fully indemnified by our lessees and borrowers against future litigation;

*

We depend on the success of our future acquisitions and investments;

*

We depend on our ability to reinvest cash in real estate investments in a timely manner and on acceptable terms;

*

We may need to refinance existing debt or incur additional debt in the future, which may not be available on terms acceptable to us;

*

We have covenants related to our indebtedness which impose certain operational limitations and a breach of those covenants could materially
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations;

*

We are exposed to the risk that the illiquidity of real estate investments could impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the
performance of our properties;

*

When interest rates increase, our common stock may decline in price;

*

Certain tenants in our portfolio account for a significant percentage of the rent we expect to generate from our portfolio, and the failure of any
of these tenants to meet their obligations to us could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
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*

We depend on revenues derived mainly from fixed rate investments in real estate assets, while a portion of our debt capital used to finance
those investments bears interest at variable rates. This circumstance creates interest rate risk to the Company;

*

We are exposed to the risk that our assets may be subject to impairment charges;

*

We depend on the ability to continue to qualify for taxation as a real estate investment trust;

*

We have ownership limits in our charter with respect to our common stock and other classes of capital stock which may delay, defer or prevent
a transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or might otherwise be in the best interests of our
stockholders;

*

We are subject to certain provisions of Maryland law and our charter and bylaws that could hinder, delay or prevent a change in control
transaction, even if the transaction involves a premium price for our common stock or our stockholders believe such transaction to be
otherwise in their best interests.

*

If our efforts to maintain the privacy and security of Company information are not successful, we could incur substantial costs and reputational
damage, and could become subject to litigation and enforcement actions.

See the notes to the annual audited consolidated financial statements in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2017, and “Business” and “Risk Factors” under Item 1 and Item 1A therein for a further discussion of these and of various governmental
regulations and other operating factors relating to the healthcare industry and the risk factors inherent in them. You should carefully consider these
risks before making any investment decisions in the Company. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing the Company. There may be
additional risks that we do not presently know of and/or that we currently deem immaterial. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our shares of stock could
decline and you may lose part or all of your investment. Given these risks and uncertainties, we can give no assurance that these forward-looking
statements will, in fact, occur and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them.
Executive Overview
National Health Investors, Inc., established in 1991 as a Maryland corporation, is a self-managed real estate investment trust (“REIT”) specializing in
sale-leaseback, joint-venture, mortgage and mezzanine financing of need-driven and discretionary senior housing and medical facility investments. Our
portfolio consists of real estate investments in independent living facilities, assisted living facilities, entrance-fee communities, senior living campuses,
skilled nursing facilities, specialty hospitals and medical office buildings. We fund our real estate investments primarily through: (1) operating cash flow,
(2) debt offerings, including bank lines of credit and term debt, both unsecured and secured, and (3) the sale of equity securities.
Portfolio
As of September 30, 2018, we had investments in real estate and mortgage and other notes receivable involving 230 facilities located in 33 states.
These investments involve 150 senior housing properties, 75 skilled nursing facilities, 3 hospitals, 2 medical office buildings and other notes receivable.
These investments (excluding our corporate office of $2,471,000) consisted of properties with an original cost of approximately $2,804,918,000, rented
under triple-net leases to 29 lessees, and $155,461,000 aggregate net carrying value of mortgage and other notes receivable due from 11 borrowers.
Our investments in real estate are located within the United States and our investments in mortgage loans are secured by real estate located within
the United States. We are managed as one unit for internal reporting and decision making. Therefore, our reporting reflects our financial position and
operations as a single segment.
We classify all of the properties in our portfolio as either senior housing or medical properties. Because our leases represent different underlying
revenue sources and result in differing risk profiles, we further classify our senior housing communities as either need-driven (assisted living and
memory care communities and senior living campuses) or discretionary (independent living and entrance-fee communities.)
Senior Housing – Need-Driven includes assisted living and memory care communities (“ALF”) and senior living campuses (“SLC”) which primarily
attract private payment for services from residents who require assistance with activities of daily living. Need-driven properties are subject to regulatory
oversight.
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Senior Housing – Discretionary includes independent living (“ILF”) and entrance-fee communities (“EFC”) which primarily attract private payment
for services from residents who are making the lifestyle choice of living in an age-restricted multi-family community that offers social programs, meals,
housekeeping and in some cases access to healthcare services. Discretionary properties are subject to limited regulatory oversight. There is a
correlation between demand for this type of community and the strength of the housing market.
Medical Facilities within our portfolio receive payment primarily from Medicare, Medicaid and health insurance. These properties include skilled
nursing facilities (“SNF”), medical office buildings (“MOB”) and hospitals that attract patients who have a need for acute or complex medical attention,
preventative medicine, or rehabilitation services. Medical properties are subject to state and federal regulatory oversight and, in the case of hospitals,
Joint Commission accreditation.
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The following tables summarize our investments in real estate and mortgage and other notes receivable as of September 30, 2018 (dollars in
thousands):
Real Estate Properties
Senior Housing - Need-Driven
Assisted Living
Senior Living Campus

Properties

Beds/Sq. Ft.*

93
10

4,618
1,323

103

Revenue

Investment

58,881
12,535

26.7% $
5.7%

5,941

71,416

32.4%

1,014,770

30
10

3,412
2,363

36,840
38,124

16.7%
17.3%

551,211
601,261

40

5,775

74,964

34.0%

1,152,472

Total Senior Housing

143

11,716

146,380

66.4%

2,167,242

Medical Facilities
Skilled Nursing Facilities
Hospitals
Medical Office Buildings

71
3
2

57,935
5,993
501

26.3%
2.7%
0.2%

571,219
55,971
10,486

64,429

29.2%

Total Senior Housing - Need-Driven
Senior Housing - Discretionary
Independent Living
Entrance-Fee Communities
Total Senior Housing - Discretionary

Total Medical Facilities
Total Real Estate Properties
Mortgage and Other Notes Receivable
Senior Housing - Need-Driven
Senior Housing - Discretionary
Medical Facilities
Other Notes Receivable
Total Mortgage and Other Notes Receivable
Total Portfolio

Portfolio Summary
Real Estate Properties
Mortgage and Other Notes Receivable
Total Portfolio
Summary of Facilities by Type
Senior Housing - Need-Driven
Assisted Living
Senior Living Campus

$

%

9,198
181
88,517 *

76
219

6
1
4
—

376
400
270
—

11

1,046

230

Properties

852,613
162,157

637,676

$

210,809

95.6% $

2,804,918

$

2,740
3,391
520
3,062

1.2% $
1.6%
0.2%
1.4%

47,668
57,308
7,603
42,882

$

220,522

9,713

Beds/Sq. Ft.*

Revenue

4.4%
100.0% $

%

155,461
2,960,379

Investment

219
11

$

210,809
9,713

95.6% $
4.4%

2,804,918
155,461

230

$

220,522

100.0% $

2,960,379

$

61,621
12,535

27.9% $
5.7%

900,280
162,157

99
10

4,994
1,323

109

6,317

74,156

33.6%

1,062,437

11
30

2,763
3,412

41,514
36,841

18.9%
16.7%

658,570
551,211

41

6,175

78,355

35.6%

1,209,781

Total Senior Housing

150

12,492

152,511

69.2%

2,272,218

Medical Facilities
Skilled Nursing Facilities
Hospitals
Medical Office Buildings

75
3
2

58,455
5,993
501

26.5%
2.7%
0.2%

578,822
55,971
10,486

80

64,949

29.4%

645,279

—

3,062

1.4%

Total Senior Housing - Need-Driven
Senior Housing - Discretionary
Entrance-Fee Communities
Independent Living
Total Senior Housing - Discretionary

Total Medical
Other
Total Portfolio
Portfolio by Operator Type
Public

9,468
181
88,517 *

42,882

230

$

220,522

100.0% $

2,960,379

73

$

54,271

24.6% $

531,456

National Chain (Privately-Owned)
Regional
Small

27
122
8
230

Total Portfolio
29

34,727
127,807
3,717
$

220,522

15.7%
58.0%
1.7%
100.0% $

521,139
1,846,822
60,962
2,960,379
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, operators of facilities which provided more than 3% of our total revenues were (in alphabetical order):
Bickford Senior Living; Chancellor Health Care; The Ensign Group; Health Services Management; Holiday Retirement; National HealthCare Corporation;
and Senior Living Communities.
As of September 30, 2018, our average effective annualized rental income was $8,769 per bed for skilled nursing facilities, $12,537 per unit for senior
living campuses, $17,717 per unit for assisted living facilities, $14,424 per unit for independent living facilities, $21,530 per unit for entrance-fee
communities, $44,150 per bed for hospitals, and $7 per square foot for medical office buildings.
Areas of Focus
We are evaluating and will potentially make additional investments during the remainder of 2018 while we continue to monitor and improve our
existing properties. We seek tenants who will become mission-oriented partners in relationships where our business goals are aligned. This approach
fuels steady, and thus, enduring growth for those partners and for NHI. Within the context of our growth model, we rely on a cost-effective access to
debt and equity capital to finance acquisitions that will drive our earnings. There is significant competition for healthcare assets from other REITs, both
public and private, and from private equity sources. Large-scale portfolios continue to command premium pricing, due to the continued abundance of
private and foreign buyers seeking to invest in healthcare real estate. This combination of circumstances places a premium on our ability to execute
acquisitions and negotiate leases that will generate meaningful earnings growth for our shareholders. We emphasize growth with our existing tenants
and borrowers as a way to insulate us from other competition.
With lower capitalization rates for existing healthcare facilities, there has been increased interest in constructing new facilities in hopes of generating
better returns on invested capital. Using our relationship-driven model, we continue to look for opportunities to support new and existing tenants and
borrowers with the capital needed to expand existing facilities and to initiate ground-up development of new facilities. We concentrate our efforts in
those markets where there is both a demonstrated demand for a particular product type and where we perceive we have a competitive advantage. The
projects we agree to finance have attractive upside potential and are expected to provide above-average returns to our shareholders to mitigate the risks
inherent with property development and construction.
Following three 25 basis point increases in 2017, the Federal Open Market Committee of the Federal Reserve announced an increase in its benchmark
federal funds rate by 25 basis points on March 21, 2018 and another 25 basis point increase on September 26, 2018. At the same time, the Committee held
steady in its projection of one more rate increase in 2018. As inflation is expected to rise, officials said they expect a total of three increases in 2019.
However, the actual path the federal funds rate takes will depend on the changing economic outlook as informed by incoming data. The anticipation of
past and further increases in the federal funds rate in 2018 and beyond has been a primary source of much volatility in REIT equity markets. As a result,
there will be pressure on the spread between our cost of capital and the returns we earn. We expect that pressure to be partially mitigated by market
forces that would tend to result in higher capitalization rates for healthcare assets and higher lease rates indicative of historical levels. Our cost of capital
has increased over the past year as we transition some of our short term revolving borrowings into debt instruments with longer maturities and fixed
interest rates. Managing long-term risk involves trade-offs with the competing alternative goal of maximizing short-term profitability. Our intention is to
strike an appropriate balance between these competing interests within the context of our investor profile. As interest rates rise, our share price may
decline as investors adjust prices to reflect a dividend yield that is sufficiently in excess of a risk-free rate.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, approximately 26% of our revenue was derived from operators of our skilled nursing facilities that
receive a significant portion of their revenue from governmental payors, primarily Medicare and Medicaid. Such revenues are subject annually to
statutory and regulatory changes and in recent years have been reduced due to federal and state budgetary pressures. Over the past five years, we have
selectively diversified our portfolio by directing a significant portion of our investments into properties which rely primarily on private pay sources
(assisted living and memory care facilities, senior living campuses, independent living facilities and entrance-fee communities) rather than on Medicare
and Medicaid reimbursement. We will occasionally acquire skilled nursing facilities in good physical condition with a proven operator and strong local
market fundamentals, because diversification implies a periodic rebalancing, but our recent investment focus has been on acquiring need-driven and
discretionary senior housing assets.
Considering individual tenant lease revenue as a percentage of total revenue, an affiliate of Holiday Retirement is our largest independent living
tenant, Bickford Senior Living is our largest assisted living tenant, National HealthCare Corporation is our largest skilled nursing tenant and Senior
Living Communities is our largest entrance-fee community tenant. Our shift toward private payor facilities, as well as our expansion into the
discretionary senior housing market, has further resulted in a portfolio whose current composition is relatively balanced between medical facilities, needdriven and discretionary senior housing.
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We manage our business with a goal of (a) increasing normalized Adjusted Funds From Operations (“AFFO”) by at least 5% per share annually, and
(b) increasing the regular annual dividends paid to shareholders by at least 5% per share. Our Board of Directors approves a regular quarterly dividend,
which is reflective of expected taxable income on a recurring basis. Infrequent and non-recurring transactions that generate additional taxable income
have been distributed to shareholders in the form of special dividends. Taxable income is determined in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code and
differs from net income for financial statements purposes determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our goal of
increasing annual dividends requires a careful balance between identification of high-quality lease and mortgage assets in which to invest and the cost
of our capital with which to fund such investments. We consider the competing features of short and long-term debt (interest rates, maturities and other
terms) versus the higher cost of new equity. We accept some level of risk associated with leveraging our investments. We intend to continue to make
new investments that meet our underwriting criteria and where the spreads over our cost of capital will generate sufficient returns to our shareholders.
Our projected dividends for the current year and actual dividends for the two preceding years are as follows:
20181
$
1

2017
4.00

$

2016
3.80

$

3.60

Based on $1.00 per common share for the three quarters
of 2018, annualized

Our ability to effectively leverage our assets helps provide a reliable path for continued investments in healthcare real estate; however, compared
with many in our peer group, we continue to maintain a relatively low-leverage balance sheet. We believe that our fixed charge coverage ratio, which is
the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, excluding real estate asset impairments and gains on
dispositions) to fixed charges (interest and principal payments on debt at contractual rates, net of capitalized interest), and the ratio of consolidated net
debt to Adjusted EBITDA are meaningful measures of our ability to service our debt. We use these two measures as a basis to compare the strength of
our balance sheet with our peers. We also believe this strength gives us a competitive advantage when accessing debt markets.
We calculate our fixed charge coverage ratio as approximately 6.1x for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 (see our discussion of Adjusted
EBITDA and a reconciliation to our net income on page 50). Our consolidated net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio is approximately 4.2x for the three
months ended September 30, 2018 on an annualized basis (in thousands):

Consolidated Total Debt
Less: cash and cash equivalents

$

1,220,135
(2,638)

Consolidated Net Debt

$

1,217,497

Adjusted EBITDA
Annualizing Adjustment

$

71,751
215,253

$

287,004

Consolidated Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDA

4.2x

According to the Administration on Aging (“AoA”) of the US Department of Health and Human Services, in 2016, the latest year for which data is
available, 49.2 million people were age 65 or older in the United States (a 33% increase over the last ten years). Census estimates showed that, by 2040,
those 65 or older are expected to constitute 21.7% of the population. The population aged 85 and above is projected to rise from 6.4 million in 2016 to
14.6 million in the US by 2040 (a 129% increase).
Per the AoA, in 2015, the median value of homes owned by older homeowners age 75 and over was $150,000 (with a median purchase price of
$53,000). In comparison, the median home value of all homeowners was $180,000. Of the 11.9 million households headed by persons age 75 and over in
2015, 76% were owners. About 78% of these older homeowners in 2015 owned their homes free and clear. Home ownership provides the elderly with
greater freedom to choose their lifestyles.
Equipped with the basics of financial security, many will be economically able to enter the market for senior housing. These strong demographic
trends provide the context for continued growth in senior housing in 2018 and the years ahead. We plan to fund any new real estate and mortgage
investments during the remainder of 2018 using our liquid assets and debt financing. As the weight of additional debt resulting from new acquisitions
suggests the need to rebalance our capital structure, we would then
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expect to access the capital markets through an at-the-market (“ATM”) or other equity offering. Our disciplined investment strategy implemented
through measured increments of debt and equity sets the stage for access to capital at the lowest possible rates, annual dividend growth, continued low
leverage, a portfolio of diversified, high-quality assets, and business relationships with experienced operators whom we make our priority, continue to
be the key drivers of our business plan.
Critical Accounting Policies
See our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of critical accounting policies including those concerning revenue recognition, our
status as a REIT, principles of consolidation, evaluation of impairments and allocation of property acquisition costs.
Major Tenants
As discussed in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, we have four operators from whom we individually derive at least 10%
of our rental income as follows (dollars in thousands):
Rental Income
Nine Months Ended September 30,

Investment
Asset Class
Holiday Retirement
Senior Living Communities
National HealthCare Corporation
Bickford Senior Living
All others

ILF
EFC
SNF
ALF
Various

Amount

2018

$

493,378
549,487
171,297
530,240
1,060,516

$

32,863
34,374
28,453
36,792
78,327

$

2,804,918

$

210,809

Lease

2017
16%
16%
13%
18%
37%

$

32,863
34,293
28,149
30,170
71,602

$

197,077

Renewal
17%
18%
14%
15%
36%

2031
2029
2026
Various
Various

Straight-line rent of $4,591,000 and $5,547,000 was recognized from the Holiday lease for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. Straight-line rent of $4,076,000 and $5,238,000 was recognized from the Senior Living lease for the nine months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively. Straight-line rent of $3,541,000 and $3,416,000 was recognized from the Bickford leases for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017, respectively. For NHC, rent escalations are based on a percentage increase in revenue over a base year and do not give rise to non-cash,
straight-line rental income.
Our operators report to us the results of their operations on a periodic basis, which we in turn subject to further analysis as a means of monitoring
potential concerns within our portfolio. We have identified EBITDARM (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, rent and management
fees) as the most elemental barometer of success for our tenants, based on results they have reported to us. As a property level measure of our
operators’ success, we believe EBITDARM is useful in our most fundamental analyses, as it is a property level measure of our operators’ success, by
eliminating the effects of the operator’s method of acquiring the use of its assets (interest and rent), its non-cash expenses (depreciation and
amortization), expenses that are dependent on its level of success (income taxes), and also excluding the effect of the operator’s payment of its
management fees, as typically those fees are contractually subordinate to our lease payment. For operators of our entrance fee communities, our
calculation of EBITDARM includes other cash flow adjustments typical of the industry which may include, but are not limited to, net cash flows from
entrance fees; amortization of deferred entrance fees; adjustments for tenant rent obligations, depreciation and amortization; and management fee trueups. The eliminations and adjustments reflect covenants in our leases and provide a comparable basis for assessing our various relationships
We believe that EBITDARM is a useful way to analyze the cash potential of a group of assets. From EBITDARM we calculate a lease coverage ratio
(EBITDARM/Cash Rent), measuring the ability of the operator to meet its monthly rental obligation. In addition to EBITDARM and the lease coverage
ratio, we rely on, a careful balance sheet analysis, and other analytical procedures to help us identify potential areas of concern relative to our operators’
ability to generate sufficient liquidity to meet their obligations, including their obligation to continue to pay the rent due to us.
Typical among our operators is a varying lag in reporting to us the results of their operations. Across our portfolio, however, our operators report
their results, at the latest, within ninety days of month’s end. For computational purposes, we exclude development and lease-up properties that have
been in operation less than 24 months. For stabilized acquisitions in the portfolio less than 24 months and renewing leases with changes in scheduled
rent, we include pro forma cash rent.
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For this reporting period, we have excluded results from SH Regency Leasing, LLC, as noted below under the heading Other Portfolio Activity.
The results by asset type are presented below on a trailing twelve-month basis, as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (the most recent periods available):

EBITDARM / Cash Rent Twelve Months Ended June 30, 2018
Senior
Bickford
Holiday
Living
Discretionary
—
1.27x
1.18x
Need-Driven
Total SHO
Skilled Nursing
Hospitals
Medical Office
Total Lease Portfolio

Skilled Nursing
Hospitals
Medical Office
Total Lease Portfolio

All Other

Total

1.12x

—

—

—
—

2.21x
1.11x

1.29x
1.11x

1.12x
—
—
—

1.27x
—
—
—

1.18x
—
—
—

—
3.59x
—
—

1.24x
1.53x
1.90x
3.48x

1.20x
2.54x
1.90x
3.48x

1.12x

1.27x

1.18x

3.59x

1.44x

1.64x

EBITDARM / Cash Rent Twelve Months Ended June 30, 2017
Senior
Bickford
Holiday
Living
Discretionary
—
1.32x
1.17x
Need-Driven
Total SHO

NHC

NHC

All Other

Total

1.16x

—

—

—
—

2.03x
1.20x

1.30x
1.18x

1.16x
—
—
—

1.32x
—
—
—

1.17x
—
—
—

—
3.60x
—
—

1.29x
1.40x
2.24x
6.91x

1.24x
2.49x
2.24x
6.91x

1.16x

1.32x

1.17x

3.60x

1.48x

1.68x

Number of Properties
Bickford
Discretionary
Need-Driven
Total SHO

Senior
Living

Holiday

NHC1

All Other

Total

—
48

9
—

25
—

—
—

3
48

37
96

48
—
—
—

9
—
—
—

25
—
—
—

—
42
—
—

51
30
3
2

133
72
3
2

42

86

210

Skilled Nursing
Hospitals
Medical Office
Total Lease Portfolio
48
9
25
1 NHC based on corporate-level FCCR and includes 3 independent living facilities

Fluctuations in portfolio coverage are a result of market and economic trends, local market competition, and regulatory factors as well as the
operational success of our tenants. We use the results of individual leases to inform our decision making with respect to specific tenants, but trends
described above by property type and operator bear analysis. Our Need-Driven SHO portfolio shows a decline brought about primarily by a softening
in occupancy within particular markets, as well as rising wage pressures. For many of the affected operators, as is typical of our portfolio in general, NHI
has significant security deposits in place and/or corporate guarantees should actual cash rental shortfalls eventually materialize. In certain instances,
our operators may elect to increase their security deposits with us in an amount equal to the coverage shortfall, and, upon subsequent compliance with
the required lease coverage ratio, the operator would then be entitled to a full refund. The metrics presented in the tables above give no effect to the
presence of these security deposits. For Skilled Nursing, coverage in the All Other segment of our portfolio has improved due to a better operating
environment for the segment, as a whole, and for the Ensign portfolio transition, in particular. Each MOB’s coverage is driven by the underlying
performance of its on-campus hospital as the tenant or guarantor under the lease. In Texas, the aftermath of Hurricane Harvey in 2017 witnessed the
shut-down of the guarantor hospital for a few days resulting in lost revenue, overtime and other one-time charges, negatively impacting the hospital’s
bottom-line and resultant coverage ratios for that MOB. Within the context of this event-specific occurrence, it is also typical of MOB operations that
there may be other large fluctuations in coverage resulting from hospital operations.
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Trends discussed above for our SNFs incorporate relevant information for NHC. For Bickford, recent softness in occupancy as well as wage
pressures have resulted in a decline in coverage. Before year-end, we expect to include in the Bickford coverage metric three additional stabilized newdevelopment properties, which we expect to be accretive. Coverage remains strong within the Senior Living portfolio, however, the irregularity of net
entrance fee cash flows results in greater volatility in coverages from period to period.
Investment Highlights
Since January 1, 2018, we have made or announced the following lease and note investments ($ in thousands):

Lease Investments
The Ensign Group
Bickford Senior Living
Comfort Care Senior Living
Note Investments
Bickford Senior Living
Bickford Senior Living

Date

Properties

Asset Class

January / May 2018
April 2018
May 2018

3
5
2

SNF
SHO
SHO

January 2018
July 2018

1
1

SHO
SHO

Amount
$

43,404
69,750
17,140

14,000
14,700
$

158,994

Ensign
On January 12, 2018, NHI acquired from a developer a 121-bed skilled nursing facility in Waxahachie, Texas for a cash investment of $14,404,000, and
on May 9, 2018, we acquired from another developer two 132-bed skilled nursing facilities in Garland and Fort Worth, Texas for a cash investment
totaling $29,000,000. Additional consideration of $1,275,000 for the Waxahachie property and $1,250,000 for each of Garland and Ft. Worth were
contributed by the lessee, The Ensign Group (“Ensign”). We have capitalized the tenant contributions as a component of the cost of the facilities and
have recorded the related lease incentive as deferred revenue, which we are amortizing to revenue over the term of the master lease to which these
properties have now been added. The master lease has a remaining term extending through April 2031 and provides for renewal options. The blended
initial lease rate is set at 8.1% subject to annual escalators based on prevailing inflation rates. The acquisitions were accounted for as asset purchases
and fulfills our commitment to acquire and lease to Ensign four skilled nursing facilities in New Braunfels, Waxahachie, Garland and Fort Worth, Texas.
Comfort Care
On May 31, 2018, NHI acquired two assisted living facilities comprising a total of 106 units in Bridgeport and Saginaw, Michigan for a cash
investment of $17,140,000, inclusive of $100,000 in closing costs. We leased the facilities to affiliates of Comfort Care Senior Living (“Comfort Care”) at
an initial lease rate of 7.25% with escalators adjusted for prevailing inflation rates, subject to a floor and ceiling of 2% and 3%, respectively. The lease
provides for an initial six-month escrow and a term of fifteen years.
Bickford
On April 30, 2018, we acquired an assisted living/memory-care portfolio in Ohio and Pennsylvania totaling 320 units and comprising five facilities,
one of which is subject to a ground lease with remaining term, including extensions, of 50 years. The purchase price was $69,750,000, inclusive of
$500,000 in closing costs and $1,750,000 in specified capital improvements, which will be added to the lease base upon funding. We included this
portfolio in a separate master lease with Bickford Senior Living (“Bickford”) which provides for a lease rate of 6.85%, with annual fixed escalators over a
term of 15 years plus renewal options, subject to a fair market value rent reset feature available to NHI between years three and five. We accounted for
the acquisition as an asset purchase.
Since January 1, 2018, we have finalized the following new loan commitments to Bickford:
Commencement
January 2018
July 2018

Rate

Maturity

9%
9%

5 years
5 years

Commitment

Drawn

$

14,000,000
14,700,000

$

(2,238,000)
(1,882,000)

$

28,700,000

$

(4,120,000)
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The agreements provide funding for the construction of assisted living facilities and convey mortgage interests in the properties to NHI. Interest on
these construction loans is at 9%, and the loans convey a purchase option to NHI, exercisable upon stabilization of planned operations, as defined.
Upon exercise of a purchase option, the lease rate will be set based on NHI's total investment, with a floor of 9.55%.
Potential Effects of Medicare Reimbursement
Our SNF operators receive a significant portion of their revenues from governmental payors, primarily Medicare (federal) and Medicaid (states).
Changes in reimbursement rates and limits on the scope of services reimbursed to skilled nursing facilities could have a material impact on the operators’
liquidity and financial condition. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) released a rule outlining a 1% increase in their Medicare
reimbursement for fiscal year 2018 beginning on October 1, 2017. Further, on August 1, 2018, CMS announced its CMS Skilled Nursing (“SNF”)
Prospective Payment System (“PPS”) final rule whereby its Patient-Driven Payment Model (“PDPM”) - the new case-mix methodology to replace RUG-IV
- will be effective October 1, 2018. Facilities will have one year to transition to PDPM from RUG-IV by the October 1, 2019 implementation date. PDPM is
considered to be a more simplified payment model than RUG-IV and is expected to reduce administrative costs and foster innovation to improve care to
patients. Regulators expect a $2 billion reduction in provider costs over 10 years as a result of simplified paperwork requirements for resident
assessments. The new model shifts care delivery under Medicare away from fee-for-service, which in the past has based reimbursement on the amount
of care provided, to focus on value-based care, which will base reimbursement on clinical complexity and the resident’s conditions and care needs. The
final rule also establishes a 2.4% market basket update beginning October 1, 2018. We currently estimate that our borrowers and lessees will find these
Medicare increases to be adequate in the near term due to their credit quality, profitability and their debt or lease coverage ratios, although no
assurances can be given as to what the ultimate effect that similar Medicare increases on an annual basis would have on each of our borrowers and
lessees. According to industry studies, state Medicaid funding is not expected to keep pace with inflation. Any near-term acquisitions by NHI of skilled
nursing facilities are planned on a selective basis, with emphasis on operator quality and newer construction.
Other Portfolio Activity
Our leases are typically structured as “triple net leases” on single-tenant properties having an initial leasehold term of 10 to 15 years with one or more
5-year renewal options. As such, there may be reporting periods in which we experience few, if any, lease renewals or expirations. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, we did not have any significant renewing or expiring leases.
Most of our existing leases contain annual escalators in rent payments. For financial statement purposes, rental income is recognized on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. Certain of our operators hold purchase options allowing them to acquire properties they currently lease from NHI.
We regularly engage in negotiations with these tenants to continue as lessor or in some other capacity.
The following table summarizes information about purchase options included in our lease agreements:

Asset
Type
MOB
SHO
SHO
HOSP
SHO
HOSP
SHO
HOSP
Various

Number of
Facilities

Lease 1st Option
Expiration Open Year

1
4
8
1
3
1
2
1
8

February 2025
Open
September 2027
Open
December 2024
2020
March 2025
2020
June 2025
2020
September 2027
2020
May 2031
2021
June 2022
2022
— Thereafter

Current
Cash Rent
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

300
1,500
4,310
1,900
5,223
2,626
4,892
3,460
4,003

We adjust rental income for the amortization as lease inducements paid to our tenants. Current outstanding commitments and contingencies are
listed under our discussion of liquidity and capital resources. Amortization of these payments against revenues was $240,000 and $69,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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On June 15, 2018, East Lake Capital Management LLC and certain related entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC (“Regency”), filed suit against
NHI and NHI-REIT of Axel, LLC for injunctive and declaratory relief and, unspecified monetary damages including attorney’s fees. The suit seeks,
among other things, to enjoin NHI from making certain references to East Lake in NHI’s public filings. NHI asserts the claims are meritless and intends to
vigorously defend itself. Subsequent to the receipt of the filed action, NHI has countersued Regency for declaratory judgment, specific performance,
monetary damages, and attorneys’ fees relating to Regency’s alleged defaults under a lease with NHI-REIT of Axel. During the pendency of this
litigation, out of an abundance of caution, NHI in its public filings will endeavor to refer to tenant-specific names, namely “EL FW Intermediary I,
LLC” (for the Freshwater continuing care retirement communities) and “SH Regency Leasing, LLC” (for the three Regency assisted living facilities).
Management believes that the eventual resolution of this controversy will have no material adverse effect on the Company.
Tenant Transition
We have identified a single-property lease with a tenant in Wisconsin as non-performing. In accordance with our revenue recognition policies, we
will recognize future rental income from the lease in the period in which cash is received, approximately $362,000 of which is in arrears at September 30,
2018. Additionally, we are transitioning the lease to a new tenant. As a consequence of this determination, the related straight-line receivable is
uncollectible, and, in June 2018, we wrote off the balance of $1,436,000 pertaining to this tenant.
Tenant Non-Compliance
In October 2017, we issued a letter of forbearance to one of our tenants for a default on our lease terms involving mandated lease coverage ratios and
working capital. Lease revenues from the tenant and its affiliates comprise less than 4% of our rental income, and the related straight-line rent receivable
was approximately $4,332,000 at September 30, 2018. Through September 30, 2018, the tenant is current on its lease payments to NHI. We are working
with the tenant to resolve their defaults. In the fourth quarter of 2017, we took steps to establish a more pronounced physical presence and to visit
specific operational touchpoints that concentrate on the tenant’s revenue and expenditure cycles. Resulting from this work, we have identified and
helped implement certain related efficiencies. The combination of monitoring and the redoubling of the operator’s efforts have helped bring about
ongoing results (unaudited) that indicate continuing improvement in collections, operating ratios, occupancy and margins, and point the way to
renewed profitability. With these developments, we continue to maintain a heightened vigilance toward the performance of the portfolio. No rent
concessions have been made to this tenant.
Further, we have determined that another of our tenants is in material non-compliance with provisions of our lease regarding mandated coverage
ratios and working capital. Lease revenues from the tenant comprise less than 2% of our rental income, and the related straight-line rent receivable was
approximately $1,365,000 at September 30, 2018. The tenant is current on its rent payments to NHI through September 30, 2018. We have made no rent
concessions to the tenant.
The defaults mentioned above typically give rise to considerations regarding the impairment or recoverability of the related assets, and we give
additional attention to the nature of the default’s underlying causes. At September 30, 2018, consequently, our assessment of likely undiscounted cash
flows, calculated at the lowest level for which identifiable asset-specific cash flows are largely independent, reveals no impairment on the underlying real
estate for either non-compliant operation discussed above.
Real Estate and Mortgage Write-downs
Our borrowers and tenants experience periods of significant financial pressures and difficulties similar to those encountered by other health care
providers. Governments at both the federal and state levels have enacted legislation to lower, or at least slow, the growth in payments to health care
providers. Furthermore, the cost of professional liability insurance has increased significantly during this same period. Since inception, a number of our
facility operators and mortgage loan borrowers have undergone bankruptcy. Others have been forced to surrender properties to us in lieu of foreclosure
or, for certain periods, have failed to make timely payments on their obligations to us.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we took a direct write-off of $413,000 on a non-mortgage receivable with remaining balance at
September 30, 2018 of $400,000 secured by personal guarantees.
We believe that the carrying amounts of our real estate properties are recoverable and that mortgage and other notes receivable are realizable and
supported by the value of the underlying collateral. However, it is possible that future events could require us to make significant adjustments to these
carrying amounts.
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Post Balance Sheet Events
Holiday
On November 5, 2018, we reached an Amendment to Master Lease and Termination of Guaranty (“Agreement”) with our third largest tenant, Holiday,
on an extension to and modifications of their existing lease. The settlement of obligations under the 2013 lease will result in value to NHI of $65,762,000
in cash and other specified consideration, the composition of which will be at our election and subject to completion of our diligence. We may elect to
receive a portion of the settlement in additional independent living facilities whose cash rent would reflect current market rates as stipulated to by the
parties to the Agreement.
Assuming we do not elect to receive part of the consideration in the form of an additional independent living facility, under the Agreement our new
lease with Holiday would provide for a combined initial lease payment of $31,500,000 for 25 properties, effective January 1, 2019, with variable escalators
beginning November 1, 2020, and each November 1 thereafter through the lease term ending on December 31, 2035, the escalators having a floor of 2.0%
and a cap of 3.0%. The new lease is to be secured by one-half the $21,275,000 deposit under the 2013 lease and will be subject to credit enhancements by
Holiday’s parent. Contractual rent under the original lease was scheduled to be $39,014,000 in 2019.
Regency
In response to ongoing litigation with East Lake Capital Management LLC and certain related entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC
(“Regency”) described more fully in Note 6, we filed suit in state courts in Indiana (Case No. 49D14-1810-PL-042742, Marion Superior Court, Civil
Division 14), North Carolina (Case No. 18CVM 26763, The General Court of Justice District Court Division, Mecklenburg County) and Tennessee (Case
No.18-1162-II, Chancery Court for Davidson County, Nashville Division). On October 23, 2018, we entered motions calling for the immediate appointment
of a receiver and for pre-judgment possession, hearing, and bond. The motions alleged, among other things, that the tenant had failed to meet the
required coverage ratio under the lease, had failed to make any curative shortfall deposits, and had failed to provide documents, reports and other
information required under the lease. A hearing on these and counter-party motions is set for mid-November.
As of September 30, 2018, based on our assessment of likely undiscounted cash flows we determined there was no need for an impairment charge on
the related land, building and improvements. Our determination to press for a tenant transition was arrived at only with the failure, in October 2018, of
alternative solutions. With the judicial impasse, we continue to collect scheduled rent as due, and our ability to evict the tenant has been placed beyond
our legal recourse. We have continued to record straight-line receivables, totaling $1,820,000 as of September 30, 2018. Should the stream of rental
payments ultimately fail and/or should our power of eviction under the lease be eventually upheld, subsequent write-off of the receivables would be
considered probable.
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Results of Operations
The significant items affecting revenues and expenses are described below (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Revenues:
Rental income
ALFs leased to Bickford Senior Living
SNFs leased to Ensign Group
1 ALF and 1 ILF leased to Discovery Senior Living
8 EFCs and 1 SLC leased to Senior Living Communities
ILFs leased to an affiliate of Holiday Retirement
Other new and existing leases

$

11,767
5,838
859
10,110
9,424
27,970

Period Change

2017

$

9,298
4,837
247
9,685
9,105
28,081

$

$

%

2,469
1,001
612
425
319
(111)

26.6 %
20.7 %
NM
4.4 %
3.5 %
(0.4)%
7.7 %
(17.7)%

65,968
5,720

61,253
6,951

4,715
(1,231)

71,688

68,204

3,484

560
205
983
1,449

220
126
1,193
1,506

340
79
(210)
(57)

NM
62.7 %
(17.6)%
(3.8)%

Total Interest Income from Mortgage and Other Notes

3,197
30

3,045
103

152
(73)

5.0 %
(70.9)%

Total Revenues

74,915

71,352

3,622
1,796
311
12,424

3,051
1,435
82
12,455

571
361
229
(31)

18.7 %
25.2 %
NM
(0.2)%

Total Depreciation

18,153
12,374
1,567
337
1,505

17,023
11,746
1,320
405
1,271

1,130
628
247
(68)
234

6.6 %
5.3 %
18.7 %
(16.8)%
18.4 %

Total Expenses

33,936

31,765

2,171

6.8 %

40,979
—

39,587
(495)

1,392
495

3.5 %
NM

1,887

4.8 %

Straight-line rent adjustments, new and existing leases
Total Rental Income
Interest income from mortgage and other notes
Bickford construction loans
Evolve Senior Living mortgage
Timber Ridge mortgage and construction loans
Other existing mortgages
Other interest income
Expenses:
Depreciation
ALFs leased to Bickford Senior Living
SNFs leased to Ensign Group
1 ALF and 1 ILF leased to Discovery Senior Living
Other new and existing assets
Interest, including amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Payroll and related compensation expenses
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense
Other expenses

Income before investment and other gains and losses
Loss on convertible note retirement
$

Net income
NM - not meaningful
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40,979

$

39,092

3,563

$

5.1 %

5.0 %
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Financial highlights of the quarter ended September 30, 2018, compared to the same quarter of 2017 were as follows:
•

Rental income increased $3,484,000, or 5.1%, primarily as a result of new investments funded since September 2017.

•

The increase in rental income included a $1,231,000 decrease in straight-line rent adjustments. Generally accepted accounting principles require
rental income to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease to give effect to scheduled rent escalators that are determinable at
lease inception. Future increases in rental income depend on our ability to make new investments which meet our underwriting criteria.

•

Interest income from mortgage and other notes increased $152,000, primarily due to a combination of interest income received on development loans
to Bickford Senior Living and Senior Living Management and the continued repayment of our construction loan to Timber Ridge.

•

Depreciation expense increased $1,130,000 primarily due to new real estate investments completed since September 2017 and during the nine months
of 2018.

•

Interest expense, including amortization of debt discount and issuance costs, increased $628,000 primarily as a result of an increase in 30-day
LIBOR, which is the benchmark for our revolving debt.

•

Payroll and related compensation expenses increased $247,000 due primarily to increased employee count and the expense of certain incentive
bonuses.
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The significant items affecting revenues and expenses are described below (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Revenues:
Rental income
ALFs leased to Bickford Senior Living
SNFs leased to Ensign Group
1 ALF and 1 ILF leased to Discovery Senior Living
ALFs leased to The LaSalle Group
SNFs leased to Health Services Management
7 EFCs and 1 SLC leased to Senior Living Communities
ILFs leased to an affiliate of Holiday Retirement
2 ALFs and 3 SNFs leased to Prestige Senior Living
Other new and existing leases

$

2017

$

26,754
14,188
742
2,355
6,551
29,055
27,315
3,877
67,284

$

$

%

6,497
2,313
1,835
978
881
1,243
956
450
19

24.3 %
16.3 %
NM
NM
13.4 %
4.3 %
3.5 %
11.6 %
—%

193,293
17,516

178,121
18,956

15,172
(1,440)

8.5 %
(7.6)%

210,809

197,077

13,732

7.0 %

1,473
615
—
3,391
4,234

466
126
1,104
4,045
4,384

1,007
489
(1,104)
(654)
(150)

NM
NM
NM
(16.2)%
(3.4)%

Total Interest Income from Mortgage and Other Notes

9,713
94

10,125
374

(412)
(280)

(4.1)%
(74.9)%

Total Revenues

220,616

207,576

13,040

6.3 %

10,164
5,067
933
1,217
35,901

8,777
4,230
246
903
35,850

1,387
837
687
314
51

15.8 %
19.8 %
NM
NM
0.1 %

Total Depreciation

53,282
36,207
4,926
2,198
2,131
1,849
2,034

50,006
35,139
4,406
1,868
2,270
—
1,818

3,276
1,068
520
330
(139)
1,849
216

6.6 %
3.0 %
11.8 %
17.7 %
(6.1)%
NM
11.9 %

Total Expenses

102,627

95,507

7,120

7.5 %

117,989
(738)
—

112,069
(591)
10,088

5,920
(147)
(10,088)

5.3 %
NM
NM

(4,315)

(3.5)%

Straight-line rent adjustments, new and existing leases
Total Rental Income
Interest income from mortgage and other notes
Bickford construction loans
Evolve Senior Living mortgage
Traditions of Owatonna mortgage note1
Timber Ridge mortgage and construction loans
Other new and existing mortgages
Other interest income
Expenses:
Depreciation
ALFs operated by Bickford Senior Living
SNFs leased to Ensign Group
1 ALF and 1 ILF leased to Discovery Senior Living
ALFs leased to The LaSalle Group
Other new and existing assets
Interest, including amortization of debt discount and issuance costs
Payroll and related compensation expenses
Compliance, consulting and professional fees
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense
Loan and realty losses
Other expenses

Income before investment and other gains and losses
Loss on convertible note retirement
Investment and other gains
$

Net income
NM - not meaningful
1

33,251
16,501
2,577
3,333
7,432
30,298
28,271
4,327
67,303

Period Change

Includes unamortized note discount recognized upon note payoff
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117,251

$

121,566

$
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Financial highlights of the nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared to the same period in 2017 were as follows:
•

Rental income increased $13,732,000, or 7.0%, primarily as a result of new investments funded since September 2017.

•

The increase in rental income was partially offset by a $1,440,000 decrease in straight-line rent adjustments. Generally accepted accounting
principles require rental income to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease to give effect to scheduled rent escalators
that are determinable at lease inception. Generally, future increases in rental income depend on our ability to make new investments which meet
our underwriting criteria.

•

Interest income from mortgage and other notes decreased $412,000, due to a combination of the continued repayment of our construction loan
to Timber Ridge, interest income received on development loans to Bickford Senior Living and Senior Living Management and the recognition
of an unamortized note discount related to a mortgage note which was paid in full during the second quarter of 2017.

•

Depreciation expense increased $3,276,000 primarily due to new real estate investments completed since the third quarter of 2017.

•

Interest expense, including amortization of debt discount and issuance costs, increased $1,068,000 primarily as a result of an increase in 30-day
LIBOR, which is the benchmark for our revolving debt.

•

Payroll and related compensation expenses increased $520,000 due primarily to increased employee count.

•

Investment and other gains includes $10,038,000 from the sale of marketable securities in 2017.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Funds
Our primary sources of cash include rent payments, principal and interest payments on mortgage and other notes receivable, proceeds from the sales
of real property, net proceeds from offerings of equity securities and borrowings from our term loans and revolving credit facility. Our primary uses of
cash include debt service payments (both principal and interest), new investments in real estate and notes, dividend distributions to our shareholders
and general corporate overhead.
These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as summarized below (dollars in
thousands):
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2018

One Year Change

2017

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

$

3,063 $
155,998
(149,474)
(6,949)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

2,638

$

4,832
145,960
(144,838)
(2,028)
3,926

$

%

$

(1,769)
10,038
(4,636)
(4,921)

(36.6)%
6.9 %
3.2 %
242.7 %

$

(1,288)

(32.8)%

Operating Activities – Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was favorably impacted by new real
estate investments since September 2017, an increase in lease payment collections arising from escalators on existing leases and the funding of lease
incentives.
Investing Activities – Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was comprised primarily of $153,114,000 of
investments in real estate and notes, and was partially offset by the collection of principal on mortgage and other notes receivable.
Financing Activities – The change in net cash related to financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to the same
period in 2017 is primarily the result of (1) dividend payments which increased $9,574,000 over the same period in 2017, and (2) $29,985,000 used to
complete targeted repurchases of a portion of our outstanding convertible notes, compared with $14,312,000 for the same purpose in 2017. During the
nine months ended September 30, 2017, we were active in our ATM program, raising proceeds of $122,198,000. In the comparable period in 2018, we
made sales of common shares into the market resulting in net proceeds of $47,893,000.
Liquidity
Apart from operations, the main source of our liquidity is our unsecured bank credit facility. At September 30, 2018, we had $527,000,000 available to
draw on our revolving credit facility.
Our bank credit facility derives from a 2017 Agreement, entered into in August 2017, and a 2018 Agreement, finalized in September 2018. Together
these agreements establish our unsecured $1,100,000,000 bank credit facility, which consists of $250,000,000 and $300,000,000 term loans and a
$550,000,000 revolving credit facility. The $250,000,000 term loan and $550,000,000 revolving facility mature in August 2022, and the $300,000,000 term
loan is to mature in September 2023. With the 2018 Agreement, we converted $300,000,000 of debt initially drawn on our revolving facility into a five-year
term loan.
The revolving facility fee is currently 20 basis points per annum, and floating interest on the revolver and term loans are presently set at 30-day
LIBOR plus 115 and a blended 127 bps, respectively. Within the facility, the employment of interest rate swaps for our fixed term debt leaves only our
revolving credit facility and newly issued term loan of $300,000,000 exposed to interest rate risk through April 2019, when our $40,000,000 swap expires.
Our swaps and the financial instruments to which they relate are described under the caption “Interest Rate Swap Agreements,” below. The current
interest spreads and facility fee reflect our leverage-ratio compliance based on the applicable margin for LIBOR loans, measuring debt to “Total Asset
Value,” at Level 2 in the Interest Rate Schedule provided below in abridged format:
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Interest Rate Schedule
LIBOR Margin
Level

Leverage Ratio

Revolver

$300m Term Loan

$250m Term Loan

Facility Fee

1
2
3

< 0.35
≥ 0.35 & < 0.40
≥ 0.40 & < 0.45

1.10%
1.15%
1.20%

1.20%
1.25%
1.30%

1.25%
1.30%
1.35%

0.15%
0.20%
0.20%

Beyond the applicable ratios detailed above, increasing levels of leverage (not shown) will subject our debt to defined increases in interest rates and
fees.
The 2017 Agreement requires that we calculate specified financial statement metrics and meet or exceed a variety of financial ratios, which are usual
and customary in nature. These ratios are calculated quarterly and have been within required limits. For additional specifics surrounding much of the
following discussion, see our 2017 Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017.
The calculation of our leverage ratio involves intermediate determinations of our “total indebtedness” and of our “total asset value,” as defined. We
are near the upper bounds delineated by Level 2 in the Interest Rate Schedule, above.
Aside from a more favorable rate, the 2018 Agreement generally calls for the same covenants and financial statement metrics required for compliance
with terms of the 2017 Agreement. Although we are currently eligible under the 2017 and 2018 Agreements to transact in our unsecured bank credit
facilities at the respective scheduled rates represented by Level 2, the movement of our leverage ratio into Level 3 at current levels of debt would result
in additional annual costs of approximately $375,000. Further movement of our leverage ratio beyond levels currently contemplated by Management
would be subject to escalating increases in interest. If, in addition to changes in the leverage ratio, certain qualitative indicators of our risk profile were
to materially change further interest-rate escalations may result.
Our ATM program represents an additional source of liquidity. Through the program in May and June 2018, we issued 628,403 common shares, with
an average price for shares sold of $72.70, resulting after commissions in net proceeds of $44,920,000. In September 2018, we further issued 39,669 shares
for net proceeds of $3,000,000. Cash from these issuances was initially used to pay down our revolving credit facility. Funding through an ATM allows
us to match-fund smaller investments, or groups of smaller investments, where the duration of the offering and the amounts to be raised would not be
expected to significantly impact the market for our common stock.
As we continue our activity in the ATM program in 2018, we intend to use the proceeds for general corporate purposes, which may include future
acquisitions and repayment of indebtedness, including borrowings under our credit facility. Acquisitions, if any, whose magnitude would entail an
equity match unable to be efficiently sourced through the ATM would likely trigger a prospectus supplement and an underwritten or overnight offering
of NHI common stock, rather than placement through the ATM. Offerings under the ATM program are made pursuant to a prospectus dated February
22, 2017, which constitutes a part of NHI’s effective shelf registration statement that was previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Traditionally, debt financing and operating and financing cash flows derived from proceeds of lease and mortgage collections, loan payoffs and the
recovery of previous write-downs, have been used to satisfy our operational and investing needs and to provide a return to our shareholders. We
expect to continue to access these sources of capital to meet those operational and investing needs, which are necessary to maintain and cultivate our
funding sources and have generally fallen into three categories: debt service, REIT operating expenses, and new real estate investments.
Depending on the strength of the equity markets, we expect that borrowings on our revolving credit facility and our ATM program will allow us to
continue to make real estate investments during the next twelve months. However, we anticipate that our historically low cost of debt capital will
respond in the near to mid-term to the federal government’s continued upward transitioning of the Federal funds rate. For a variety of reasons, short and
long-term interest rates are gravitating toward each other - the so-called “flattening of the yield curve” -- making more problematic a precise forecast of
the effects of the Federal Reserve Board’s monetary policy on our long-term borrowing rates. In response to the changing interest-rate environment, we
may find it advisable within the coming year to acquire a public credit rating as a means of managing uncertain interest costs.
Except for specific debt-coverage ratios, covenants pertaining to our private placement term loans having face value of $400,000,000 as of September
30, 2018, are generally conformed with those governing the credit facility. We expect to continue
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to convert portions of our revolving credit facility to term loans by borrowings of bank or private placement debt or the public issuance of unsecured
bonds.
In other financing transactions during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we undertook targeted open-market repurchases of certain of our
convertible notes. Settlement of the notes requires management to allocate the consideration we ultimately pay between the debt component and the
equity conversion feature as though they were separate instruments. The allocation is effected by fair valuing the debt component first, with any
remainder allocated to the conversion feature. Amounts expended to settle the notes are recognized first as a settlement of the notes at our carrying
value and then are recognized in income to the extent the portion allocated to the debt instrument differs from carrying value. The remainder of the
allocation, if any, is treated as settlement of equity and adjusted through our capital in excess of par account.
A roll-forward of our note balances, including the effect of period amortization, net of issuance costs, is presented below:
December 31,
2017
Face Amount
Discount
Issuance Costs

$

147,575 $
(2,637) $
(1,752) $

Carrying Value

$

143,186

Cash Paid

September 30,
2018

Amortization

(27,575) $
458 $
297 $

— $
597
415
$

120,000
(1,582)
(1,040)
117,378

Total expenditures of $29,985,000 include paid amounts of $27,558,000 allocated to the note retirement with the remaining expenditure of $2,427,000
allocated to capital in excess of par. A loss of $738,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, resulted from the excess of cash expenditures over
the book value of the notes retired, net of discount and issuance costs. No notes were retired during the three months ended September 30, 2018. The
conversion feature inherent in these notes is discussed under the caption, “Off Balance-Sheet Arrangements,” below.
We may continue from time to time to seek to retire or purchase some of our outstanding convertible notes through cash open market purchases,
privately-negotiated transactions or otherwise. As with our 2018 repurchases, amounts and timing of further repurchases or exchanges, if any, will be
dependent on prevailing market conditions, liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors.
When we take on new debt or when we modify or replace existing debt, we incur debt issuance costs. These costs are subject to amortization over
the term of the new debt instrument and may result in the write-off of fees associated with debt which has been replaced or modified. Sustaining longterm dividend growth will require that we consider all sources of capital mentioned above, with the goal of maintaining a low-leverage balance sheet as
mitigation against potential adverse changes in the business of our industry, tenants and borrowers.
We completed the liquidation of LTC Properties, Inc. (“LTC”) common stock begun in 2015 in the first quarter of 2017 with the sale of our remaining
250,000 shares, realizing net proceeds of $11,718,000 from these sales. A taxable gain of approximately $10,038,000 resulted from the 2017 sales and was
adequately offset by depreciation and other deductions in the calculation of our REIT taxable income, making these proceeds available for deployment.
Total proceeds of $18,182,000 from marketable securities included settlements occurring in the nine months ended September 30, 2017, of $6,464,000 that
resulted from sales in December 2016.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements
As of September 30, 2018, we employ the following interest rate swap contracts to hedge against fluctuations in variable interest rates applicable to
the $250,000,000 term loan (dollars in thousands):

Date Entered

Maturity Date

Fixed Rate

Rate Index

Notional Amount

Fair Value

May 2012
April 2019
2.84%
1-month LIBOR
$
40,000 $
214
June 2013
June 2020
3.41%
1-month LIBOR
$
80,000 $
917
March 2014
June 2020
3.46%
1-month LIBOR
$
130,000 $
1,380
For instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative has previously been
reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”), and reclassified into earnings in the same period, or periods, during which the
hedged transaction affected earnings. Gains and losses on the derivative representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from
the assessment of effectiveness have been recognized in earnings.
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The timing for fixing rates on our term loans will depend on indicative pricing and the yield curve. To date we have not hedged the $300,000,000
entered into in September 2018, which continues to be subject to interest rate exposure.
On January 1, 2018 we adopted ASU 2017-12 Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities, as discussed
in the Notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements. The transition method is a modified retrospective approach that required the Company
to recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the ASU as an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of 2018. The primary provision in the ASU requiring adjustment to our beginning retained earnings
is the change in timing and income statement line item for ineffectiveness related to cash flow hedges. Upon the adoption of the new standard, we
reversed cumulative ineffectiveness occurring in the last six months of 2017, resulting in a retroactive net charge to retained earnings and a credit to
accumulated other comprehensive income of $235,000 as of January 1, 2018. Upon adoption of the ASU, the Company achieved a better alignment of its
financial reporting for hedging activities with the economic objectives of those activities.
We intend to comply with REIT dividend requirements that we distribute at least 90% of our annual taxable income for the years ending December
2018 and thereafter. Dividends declared for the fourth quarter of each fiscal year are paid by the end of the following January and are, with some
exceptions, treated for tax purposes as having been paid in the fiscal year just ended as provided in IRS Code Sec. 857(b)(8). We declare special
dividends when we compute our REIT taxable income in an amount that exceeds our regular dividends for the fiscal year.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We currently have no outstanding guarantees. As described in Note 1 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, our leases, mortgages
and other notes receivable with certain entities represent variable interests in those enterprises. However, because we do not control these entities, nor
do we have any role in their day-to-day management, we are not their primary beneficiary. Except as discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2017, under Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities, we have no further material obligations arising from our
transactions with these entities, and we believe our maximum exposure to loss at September 30, 2018, due to this involvement would be limited to our
contractual commitments and contingent liabilities and the amount of our current investments with them, as detailed further in Notes 1, 2, 3 and 6 to the
condensed consolidated financial statements. As of September 30, 2018, we furnished no direct support to any of these entities.
In March 2014 we issued $200,000,000 of convertible notes, the conversion feature being intended to broaden the Company’s credit profile and to
obtain a more favorable coupon rate. For this feature we calculate the dilutive effect using market prices for our common stock prevailing over the
reporting period. Because the dilution calculation is market-driven, and per share guidance we provide is based on diluted amounts, the theoretical
effects of the conversion feature result in per share unpredictability.
As of September 30, 2018, the face amount of our 3.25% senior unsecured convertible notes outstanding was $120,000,000. As adjusted for terms of
the indenture giving a share of equity participation to note holders, the Notes are convertible at a rate of 14.37 shares of common stock per $1,000
principal amount, representing a conversion price of approximately $69.57 per share for a total of 1,724,900 remaining underlying shares. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, dilution resulting from the conversion option within our convertible debt is 57,802 shares. If we continue to pay
quarterly dividends beyond that level prevailing when we originally issued the notes, or $0.77 per share, or if NHI’s current share price increases above
the adjusted $69.57 conversion price, further dilution will be attributable to the conversion feature.
The notes will be freely convertible in the last six months of their contractual life, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2020; however, generally
accepted accounting principles require us to periodically report the amount by which the notes’ convertible value exceeds their principal amount,
without regard to the current availability of the conversion feature. Further, the mechanics of the calculation require the use of an end-of-period stock
price, so that using that amount for the remaining notes outstanding of $120,000,000 at September 30, 2018, delivers an excess of $10,385,000, whereas
the use of a price point from another day could give a different result.
The conversion feature is generally available to the noteholders entering the last six months of the notes’ term but may also become actionable if the
market price of NHI’s common stock should, for 20 of 30 consecutive trading days within a calendar quarter, sustain a level in excess of 130% of the
adjusted conversion price, or $90.44 per share at September 30, 2018, down from $93.55 per share, initially. The notes are “optional net-share settlement”
instruments, meaning that NHI has the ability and intent to settle the principal amount of the indebtedness in cash, with possible dilutive share
issuances for any excess, at NHI’s option. Settlement of the notes requires management to allocate the consideration we ultimately pay between the
debt component and the equity conversion feature as though they were separate instruments. The allocation is effected by valuing the debt component
first, with any remainder allocated to the conversion feature. Amounts expended to settle the notes are recognized first as a settlement
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of the notes at our carrying value and then are recognized in income to the extent the portion allocated to the debt instrument differs from carrying value.
The remainder of the allocation, if any, will be treated as settlement of equity and adjusted through our paid in capital account.
Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities
For our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017, see our Management’s Discussion and Analysis contained in our Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017. Since year-end, on September 17, 2018, we executed a bank term loan agreement involving substantially the same banking
group participating in our 2017 Agreement. Under terms of the agreement, we converted $300,000,000 of debt initially drawn under our revolving facility
to a five year term note. Dependent on continuance of our leverage ratio at current levels, the new facility is subject to floating interest at 30-day LIBOR
plus 125 bps. Generally, the new September 2018 credit facility is subject to the same covenants and financial statement metrics required for compliance
with terms of the 2017 Agreement.
Commitments and Contingencies
The following tables summarize information as of September 30, 2018 related to our outstanding commitments and contingencies which are more fully
described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Loan Commitments:
Life Care Services Note A
Bickford Senior Living
Senior Living Communities

Asset Class

Type

SHO
SHO
SHO

Construction
Construction
Revolving Credit

Total

Funded

Remaining

$

60,000,000
56,700,000
15,000,000

$

(57,536,000)
(27,744,000)
(997,000)

$

2,464,000
28,956,000
14,003,000

$

131,700,000

$

(86,277,000)

$

45,423,000

See Note 3 of the condensed consolidated financial statements for full details of our loan commitments. As provided above, loans funded do not
include the effects of discounts or commitment fees. We expect to fully fund the Life Care Services Note A during 2018. Funding of the promissory note
commitments to Bickford is expected to transpire monthly throughout 2018.

Development Commitments:
EL FW Intermediary I, LLC
Bickford Senior Living
Senior Living Communities
Discovery Senior Living
Woodland Village
Chancellor Health Care
Navion Senior Solutions

Asset Class

Type

SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO

Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Renovation
Construction
Construction

Total

Funded

Remaining

$

8,937,000
4,150,000
6,830,000
500,000
7,450,000
62,000
650,000

$

(8,937,000)
(1,647,000)
(2,413,000)
—
(4,480,000)
(62,000)
—

$

—
2,503,000
4,417,000
500,000
2,970,000
—
650,000

$

28,579,000

$

(17,539,000)

$

11,040,000

As discussed in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements included herein, we have satisfied our obligation to purchase skilled
nursing facilities in Texas which had been leased to Legend and subleased to Ensign. Our commitments to fund renovations for EL FW Intermediary I,
LLC, and Chancellor have expired.

Contingencies:
Bickford Senior Living
Bickford Senior Living
SH Regency Leasing, LLC
Navion Senior Solutions
Prestige Care
The LaSalle Group

Asset Class

Type

SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO
SHO

Lease Inducement
Incentive Loan Draws
Lease Inducement
Lease Inducement
Lease Inducement
Lease Inducement

46

Total

Funded

Remaining

$

10,000,000
8,000,000
8,000,000
4,850,000
1,000,000
5,000,000

$

(6,250,000)
(250,000)
—
—
—
—

$

3,750,000
7,750,000
8,000,000
4,850,000
1,000,000
5,000,000

$

36,850,000

$

(6,500,000)

$

30,350,000
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Contingent lease inducement payments of $10,000,000 related to the five Bickford development properties constructed in 2016 and 2017 include a
licensure incentive of $250,000 per property and a three-tiered operator incentive schedule paying up to an additional $1,750,000, based on the
attainment of certain performance metrics. Upon funding, these payments are added to the lease base and amortized against rental income.
For a discussion of incentive loan draws of $8,000,000 available to Bickford related to borrowings for the development of its properties in Illinois,
Michigan, and Virginia, see Note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.
By terms of our July 2015 lease to SH Regency Leasing, LLC, of three senior housing properties, NHI has committed to certain lease inducement
payments of $8,000,000 contingent on reaching and maintaining certain metrics. The inducements have been assessed as not probable of payment, and
we have not recorded them on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2018. We are unaware of circumstances that would
change our initial assessment as to the contingent lease incentives. Not included in the above table is a seller earnout of $750,000, which is recorded on
our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets within accounts payable and accrued expenses.
Litigation
See “Other Portfolio Activity” above for a discussion of the status of our litigation with East Lake Capital Management, LLC and certain related
entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC (“Regency”).
Our facilities are subject to claims and suits in the ordinary course of business. Our lessees and borrowers have indemnified, and are obligated to
continue to indemnify us, against all liabilities arising from the operation of the facilities, and are further obligated to indemnify us against environmental
or title problems affecting the real estate underlying such facilities. While there may be lawsuits pending against certain of the owners and/or lessees of
the facilities, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such pending proceedings will have no material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
FFO, AFFO & FAD
These supplemental operating performance measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other REITs. Consequently, our
Funds From Operations (“FFO”), Normalized FFO, Normalized Adjusted Funds From Operations (“AFFO”) and Normalized Funds Available for
Distribution (“FAD”) may not provide a meaningful measure of our performance as compared to that of other REITs. Since other REITs may not use our
definition of these operating performance measures, caution should be exercised when comparing our Company’s FFO, Normalized FFO, Normalized
AFFO and Normalized FAD to that of other REITs. These financial performance measures do not represent cash generated from operating activities in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) (these measures do not include changes in operating assets and liabilities) and
therefore should not be considered an alternative to net earnings as an indication of operating performance, or to net cash flow from operating activities
as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity, and are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs.
Funds From Operations - FFO
Our FFO per diluted common share for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 decreased $0.12 (2.9%) over the same period in 2017. FFO
decreased primarily as the result of $10,038,000 of gains recognized on the sale of marketable securities during the nine months ended September 30,
2017. FFO, as defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) and applied by us, is net income (computed in
accordance with GAAP), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of real estate property, plus real estate depreciation and amortization, and after
adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, if any. The Company’s computation of FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by
other REITs that do not define the term in accordance with the current NAREIT definition or have a different interpretation of the current NAREIT
definition from that of the Company; therefore, caution should be exercised when comparing our Company’s FFO to that of other REITs. Diluted FFO
assumes the exercise of stock options and other potentially dilutive securities.
Our normalized FFO per diluted common share for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 increased $0.18 (4.6%) over the same period in 2017.
Normalized FFO increased primarily as the result of our new real estate investments since September 2017. Normalized FFO excludes from FFO certain
items which, due to their infrequent or unpredictable nature, may create some difficulty in comparing FFO for the current period to similar prior periods,
and may include, but are not limited to, impairment of non-real estate assets, gains and losses attributable to the acquisition and disposition of assets
and liabilities, and recoveries of previous write-downs.
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FFO and normalized FFO are important supplemental measures of operating performance for a REIT. Because the historical cost accounting
convention used for real estate assets requires depreciation (except on land), such accounting presentation implies that the value of real estate assets
diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values instead have historically risen and fallen with market conditions, presentations of operating
results for a REIT that uses historical cost accounting for depreciation could be less informative, and should be supplemented with a measure such as
FFO. The term FFO was designed by the REIT industry to address this issue.
Adjusted Funds From Operations - AFFO
Our normalized AFFO per diluted common share for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 increased $0.22 (6.2%) over the same period in 2017
due primarily to the impact of real estate investments completed since September 2017. In addition to the adjustments included in the calculation of
normalized FFO, normalized AFFO excludes the impact of any straight-line rent revenue, amortization of the original issue discount on our convertible
senior notes and amortization of debt issuance costs.
Normalized AFFO is an important supplemental measure of operating performance for a REIT. GAAP requires a lessor to recognize contractual lease
payments into income on a straight-line basis over the expected term of the lease. This straight-line adjustment has the effect of reporting lease income
that is significantly more or less than the contractual cash flows received pursuant to the terms of the lease agreement. GAAP also requires the original
issue discount of our convertible senior notes and debt issuance costs to be amortized as non-cash adjustments to earnings. Normalized AFFO is useful
to our investors as it reflects the growth inherent in the contractual lease payments of our real estate portfolio.
Funds Available for Distribution - FAD
Our normalized FAD for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 increased $12,624,000 (8.6%) over the same period in 2017, due primarily to the
impact of real estate investments completed since September 2017. In addition to the adjustments included in the calculation of normalized AFFO,
normalized FAD excludes the impact of non-cash stock based compensation. Normalized FAD is an important supplemental measure of liquidity for a
REIT as a useful indicator of the ability to distribute dividends to shareholders.
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The following table reconciles net income, the most directly comparable GAAP metric, to FFO, Normalized FFO, Normalized AFFO and Normalized
FAD and is presented for both basic and diluted weighted average common shares (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Net income
Elimination of certain non-cash items in net income:
Depreciation
Gain on sale of real estate

$

40,979

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017
$

39,092

2018
$

117,251

2017
$

121,566

18,153
—

17,023
—

53,282
—

50,006
(50)

NAREIT FFO
Gain on sales of marketable securities
Loss on convertible note retirement
Debt issuance costs written-off due to credit facility modifications
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges
Non-cash write-off of straight-line rent receivable
Note receivable impairment
Recognition of unamortized note receivable commitment fees

59,132
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

56,115
—
495
407
(350)
—
—
—

170,533
—
738
—
—
1,436
413
(515)

171,522
(10,038)
591
407
(350)
—
—
(922)

Normalized FFO
Straight-line rent income, net
Amortization of lease incentives
Amortization of original issue discount
Amortization of debt issuance costs

59,132
(5,719)
108
189
625

56,667
(6,951)
69
259
635

172,605
(17,516)
240
597
1,828

161,210
(18,956)
69
840
1,828

Normalized AFFO
Non-cash stock-based compensation

54,335
337

50,679
405

157,754
2,131

144,991
2,270

Normalized FAD

BASIC
Weighted average common shares outstanding
NAREIT FFO per common share
Normalized FFO per common share
Normalized AFFO per common share
DILUTED
Weighted average common shares outstanding
NAREIT FFO per common share
Normalized FFO per common share
Normalized AFFO per common share
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$

54,672

$
$
$

42,187,077
1.40
1.40
1.29

$
$
$

42,434,499
1.39
1.39
1.28

$

51,084

$
$
$

41,108,699
1.37
1.38
1.23

$
$
$

41,448,263
1.35
1.37
1.22

$

159,885

$
$
$

41,808,017
4.08
4.13
3.77

$
$
$

41,932,736
4.07
4.12
3.76

$

147,261

$
$
$

40,681,582
4.22
3.96
3.56

$
$
$

40,937,337
4.19
3.94
3.54
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Adjusted EBITDA
We consider Adjusted EBITDA to be an important supplemental measure because it provides information which we use to evaluate our performance
and serves as an indication of our ability to service debt. We define Adjusted EBITDA as consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization, excluding real estate asset impairments and gains on dispositions and certain items which, due to their infrequent or unpredictable nature,
may create some difficulty in comparing Adjusted EBITDA for the current period to similar prior periods. These items include, but are not limited to,
impairment of non-real estate assets, gains and losses attributable to the acquisition and disposition of assets and liabilities, and recoveries of previous
write-downs. Since others may not use our definition of Adjusted EBITDA, caution should be exercised when comparing our Adjusted EBITDA to that
of other companies.
The following table reconciles net income, the most directly comparable GAAP metric, to Adjusted EBITDA:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

Net income
Interest expense
Franchise, excise and other taxes
Depreciation
Net gain on sales of real estate
Gain on sales of marketable securities
Loss on convertible note retirement
Non-cash write-off of straight-line rent receivable
Note receivable impairment
Recognition of unamortized note receivable commitment fees

$

40,979
12,374
245
18,153
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

39,092
11,746
268
17,023
—
—
495
—
—
—

$

117,251
36,207
857
53,282
—
—
738
1,436
413
(515)

$

121,566
35,139
802
50,006
(50)
(10,038)
591
—
—
(922)

Adjusted EBITDA

$

71,751

$

68,624

$

209,669

$

197,094

$

11,637
286

$

10,225
199

$

33,579
854

$

30,570
593

$

11,923

$

10,424

$

34,433

$

31,163

Interest expense at contractual rates
Principal payments
Fixed Charges
Fixed Charge Coverage

6.0x

6.6x

6.1x

For all periods presented, EBITDA has been adjusted to reflect GAAP interest expense, which excludes amounts capitalized during the period.

50

6.3x

Table of Contents
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
At September 30, 2018, we were exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on approximately $323,000,000 of variable-rate
indebtedness (excludes $250,000,000 of variable-rate debt that has been hedged through interest-rate swap contracts) and on our mortgage and other
notes receivable. The unused portion ($527,000,000 at September 30, 2018) of our revolving credit facility, should it be drawn upon, is subject to variable
rates.
Interest rate fluctuations will generally not affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed rate debt and loans receivable unless such
instruments mature or are otherwise terminated. However, interest rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed rate instruments. Conversely,
changes in interest rates on variable rate debt and investments would change our future earnings and cash flows, but not significantly affect the fair
value of those instruments. Assuming a 50 basis-point increase or decrease in the interest rate related to variable-rate debt, and assuming no change in
the outstanding balance as of September 30, 2018, net interest expense would increase or decrease annually by approximately $1,615,000 or $0.04 per
common share on a diluted basis.
We use derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business to mitigate interest rate risk. We do not use derivative financial instruments
for speculative purposes. Derivatives are included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at their fair value. We may engage in hedging
strategies to manage our exposure to market risks in the future, depending on an analysis of the interest rate environment and the costs and risks of
such strategies.
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our debt (dollar amounts in thousands):
September 30, 2018
Balance
Fixed rate:
Convertible senior notes
Unsecured term loans
HUD mortgage loans2
Fannie Mae loans

$

Variable rate:
Unsecured term loan
Unsecured revolving credit facility
$

1

% of total

December 31, 2017
Rate

3

Balance

1

% of total

Rate4

120,000
650,000
44,433
96,127

9.7%
52.7%
3.6%
7.8%

3.25% $
3.99%
4.04%
3.94%

147,575
650,000
45,047
96,367

12.7%
56.0%
3.9%
8.3%

3.25%
3.83%
4.04%
3.94%

300,000
23,000

24.3%
1.9%

3.51%
3.66%

—
221,000

—%
19.1%

NA
2.96%

1,233,560

100.0%

1,159,989

100.0%

3.61%

1

Differs from carrying amount due to unamortized discounts and loan costs.

2

Includes 10 HUD mortgages; rate is a weighted average inclusive of a mortgage insurance premium

3

Total is weighted average rate

3.80% $

The unsecured term loans in the table above reflect the effect of $40,000,000, $80,000,000, and $130,000,000 notional amount interest rate swaps with
maturities of April 2019, June 2020 and June 2020, respectively, that effectively convert variable rate debt to fixed rate debt. These loans bear interest at
LIBOR plus a spread, currently 130 basis points, based on our Leverage-Based Applicable Margin, as defined.
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To highlight the sensitivity of our convertible senior notes and secured mortgage debt to changes in interest rates, the following summary shows the
effects on fair value (“FV”) assuming a parallel shift of 50 basis points (“bps”) in market interest rates for a contract with similar maturities as of
September 30, 2018 (dollar amounts in thousands):
Fair Value1

Balance

FV reflecting change in interest rates

Fixed rate:
Private placement term loans - unsecured
Convertible senior notes
Fannie Mae loans
HUD mortgage loans
1

-50 bps
$

400,000
120,000
96,127
44,433

$

378,143
122,703
88,758
43,064

$

388,294
124,212
91,336
46,011

+50 bps
$

368,301
121,214
86,261
40,378

The change in fair value of our fixed rate debt was due primarily to the overall change in interest rates.

At September 30, 2018, the fair value of our mortgage and other notes receivable, discounted for estimated changes in the risk-free rate, was
approximately $151,202,000. A 50 basis-point increase in market rates would decrease the estimated fair value of our mortgage and other loans by
approximately $2,719,000, while a 50 basis point decrease in such rates would increase their estimated fair value by approximately $2,792,000.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Control and Procedures. As of September 30, 2018, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Accounting Officer (“CAO”), of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of management’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934) to ensure information required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms; and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our CEO and our CAO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving desired control objectives,
and management is necessarily required to apply its judgment when evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of potential controls and procedures. Based
upon the evaluation, the CEO and CAO concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
September 30, 2018.
There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of
their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in
management’s evaluation during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
Our health care facilities are subject to claims and suits in the ordinary course of business. Our lessees and borrowers have indemnified, and are
obligated to continue to indemnify us, against all liabilities arising from the operation of the facilities, and are further obligated to indemnify us against
environmental or title problems affecting the real estate underlying such facilities. While there may be lawsuits pending against certain of the owners
and/or lessees of our facilities, management believes that the ultimate resolution of all such pending proceedings will have no material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
In response to ongoing litigation with East Lake Capital Management LLC and certain related entities, including SH Regency Leasing LLC
(“Regency”) described more fully in Note 6, we filed suit in state courts in Indiana (Case No. 49D14-1810-PL-042742, Marion Superior Court, Civil
Division 14), North Carolina (Case No. 18CVM 26763, The General Court of Justice District Court Division, Mecklenburg County) and Tennessee (Case
No.18-1162-II, Chancery Court for Davidson County, Nashville Division). On October 23, 2018, we entered motions calling for the immediate appointment
of a receiver and for pre-judgment possession, hearing, and bond. The motions alleged, among other things, that the tenant had failed to meet the
required coverage ratio under the lease, had failed to make any curative shortfall deposits, and had failed to provide documents, reports and other
information required under the lease. A hearing on these and counter-party motions is set for mid-November.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, there were no material changes to the risk factors that were disclosed in Item 1A of National
Health Investors, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, except for the addition of the risk factor that is stated as
follows:
Legislative, regulatory, or administrative changes could adversely affect us or our security holders.
The tax laws or regulations governing REITs or the administrative interpretations thereof may be amended at any time. We cannot predict if or when
any new or amended law, regulation, or administrative interpretation will be adopted, promulgated, or become effective, and any such change may apply
retroactively. We and our security holders may be adversely affected by any new or amended law, regulation, or administrative interpretation.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act makes significant changes to the U.S. federal income tax
rules related to the taxation of individuals and corporations, generally effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017. In addition to
reducing corporate and non-corporate tax rates, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act eliminates and restricts various deductions and limits the ability to utilize net
operating losses. Most of the changes applicable to individuals are temporary and apply only to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, and
before January 1, 2026. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act makes numerous large and small changes to the tax rules that do not affect REITs directly but may
affect our security holders and may indirectly affect us.
Prospective investors are urged to consult with their tax advisors with respect to the status of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and any other regulatory or
administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on investment in our securities.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit No.
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
4.1
4.2
4.3
10.1
31.1
31.2
32
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

Description
Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form S-11 Registration Statement No. 33-41863, filed in paper hyperlink is not required pursuant to Rule 105 of Regulation S-T)
Amendment to Articles of Incorporation
Amendment to Articles of Incorporation approved by shareholders on May 2, 2014
Restated Bylaws
Amendment No. 1 to Restated Bylaws dated February 14, 2014
Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 39 to Form S-11 Registration Statement No. 33-41863, filed in
paper - hyperlink is not required pursuant to Rule 105 of Regulation S-T)
Indenture, dated as of March 25, 2014, between National Health Investors, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., as Trustee
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 25, 2014, to the Indenture, dated as of March 25, 2014, between National Health
Investors, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee
Credit Agreement dated as of September 17, 2018, by and among National Health Investors, Inc. the Lenders party thereto, and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
(Registrant)

Date:

November 5, 2018

/s/ D. Eric Mendelsohn
D. Eric Mendelsohn
President and Chief Executive Officer
(duly authorized officer)

Date:

November 5, 2018

/s/ Roger R. Hopkins
Roger R. Hopkins
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Dated as of September 17, 2018
by and among
NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.,
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KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
and
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and
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as Co-Documentation Agents
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and
WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC,
as Sole Bookrunner
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THIS TERM LOAN AGREEMENT (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this
“Agreement”) dated as of September 17, 2018 by and among NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC., a corporation formed under
the laws of the State of Maryland (the “Borrower”), each of the financial institutions initially a signatory hereto together with their
successors and assignees under Section 12.5., WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent,
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION and REGIONS BANK, as Co-Syndication Agents
(collectively, the “Syndication Agents”) and BANK OF MONTREAL, CAPITAL ONE, N.A., GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA and
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Co-Documentation Agents (collectively, the “Documentation Agents”).
WHEREAS, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders desire to make available to the Borrower a senior credit facility in the
initial amount of $300,000,000, on the terms and conditions contained herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the
parties hereto, the parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I.Definitions

Section 1.1.Definitions.
In addition to terms defined elsewhere herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings for the purposes of this

Agreement:
“Accession Agreement” means an Accession Agreement substantially in the form of Annex I to the Guaranty.
“Additional Costs” has the meaning given that term in Section 4.1.(b).
“Additional Covenant” means any affirmative or negative covenant or similar restriction applicable to the Borrower or any
Subsidiary (regardless of whether such provision is labeled or otherwise characterized as a covenant) the subject matter of which is either
(a) similar to that of any covenant contained in Article VII. or Article IX., but contains one or more percentages, amounts or formulas that
is more restrictive than those set forth herein or more beneficial to the holder or holders of the Indebtedness created or evidenced by the
document in which such covenant or similar restriction is contained (and such covenant or similar restriction shall be deemed an Additional
Covenant only to the extent that it is more restrictive or more beneficial) or (b) different from the subject matter of any covenant in
Article VII. or Article IX.
“Additional Default” means any provision contained in any document or instrument creating or evidencing Indebtedness of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary which permits the holder or holders of Indebtedness to accelerate (with the passage of time or giving of notice
or both) the maturity thereof or otherwise requires the Borrower or any Subsidiary to purchase such Indebtedness prior to the stated
maturity thereof and which is either (a) similar to any Default or Event of Default contained in Article X., but contains one or more
percentages, amounts or formulas that is more restrictive or has a shorter grace period than those set forth herein or is more beneficial to
the holders of such other Indebtedness (and such provision shall be deemed an Additional Default only to the extent that it is more
restrictive, has a shorter grace period or is more beneficial) or (b) different from the subject matter of any Default or Event of Default
contained in Article X.
“Additional Lender” means a Lender (whether a then existing Lender or a new Lender) that agrees to make an Additional
Term Loan Advance pursuant to Section 2.16.(c). From and after the making of its Additional Term Loan Advance, an Additional Lender
shall be a Lender for all purposes hereunder.
“Additional Term Loan Advance” means an advance made by an Additional Lender pursuant to Section 2.16.(c). From and
after the making of an Additional Term Loan Advance, such Additional Term Loan Advance shall comprise a portion of the Term Loan.
“Adjusted Total Asset Value” means Total Asset Value determined exclusive of assets that are owned by Excluded
Subsidiaries or Unconsolidated Affiliates.
“Administrative Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, including its branches and affiliates, as contractual
representative of the Lenders under this Agreement, or any successor Administrative Agent appointed pursuant to Section 11.8.
“Administrative Questionnaire” means the Administrative Questionnaire completed by each Lender and delivered to the
Administrative Agent in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent to the Lenders from time to time.
“Affected Controlled Property” has the meaning given that term in the definition of “Controlled Property”.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. Unless explicitly set forth to the
contrary, a reference to an “Affiliate” means an Affiliate of the Borrower.
“Agreement” has the meaning given to that term in the introductory paragraph hereof.
“Agreement Date” means the date as of which this Agreement is dated.
“AIG Purchase Agreement” means that certain Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2015, by and among the
Borrower, as the issuer, and the purchasers of the notes named therein, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Note Purchase
Agreement dated August 15, 2016, by and among the Borrower and the purchasers named therein, as further amended by that certain
Second Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 2016, by and among the Borrower and the purchasers named
therein, as supplemented by that certain Supplement to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 30, 2016, by and among the
Borrower and the purchasers named therein, and as further amended prior to the date hereof.
“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all Applicable Laws of any jurisdiction concerning or relating to bribery or corruption, including
without limitation, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.
“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means any and all Applicable Laws related to the financing of terrorism or money laundering,
including without limitation, any applicable provision of the Patriot Act and The Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act (also
known as the “Bank Secrecy Act,” 31 U.S.C. §§ 5311-5330 and 12 U.S.C. §§ 1818(s), 1820(b) and 1951-1959).
“Applicable Law” means all international, foreign, federal, state and local statutes, treaties, rules, guidelines, regulations,
ordinances, codes, executive orders, and administrative or judicial precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration

thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, and all applicable
administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, authorizations and permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority,
in each case whether or not having the force of law.
“Applicable Margin” means: (i) at any time prior to the Investment Grade Pricing Effective Date, the Leverage-Based
Applicable Margin applicable thereto in effect at such time and (ii) at any time on and after the Investment Grade Pricing Effective Date,
the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin applicable thereto in effect at such time.
“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender, or (c) an entity
or an Affiliate of any entity that administers or manages a Lender.
“Arrangers” means, collectively, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, MLPF&S, KCM and RCM.
“Assignment and Assumption” means an Assignment and Assumption entered into by a Lender and an Eligible Assignee (with
the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 12.5.), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in substantially the form
of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent.
“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable EEA Resolution Authority in
respect of any liability of an EEA Financial Institution.
“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of
the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from time to
time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.
“Bank of America” means Bank of America, N.A., and its successors and assigns.
“Bankruptcy Code” means the Bankruptcy Code of 1978.
“Base Rate” means, at any time, the highest of (a) the Prime Rate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50% and (c) the LIBOR
Market Index Rate plus 1.0% (subject to the interest rate floors set forth in the definition of LIBOR); each change in the Base Rate shall
take effect simultaneously with the corresponding change or changes in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or the LIBOR Market
Index Rate (provided that clause (c) shall not be applicable during any period in which LIBOR is unavailable or unascertainable).
“Base Rate Loan” means a Term Loan (or any portion thereof) bearing interest at a rate based on the Base Rate.
“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required by the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation.
“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.
“Benefit Arrangement” means at any time an employee benefit plan within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA which is not
a Plan or a Multiemployer Plan and which is maintained or otherwise contributed to by any member of the ERISA Group.
“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) that is subject to Title I of
ERISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of
ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code) the assets of any such
“employee benefit plan” or “plan”.
“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof and shall include the Borrower’s successors and
permitted assigns.
“Borrower Information” has the meaning given that term in Section 2.5.(c).
“Business Day” means (a) for all purposes other than as set forth in clause (b) below, any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or
legal holiday) on which banks in Charlotte, North Carolina and New York, New York, are open for the conduct of their commercial
banking business, and (b) with respect to all notices and determinations in connection with, and payments of principal and interest on, any
LIBOR Loan, or any Base Rate Loan as to which the interest rate is determined by reference to LIBOR, any day that is a Business Day
described in clause (a) and that is also a day for trading by and between banks in Dollar deposits in the London interbank market. Unless
specifically referenced in this Agreement as a Business Day, all references to “days” shall be to calendar days.
“Capitalization Rate” means (a) 10% for hospitals, (b) 10% for Government Reimbursed Properties and (c) 8% for NonGovernment Reimbursed Properties.
“Capitalized Lease Obligations” means obligations under a lease (or other arrangement conveying the right to use property) to
pay rent or other amounts that are required to be capitalized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. The amount of a

Capitalized Lease Obligation is the capitalized amount of such obligation as would be required to be reflected on a balance sheet of the
applicable Person prepared in accordance with GAAP as of the applicable date.
“Cash Equivalents” means: (a) securities issued, guaranteed or insured by the United States of America or any of its agencies
with maturities of not more than one year from the date acquired; (b) certificates of deposit with maturities of not more than one year
from the date acquired issued by a United States federal or state chartered commercial bank of recognized standing, or a commercial
bank organized under the laws of any other country which is a member of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development,
or a political subdivision of any such country, acting through a branch or agency, which bank has capital and unimpaired surplus in excess
of $500,000,000 and which bank or its holding company has a short-term commercial paper rating of at least A-2 or the equivalent by S&P
or at least P-2 or the equivalent by Moody’s; (c) reverse repurchase agreements with terms of not more than seven days from the date
acquired, for securities of the type described in clause (a) above and entered into only with commercial banks having the qualifications
described in clause (b) above; (d) commercial paper issued by any Person incorporated under the laws of the United States of America or
any State thereof and rated at least A-2 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or at least P-2 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s, in each
case with maturities of not more than one year from the date acquired; and (e) investments in money market funds registered under the
Investment Company Act of 1940 which have net assets of at least $500,000,000 and at least 85% of whose assets consist of securities
and other obligations of the type described in clauses (a) through (d) above.
“Cash Management Agreement” means any agreement to provide cash management services, including treasury, depository,
overdraft, credit or debit card (including non-card electronic payables and purchasing cards), electronic funds transfer and other cash
management arrangements.
“Commitment” means, as to a Lender, such Lender’s Term Loan Commitment.
“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.
“Compliance Certificate” has the meaning given that term in Section 8.3.
“Connection Income Taxes” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however
denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.
“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any given period, the EBITDA of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined on a
consolidated basis for such period.
“Continue”, “Continuation” and “Continued” each refers to the continuation of a LIBOR Loan from one Interest Period to
another Interest Period pursuant to Section 2.9.
“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies
of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings
correlative thereto.
“Controlled Property” means a Property that satisfies clauses (a) and (c) through (g) of the definition of Eligible Property and is
owned in fee simple (or leased under a Ground Lease) by a Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower and with
respect to which the Borrower or such Subsidiary has the right to take the following actions without the need to obtain the consent of any
Person (other than (i) the Requisite Lenders if required pursuant to the Loan Documents or (ii) the holder of any minority interest in such
Subsidiary pursuant to reasonable and customary restrictions on transfer, mortgage liens or pledges arising under any documents governing
such Subsidiary and existing at the time of formation or acquisition of such Subsidiary): (A) to create Liens on such Property as security
for Indebtedness of the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable and (B) to sell, convey, transfer or otherwise dispose of such Property.
Any Controlled Property subject to minority interest holder rights of the type described in clause (ii) above shall be an “Affected
Controlled Property”.
“Convert”, “Conversion” and “Converted” each refers to the conversion of a Loan of one Type into a Loan of another Type
pursuant to Section 2.10.
“Credit Event” means any of the following: (a) the making (or deemed making) of any Loan, (b) the Conversion of a Base Rate
Loan into a LIBOR Loan and (c) the Continuation of a LIBOR Loan.
“Credit Rating” means, with respect to any Person, the rating assigned by a Rating Agency to the senior, unsecured, non-credit
enhanced long term Indebtedness of such Person.
“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code, and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the
benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar Applicable Laws relating to the relief
of debtors in the United States of America or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect.
“Default” means any of the events specified in Section 10.1., whether or not there has been satisfied any requirement for the
giving of notice, the lapse of time, or both.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 3.9.(f), any Lender that (a) has failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans
within 2 Business Days of the date such Loans were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Administrative
Agent and the Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination that one or more conditions precedent to
funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not
been satisfied, or (ii) pay to the Administrative Agent or any Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within 2
Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the Borrower or the Administrative Agent in writing that it does not intend to comply
with its funding obligations hereunder, or has made a public statement to that effect (unless such writing or public statement relates to such
Lender’s obligation to fund a Loan hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition
precedent to funding (which condition precedent, together with any applicable default, shall be specifically identified in such writing or
public statement) cannot be satisfied), or (c) has, or has a direct or indirect parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a
proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law, (ii) had appointed for it a receiver, custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for
the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets, including the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or any other state or federal regulatory authority acting in such a capacity or (iii) become the subject of a Bail-In
Action; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any Equity Interest in
that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental Authority so long as such ownership interest does not
result in or provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States of America or from the
enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental Authority) to reject,
repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that
a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under any one or more of clauses (a) through (d) above shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest
error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject to Section 3.9.(f)) upon delivery of written notice of such
determination to the Borrower and each Lender.
“Derivatives Contract” means (a) any transaction (including any master agreement, confirmation or other agreement with
respect to any such transaction) now existing or hereafter entered into by the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any Unconsolidated
Affiliate (i) which is a rate swap transaction, swap option, basis swap, forward rate transaction, commodity swap, commodity option,
equity or equity index swap, equity or equity index option, bond option, interest rate option, foreign exchange transaction, cap transaction,
floor transaction, collar transaction, currency swap transaction, cross-currency rate swap transaction, currency option, credit protection
transaction, credit swap, credit default swap, credit default option, total return swap, credit spread transaction, repurchase transaction,
reverse repurchase transaction, buy/sell-back transaction, securities lending transaction, weather index transaction or forward purchase or
sale of a security, commodity or other financial instrument or interest (including any option with respect to any of these transactions) or
(ii) which is a type of transaction that is similar to any transaction referred to in clause (i) above that is currently, or in the future becomes,
recurrently entered into in the financial markets (including terms and conditions incorporated by reference in such agreement) and which is
a forward, swap, future, option or other derivative on one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity securities or other equity
instruments, debt securities or other debt instruments, economic indices or measures of economic risk or value, or other benchmarks
against which payments or deliveries are to be made, (b) any combination of these transactions and (c) a “swap agreement” as defined in
Section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code of 1978.
“Derivatives Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Derivatives Contracts, after taking into account the
effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement or provision relating thereto, (a) for any date on or after the date such Derivatives
Contracts have been terminated or closed out, the termination amount or value determined in accordance therewith, and (b) for any date
prior to the date such Derivatives Contracts have been terminated or closed out, the then-current mark-to-market value for such
Derivatives Contracts, determined based upon one or more mid-market quotations or estimates provided by any recognized dealer in
Derivatives Contracts (which may include the Administrative Agent, any Lender, any Specified Derivatives Provider or any Affiliate of
any of them).
“Development Property” means a Property currently under construction or development (other than a Property under
renovation) on which the improvements related to the construction or development have not been completed such that occupancy is not
viable. The term “Development Property” shall include real property of the type described in the immediately preceding sentence that
satisfies both of the following conditions: (i) it is to be (but has not yet been) acquired by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any
Unconsolidated Affiliate upon completion of construction pursuant to a contract in which the seller of such real property is required to
develop or renovate prior to, and as a condition precedent to, such acquisition and (ii) a third party is developing such property using the
proceeds of a loan that is Guaranteed by, or is otherwise recourse to, the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any Unconsolidated Affiliate.
“Disbursement Instruction Agreement” means an agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit B to be executed and
delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.1.(a), as the same may be amended, restated or modified from time to time with the prior
written approval of the Administrative Agent.
“Documentation Agents” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.
“Dollars” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States of America.
“EBITDA” means, with respect to a Person for any period and without duplication: (a) net income (loss) of such Person for such
period determined on a consolidated basis excluding the following (but only to the extent included in determining net income (loss) for such

period): (i) depreciation and amortization; (ii) interest expense; (iii) income and franchise tax expense; (iv) extraordinary or nonrecurring
items, including without limitation, gains and losses from the sale of operating Properties and any non-recurring charges in connection with
any acquisition or Investment in an aggregate amount not to exceed $5,000,000 for such period; and (v) equity in net income (loss) of its
Unconsolidated Affiliates; plus (b) such Person’s Ownership Share of EBITDA of its Unconsolidated Affiliates. For purposes of this
definition, nonrecurring items shall be deemed to include (x) gains and losses on early extinguishment of Indebtedness, (y) non-cash
severance and other non-cash restructuring charges and (z) transaction costs of acquisitions not permitted to be capitalized pursuant to
GAAP.
“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which
is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of
an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a
subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.
“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.
“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with public administrative
authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.
“Effective Date” means the date on which all of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 5.1. shall have been fulfilled or
waived by all of the Lenders.
“Eligible Assignee” means any Person that meets the requirements to be an assignee under Section 12.5.(b)(iii), (v) and (vi)
(subject to such consents, if any, as may be required under Section 12.5.(b)(iii)).
“Eligible Property” means a Property which satisfies all of the following requirements: (a) such Property is a Healthcare
Facility located in a State of the United States or in the District of Columbia, in the United Kingdom, in Australia or in Canada; (b) such
Property is owned in fee simple, or is leased pursuant to a Ground Lease, by the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the
Borrower or is a Controlled Property; provided that (i) if such Property is leased by the Borrower or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the
Borrower pursuant to a Ground Lease, (ii) the lessor’s interest in such Property is subject to a mortgage and (iii) such Ground Lease is
subordinate to such mortgage, then the mortgagee shall have executed a customary non-disturbance agreement with respect to the rights
of the Borrower or such Subsidiary under the Ground Lease; (c) neither such Property, nor any interest of the Borrower, any Subsidiary
or any Unconsolidated Affiliate therein (and if such Property is owned by a Subsidiary or Unconsolidated Affiliate, none of the
Borrower’s direct or indirect ownership interests in such Subsidiary or Unconsolidated Affiliate) is subject to any Lien other than
Permitted Liens (except for the Permitted Liens described in clause (h) of the definition of Permitted Liens) or subject to any Negative
Pledge; (d) such Property is free of all structural defects or major architectural deficiencies, title defects, environmental conditions or other
adverse matters except for defects, deficiencies, conditions or other matters individually or collectively which are not material to the
profitable operation of such Property or which after the application of any available insurance proceeds are not material to the profitable
operation of such Property; (e) such Property is leased to a tenant that is not an Affiliate of the Borrower, and such tenant is not
delinquent sixty (60) days or more in rent payments; (f) such Property either is occupied or is available to be occupied; and (g) the
operator with respect to such Property is not an Affiliate of the Borrower and has all necessary material qualifications from any applicable
Governmental Authority to the extent required pursuant to the applicable Facility Lease with respect to such Property.
“Eligible Property Subsidiary” means (i) each Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower that owns or leases pursuant to a
Ground Lease, directly or indirectly, any Eligible Property and (ii) each Subsidiary of the Borrower that owns, directly or indirectly, any
Equity Interests in any Subsidiary that is described in clause (i).
“Environmental Claims” means any and all administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims,
liens, accusations, allegations, notices of noncompliance or violation, investigations (other than internal reports prepared by any Person in
the ordinary course of business and not in response to any third party action or request of any kind) or proceedings relating in any way to
any actual or alleged violation of or liability under any Environmental Law or relating to any permit issued, or any approval given, under
any such Environmental Law, including, without limitation, any and all claims by Governmental Authorities for enforcement, cleanup,
removal, response, remedial or other actions or damages, contribution, indemnification cost recovery, compensation or injunctive relief
resulting from Hazardous Materials or arising from alleged injury or threat of injury to human health or the environment.
“Environmental Laws” means any Applicable Law relating to environmental protection or the manufacture, storage,
remediation, disposal or clean-up of Hazardous Materials including, without limitation, the following: Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et
seq.; Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.; Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.; Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42
U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.; National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.; regulations of the Environmental Protection Agency,
any applicable rule of common law and any judicial interpretation thereof relating primarily to the environment or Hazardous Materials, and
any analogous or comparable state or local laws, regulations or ordinances that concern Hazardous Materials or protection of the
environment.
“Equity Interest” means, with respect to any Person, any share of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in)

such Person, any warrant, option or other right for the purchase or other acquisition from such Person of any share of capital stock of (or
other ownership or profit interests in) such Person, whether or not certificated, any security convertible into or exchangeable for any share
of capital stock of (or other ownership or profit interests in) such Person or warrant, right or option for the purchase or other acquisition
from such Person of such shares (or such other interests), and any other ownership or profit interest in such Person (including, without
limitation, partnership, member or trust interests therein), whether voting or nonvoting, and whether or not such share, warrant, option, right
or other interest is authorized or otherwise existing on any date of determination.
“Equity Issuance” means any issuance or sale by a Person of any Equity Interest in such Person and shall in any event include
the issuance of any Equity Interest upon the conversion or exchange of any security constituting Indebtedness that is convertible or
exchangeable, or is being converted or exchanged, for Equity Interests.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as in effect from time to time.
“ERISA Event” means, with respect to the ERISA Group, (a) any “reportable event” as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA with
respect to a Plan; (b) the withdrawal of a member of the ERISA Group from a Plan subject to Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year
in which it was a “substantial employer” as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA or a cessation of operations that is treated as such a
withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) the incurrence by a member of the ERISA Group of any liability with respect to the
withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Multiemployer Plan; (d) the incurrence by any member of the ERISA Group of any liability
under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; (e) the institution of proceedings to terminate
a Plan or Multiemployer Plan by the PBGC; (f) the failure by any member of the ERISA Group to make when due required contributions
to a Multiemployer Plan or Plan unless such failure is cured within 30 days or the filing pursuant to Section 412(c) of the Internal Revenue
Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard; (g) any other event or condition that
might reasonably be expected to constitute grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to
administer, any Plan or Multiemployer Plan or the imposition of liability under Section 4069 or 4212(c) of ERISA; (h) the receipt by any
member of the ERISA Group of any notice or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from any member of the ERISA Group of any
notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent
(within the meaning of Section 4245 of ERISA), in reorganization (within the meaning of Section 4241 of ERISA), or in “critical” status
(within the meaning of Section 432 of the Internal Revenue Code or Section 305 of ERISA); (i) the imposition of any liability under
Title IV of ERISA, other than for PBGC premiums due but not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon any member of the ERISA
Group or the imposition of any Lien in favor of the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA; or (j) a determination that a Plan is, or is reasonably
expected to be, in “at risk” status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Internal Revenue Code or Section 303 of ERISA).
“ERISA Group” means the Borrower, any Subsidiary and all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or
businesses (whether or not incorporated) under common control, which, together with the Borrower or any Subsidiary, are treated as a
single employer under Section 414 of the Internal Revenue Code.
“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or
any successor person), as in effect from time to time.
“Eurodollar Reserve Percentage” means, for any day, the percentage which is in effect for such day as prescribed by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including,
without limitation, any basic, supplemental or emergency reserves) in respect of eurocurrency liabilities or any similar category of liabilities
for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City.
“Event of Default” means any of the events specified in Section 10.1., provided that any requirement for notice or lapse of time
or any other condition has been satisfied.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
“Excluded Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary (other than an Eligible Property Subsidiary) (a) holding title to assets that are or
are to become collateral for any Secured Indebtedness of such Subsidiary and (b) that is prohibited from Guarantying the Indebtedness of
any other Person pursuant to (i) any document, instrument or agreement evidencing such Secured Indebtedness or (ii) a provision of such
Subsidiary’s organizational documents which provision was included in such Subsidiary’s organizational documents as a condition to the
extension of such Secured Indebtedness.
“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Loan Party, any Swap Obligation if, and to the extent that, all or a
portion of the liability of such Loan Party for or the Guarantee of such Loan Party of, or the grant by such Loan Party of a Lien to secure,
such Swap Obligation (or any liability or guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal under the Commodity Exchange Act or any rule,
regulation or order of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of
such Loan Party’s failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible contract participant” as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act and
the regulations thereunder at the time the liability for or the Guarantee of such Loan Party or the grant of such Lien becomes effective
with respect to such Swap Obligation (such determination being made after giving effect to any applicable keepwell, support or other
agreement for the benefit of the applicable Loan Party, including under any applicable provision of the Guaranty). If a Swap Obligation
arises under a master agreement governing more than one swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the portion of such Swap Obligation

that is attributable to swaps for which such Guarantee or Lien is or becomes illegal for the reasons identified in the immediately preceding
sentence of this definition.
“Excluded Taxes” means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient or required to be withheld or
deducted from a payment to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and
branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal
office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable Lending Office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision
thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable
to or for the account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a Loan or Commitment pursuant to an Applicable Law in
effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Loan or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment
request by the Borrower under Section 4.6.) or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant
to Section 3.10., amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such Lender
became a party hereto or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient’s failure
to comply with Section 3.10.(g) and (d) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.
“Facility Lease” means a lease or sublease (including any master lease) with respect to any Property owned or ground leased by
any of the Borrower or one of its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries as lessor, to a third party tenant, which is a triple-net lease such that such
tenant is required to pay all taxes, utilities, insurance (including casualty insurance), maintenance and other customary expenses with
respect to the subject Property (whether in the form of reimbursements, additional rent or otherwise) in addition to the base rental
payments required thereunder such that net operating income to the Borrower or such Wholly Owned Subsidiary for such Property
(before non-cash items) equals the base rent paid thereunder.
“Fair Market Value” means, (a) with respect to a security listed on a national securities exchange or the NASDAQ National
Market, the price of such security as reported on such exchange or market by any widely recognized reporting method customarily relied
upon by financial institutions and (b) with respect to any other property, the price which could be negotiated in an arm’s-length free market
transaction, for cash, between a willing seller and a willing buyer, neither of which is under pressure or compulsion to complete the
transaction. Except as otherwise provided herein, Fair Market Value shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Borrower (or
an authorized committee thereof) acting in good faith conclusively evidenced by a board resolution thereof delivered to the Administrative
Agent or, with respect to any asset valued at no more than $3,000,000, such determination may be made by the chief accounting officer of
the Borrower evidenced by an officer’s certificate delivered to the Administrative Agent.
“FASB ASC” means the Accounting Standards Codification of the Financial Accounting Standards Board.
“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended
or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with) and any current or future
regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code.
“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any period, a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal for each day during such period to the
weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System, as published for
such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the immediately preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
or, if such rate is not so published for any day which is a Business Day, the average of the quotations for such day on such transactions
received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal Funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Administrative Agent. If
the Federal Funds Rate determined as provided above would be less than zero, the Federal Funds Rate shall be deemed to be zero.
“Fee Letters” means, collectively, (i) that certain fee letter dated as of July 31, 2018, by and among the Borrower, Wells Fargo
Securities, LLC and the Administrative Agent (the “Wells Fargo Fee Letter”) and (ii) that certain fee letter dated as of July 31, 2018,
by and among the Borrower, Bank of America, MLPF&S, KeyBank, KCM, Regions Bank and RCM.
“Fees” means the fees and commissions provided for or referred to in Section 3.5. and any other fees payable by the Borrower
hereunder or under any other Loan Document.
“Fitch” means Fitch Ratings, Inc. and its successors.
“Fixed Charges” means, with respect to a Person and for a given period: (a) the Interest Expense of such Person for such
period, plus (b) the aggregate of all regularly scheduled principal payments on Indebtedness payable by such Person during such period
(excluding balloon, bullet or similar payments of principal due upon the stated maturity of Indebtedness), plus (c) the aggregate amount of
all Preferred Dividends paid by such Person during such period. The Borrower’s Ownership Share of the Fixed Charges of its
Unconsolidated Affiliates will be included when determining the Fixed Charges of the Borrower.
“Foreign Lender” means (a) if the Borrower is a U.S. Person, a Lender that is not a U.S. Person, and (b) if the Borrower is not
a U.S. Person, a Lender that is resident or organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is resident for
tax purposes.
“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise

investing in commercial loans, bonds and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its activities.
“Funds From Operations” means, with respect to a Person and for a given period, (a) net income (loss) of such Person for
such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP minus (or plus) (b) gains (or losses) from debt restructuring and
sales of property during such period plus (c) depreciation with respect to such Person’s real estate assets and amortization (other than
amortization of deferred financing costs) of such Person for such period, all after adjustment for Unconsolidated Affiliates. Adjustments
for Unconsolidated Affiliates will be calculated to reflect Funds From Operations on the same basis. For purposes of this Agreement and
the other Loan Documents, Funds From Operations shall be calculated consistent with the White Paper on Funds From Operations dated
April 2002 issued by National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, Inc., but without giving effect to any supplements,
amendments or other modifications promulgated after the Agreement Date.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America set forth in the opinions and
pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (including Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 168, “The
FASB Accounting Standards Codification”) or in such other statements by such other entity as may be approved by a significant segment
of the accounting profession in the United States of America, which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination.
“Government Reimbursed Properties” means Healthcare Facilities (other than a hospital) in respect of which 51% or more
of revenues are generated from reimbursements under Medicare, Medicaid and other government programs for payment of services
rendered by healthcare providers.
“Governmental Approvals” means all authorizations, consents, approvals, licenses and exemptions of, registrations and filings
with, and reports to, all Governmental Authorities.
“Governmental Authority” means any national, state or local government (whether domestic or foreign), any political
subdivision thereof or any other governmental, quasi-governmental, judicial, administrative, public or statutory instrumentality, authority,
body, agency, bureau, commission, board, department or other entity (including, without limitation, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the Comptroller of the Currency or the Federal Reserve Board, any central bank or any comparable authority) exercising
executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supranational bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank), or any arbitrator with authority to bind a party at law.
“Ground Lease” means a ground lease containing terms and conditions customarily required by mortgagees making a loan
secured by the interest of the holder of the leasehold estate demised pursuant to a ground lease, including without limitation, the following:
(a) a remaining term (exclusive of any unexercised extension options) of 35 years or more from the Agreement Date; (b) the right of the
lessee to mortgage and encumber its interest in the leased property, and to amend the terms of any such mortgage or encumbrance, in
each case, without the consent of the lessor; (c) the obligation of the lessor to give the holder of any mortgage Lien on such leased
property written notice of any defaults on the part of the lessee and agreement of such lessor that such lease will not be terminated until
such holder has had a reasonable opportunity to cure or complete foreclosures, and fails to do so; (d) acceptable transferability of the
lessee’s interest under such lease, including ability to sublease; (e) acceptable limitations on the use of the leased property; and (f) clearly
determinable rental payment terms which in no event contain profit participation rights.
“Guaranteed Obligations” means, collectively, (a) the Obligations and (b) all existing or future payment and other obligations
owing by any Loan Party under any Specified Derivatives Contract (other than any Excluded Swap Obligation) and any Specified Cash
Management Agreement.
“Guarantor” means any Person that is party to the Guaranty as a “Guarantor” and shall in any event include each Unsecured
Indebtedness Subsidiary and, before the Investment Grade Release, each Subsidiary Guarantor (unless an Excluded Subsidiary).
“Guaranty”, “Guaranteed” or to “Guarantee” as applied to any obligation means and includes: (a) a guaranty (other than by
endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business), directly or indirectly, in any manner, of any part or
all of such obligation, or (b) an agreement, direct or indirect, contingent or otherwise, and whether or not constituting a guaranty, the
practical effect of which is to assure the payment or performance (or payment of damages in the event of nonperformance) of any part or
all of such obligation whether by: (i) the purchase of securities or obligations, (ii) the purchase, sale or lease (as lessee or lessor) of
property or the purchase or sale of services primarily for the purpose of enabling the obligor with respect to such obligation to make any
payment or performance (or payment of damages in the event of nonperformance) of or on account of any part or all of such obligation,
or to assure the owner of such obligation against loss, (iii) the supplying of funds to or in any other manner investing in the obligor with
respect to such obligation, (iv) repayment of amounts drawn down by beneficiaries of letters of credit, or (v) the supplying of funds to or
investing in a Person on account of all or any part of such Person’s obligation under a Guaranty of any obligation or indemnifying or
holding harmless, in any way, such Person against any part or all of such obligation. As the context requires, “Guaranty” shall also mean
the guaranty executed and delivered pursuant to Section 5.1.(a) or 7.13. and substantially in the form of Exhibit C.
“Guaranty Requirement” has the meaning given that term in Section 7.13.(c).
“Hazardous Materials” means all or any of the following: (a) substances that are defined or listed in, or otherwise classified

pursuant to, any applicable Environmental Laws as “hazardous substances”, “hazardous materials”, “hazardous wastes”, “toxic
substances” or any other formulation intended to define, list or classify substances by reason of deleterious properties such as ignitability,
corrosivity, reactivity, carcinogenicity, reproductive toxicity, “TCLP” toxicity, or “EP toxicity”; (b) oil, petroleum or petroleum derived
substances, natural gas, natural gas liquids or synthetic gas and drilling fluids, produced waters and other wastes associated with the
exploration, development or production of crude oil, natural gas or geothermal resources; (c) any flammable substances or explosives or
any radioactive materials; (d) asbestos in any form; (e) toxic mold; and (f) electrical equipment which contains any oil or dielectric fluid
containing levels of polychlorinated biphenyls in excess of fifty parts per million.
“Healthcare Facility” means any skilled nursing facilities, hospitals, long term acute care facilities, inpatient rehabilitation facility,
medical office buildings, assisted living facilities, independent living facilities or memory care or other personal care facilities and ancillary
businesses that are supplemental or incidental to the foregoing.
“HUD” has the meaning given that term in the definition of “Material Facility”.
“ICE” has the meaning given that term in the definition of “LIBOR”.
“Incremental Facility” has the meaning given that term in Section 2.16.(a).
“Incremental Facility Amendment” has the meaning given that term in Section 2.16.(d).
“Incremental Term Loans” has the meaning given that term in Section 2.16.(a).
“Indebtedness” means, with respect to a Person, at the time of computation thereof, all of the following (without duplication):
(a) all obligations of such Person in respect of money borrowed or for the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than
trade debt incurred in the ordinary course of business and not more than ninety (90) days past due); (b) all obligations of such Person,
whether or not for money borrowed (i) represented by notes payable, or drafts accepted, in each case representing extensions of credit,
(ii) evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, or (iii) constituting purchase money indebtedness, conditional sales
contracts, title retention debt instruments or other similar instruments, upon which interest charges are customarily paid or that are issued
or assumed as full or partial payment for property or for services rendered; (c) Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person; (d) all
reimbursement obligations (contingent or otherwise) of such Person under or in respect of any letters of credit or acceptances (whether or
not the same have been presented for payment); (e) all Off-Balance Sheet Obligations of such Person; (f) all obligations of such Person to
purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any payment in respect of any Mandatorily Redeemable Stock issued by such
Person or any other Person, valued at the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid dividends;
(g) net obligations under any Derivatives Contract not entered into as a hedge against interest rate risk in respect of existing Indebtedness,
in an amount equal to the Derivatives Termination Value thereof at such time (but in no event less than zero); (h) all Indebtedness of other
Persons which such Person has Guaranteed or is otherwise recourse to such Person (except for guaranties of customary exceptions for
fraud, misapplication of funds, environmental indemnities, voluntary bankruptcy, collusive involuntary bankruptcy and other similar
customary exceptions to non-recourse liability); and (i) all Indebtedness of another Person secured by (or for which the holder of such
Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property or assets owned by such Person, even
though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness or other payment obligation. Indebtedness of
a Person shall include Indebtedness of any other Person to the extent such Indebtedness is recourse to such first Person. All Loans shall
constitute Indebtedness of the Borrower.
“Indemnifiable Amounts” has the meaning given that term in Section 11.6.
“Indemnified Party” has the meaning given that term in Section 12.9.(a).
“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on
account of any obligation of the Borrower or any other Loan Party under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise
described in the immediately preceding clause (a), Other Taxes.
“Information” has the meaning given that term in Section 12.8.
“Information Materials” has the meaning given that term in Section 8.6.
“Intellectual Property” has the meaning given that term in Section 6.1.(r).
“Interest Expense” means, with respect to a Person and for any period, without duplication, total interest expense of such
Person (excluding unamortized debt issuance costs which may be capitalized as transaction costs in accordance with GAAP), including,
without limitation, capitalized interest not funded under a construction loan interest reserve account, determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP for such period. The Borrower’s Ownership Share of the Interest Expense of its Unconsolidated Affiliates will
be included when determining the Interest Expense of the Borrower.
“Interest Period” means, with respect to each LIBOR Loan, each period commencing on the date such LIBOR Loan is made,
or in the case of the Continuation of a LIBOR Loan the last day of the preceding Interest Period for such Loan, and ending on the

numerically corresponding day in the first, third or sixth calendar month thereafter, as the Borrower may select in a Notice of Borrowing,
Notice of Continuation or Notice of Conversion, as the case may be, except that each Interest Period that commences on the last
Business Day of a calendar month (or on any day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the appropriate subsequent
calendar month) shall end on the last Business Day of the appropriate subsequent calendar month. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (i) if
any Interest Period for a Loan would otherwise end after the Termination Date then in effect with respect to such Loan, such Interest
Period shall end on such Termination Date; and (ii) each Interest Period that would otherwise end on a day which is not a Business Day
shall end on the immediately following Business Day (or, if such immediately following Business Day falls in the next calendar month, on
the immediately preceding Business Day).
“Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
“Investment” means, with respect to any Person, any acquisition or investment (whether or not of a controlling interest) by such
Person, by means of any of the following: (a) the purchase or other acquisition of any Equity Interest in another Person, (b) a loan,
advance or extension of credit to, capital contribution to, Guaranty of Indebtedness of, or purchase or other acquisition of any
Indebtedness of, another Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such other Person, or (c) the purchase or other
acquisition (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of assets of another Person that constitute the business or a division or operating
unit of another Person. Any commitment to make an Investment in any other Person, as well as any option of another Person to require
an Investment in such Person, shall constitute an Investment. Except as expressly provided otherwise, for purposes of determining
compliance with any covenant contained in a Loan Document, the amount of any Investment shall be the amount actually invested,
without adjustment for subsequent increases or decreases in the value of such Investment.
“Investment Grade Pricing Effective Date” means the first Business Day following the later of the date on which (a) the
Investment Grade Ratings Criteria have been satisfied and (b) the Borrower has delivered to the Administrative Agent (and the
Administrative Agent shall promptly provide a copy of such notice to the Lenders) a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of the
Borrower (i) certifying that the Investment Grade Ratings Criteria have been satisfied (which certification shall also set forth the Credit
Rating(s) as in effect, if any, from each of S&P, Fitch and Moody’s as of such date) and (ii) notifying the Administrative Agent that the
Borrower has irrevocably elected to have the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin apply to the pricing of the Term Loan Facility.
“Investment Grade Ratings Criteria” means a Credit Rating of either (a) (i) BBB- or higher from S&P or Baa3 or higher
from Moody’s and (ii) BBB- or higher from Fitch or (b) BBB- or higher from S&P and Baa3 or higher from Moody’s, in each case,
applicable to the senior, unsecured, non-credit enhanced long-term debt of the Borrower.
“Investment Grade Release” has the meaning given that term in Section 7.14.
“Investment Grade Release Request” has the meaning given that term in Section 7.14.(a).
“KCM” means KeyBanc Capital Markets, and its successors and assigns.
“KeyBank” means KeyBank National Association, and its successors and assigns.
“Lender” means each financial institution from time to time party hereto as a “Lender”, together with its respective successors
and permitted assigns; provided, however, that, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the term “Lender” shall exclude any
Lender (or its Affiliates) in its capacity as a Specified Derivatives Provider or Specified Cash Management Bank.
“Lender Parties” means, collectively, the Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the Specified Derivatives Providers, the Specified
Cash Management Banks, each co-agent or sub-agent appointed by the Administrative Agent from time to time pursuant to Section 11.5.,
any other holder from time to time of any of any Obligations and, in each case, their respective successors and permitted assigns.
“Lending Office” means, for each Lender and for each Type of Loan, the office of such Lender specified in such Lender’s
Administrative Questionnaire or in the applicable Assignment and Assumption, or such other office of such Lender as such Lender may
notify the Administrative Agent in writing from time to time.
“Level” has the meaning given that term in the definition of the terms “Leverage-Based Applicable Margin” and “Ratings-Based
Applicable Margin”, as the context may require.
“Leverage-Based Applicable Margin” means the applicable percentage rate set forth in the table below corresponding to the
level (each a “Level”) corresponding to the Leverage Ratio as determined in accordance with Section 9.1.(a):

Level
1

Leverage Ratio
Less than 0.35 to 1.00

Leverage-Based Applicable
Margin for LIBOR Loans

Leverage-Based Applicable
Margin for Base Rate Loans

1.20%

0.20%

2

Greater than or equal to 0.35 to 1.00 but less
than 0.40 to 1.00

1.25%

0.25%

3

Greater than or equal to 0.40 to 1.00 but less
than 0.45 to 1.00

1.30%

0.30%

4

Greater than or equal to 0.45 to 1.00 but less
than 0.50 to 1.00

1.40%

0.40%

5

Greater than or equal to 0.50 to 1.00 but less
than 0.55 to 1.00

1.50%

0.50%

1.70%

0.70%

6

Greater than or equal to 0.55 to 1.00

The Leverage-Based Applicable Margin shall be determined by the Administrative Agent from time to time, based on the Leverage Ratio
as set forth in the Compliance Certificate most recently delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 8.3. Any adjustment to the
Leverage-Based Applicable Margin shall be effective as of the first day of the calendar month immediately following the month during
which the Borrower delivers to the Administrative Agent the applicable Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 8.3. If the Borrower
fails to deliver a Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 8.3., the Leverage-Based Applicable Margin shall equal the percentages
corresponding to Level 6 until the first Business Day following the day that the required Compliance Certificate is delivered.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the period from the Effective Date through but excluding the date on which the Administrative Agent
first determines the Leverage-Based Applicable Margin as set forth above, the Leverage-Based Applicable Margin shall be determined
based on Level 2. Thereafter, such Leverage-Based Applicable Margin shall be adjusted from time to time as set forth in this definition.
The provisions of this definition shall be subject to Section 2.5.(c).
“Leverage Ratio” means, as of a given date, the ratio of Total Indebtedness to Total Asset Value.
“Leverage Ratio Increase Period” has the meaning given that term in Section 9.1.(a).
“LIBOR” means, subject to the implementation of a Replacement Rate in accordance with Section 4.2.(b), with respect to any
LIBOR Loan for any Interest Period, the rate of interest obtained by dividing (i) the rate of interest per annum determined on the basis of
the rate as published by the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, a United Kingdom company (“ICE”) (or a comparable or successor
quoting service approved by the Administrative Agent) for deposits in Dollars for a period equal to the applicable Interest Period at
approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of the applicable Interest Period by (ii) a percentage
equal to 1 minus the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage. If, for any reason, the rate referred to in the preceding clause (i) is not so published,
then the rate to be used for such clause (i) shall be determined by the Administrative Agent to be the arithmetic average of the rate per
annum at which deposits in Dollars would be offered by first class banks in the London interbank market to the Administrative Agent at
approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of the applicable Interest Period for a period equal to
such Interest Period. Any change in the Eurodollar Reserve Percentage shall result in a change in LIBOR on the date on which such
change in such Eurodollar Reserve Percentage becomes effective. If LIBOR determined as provided above (including, without limitation,
any Replacement Rate with respect thereto) would be less than zero, LIBOR shall be deemed to be zero. Each calculation by the
Administrative Agent of LIBOR shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent manifest error. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
unless otherwise specified in any amendment to this Agreement entered into in accordance with Section 4.2.(b), in the event that a
Replacement Rate with respect to LIBOR is implemented in accordance with Section 4.2.(b), then all references herein and in any other
Loan Document to LIBOR shall be deemed references to such Replacement Rate.
“LIBOR Loan” means a Term Loan (or any portion thereof) (other than a Base Rate Loan) bearing interest at a rate based on
LIBOR.
“LIBOR Market Index Rate” means, for any day, LIBOR as of that day that would be applicable for a LIBOR Loan having a
one-month Interest Period determined at approximately 10:00 a.m. Eastern time for such day (rather than 11:00 a.m. (London time) two
(2) Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period as otherwise provided in the definition of “LIBOR”), or if such day is not a
Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day. The LIBOR Market Index Rate shall be determined on a daily basis.
“Lien” as applied to the property of any Person means: (a) any security interest, encumbrance, mortgage, deed to secure debt,
deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, pledge, lien, hypothecation, assignment, charge, privilege or lease constituting a Capitalized
Lease Obligation, conditional sale or other title retention agreement, or other security title or encumbrance of any kind in respect of any
property of such Person, or upon the income, rents or profits therefrom, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising; (b) any
arrangement, express or implied, under which any property of such Person, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising, is
transferred, sequestered or otherwise identified for the purpose of subjecting the same to the payment of Indebtedness or performance of
any other obligation in priority to the payment of the general, unsecured creditors of such Person; and (c) the authorized filing of any
financing statement under the UCC or its equivalent in any jurisdiction, other than any precautionary filing not otherwise constituting or
giving rise to a Lien, including a financing statement filed (i) in respect of a lease not constituting a Capitalized Lease Obligation pursuant
to Section 9-505 (or a successor provision) of the UCC or its equivalent as in effect in an applicable jurisdiction or (ii) in connection with a
sale or other disposition of accounts or other assets not prohibited by this Agreement in a transaction not otherwise constituting or giving
rise to a Lien.

“Loan” means a Term Loan or an Additional Term Loan Advance.
“Loan Document” means this Agreement, each Note, the Guaranty, each Fee Letter and each other document or instrument
now or hereafter executed and delivered by a Loan Party in connection with, pursuant to or relating to this Agreement (other than any
Specified Derivatives Contract and any Specified Cash Management Agreement).
“Loan Party” means each of the Borrower, each other Person who guarantees all or a portion of the Obligations and/or who
pledges any collateral to secure all or a portion of the Obligations. Schedule 1.1. sets forth the Loan Parties in addition to the Borrower as
of the Agreement Date.
“Mandatorily Redeemable Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Equity Interest of such Person which by the terms
of such Equity Interest (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable or exercisable), upon the
happening of any event or otherwise, (a) matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise (other
than an Equity Interest to the extent redeemable in exchange for common stock or other equivalent common Equity Interests at the option
of the issuer of such Equity Interest), (b) is convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Indebtedness or Mandatorily Redeemable
Stock, or (c) is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part (other than an Equity Interest which is redeemable solely
in exchange for common stock or other equivalent common Equity Interests), in the case of each of clauses (a) through (c), on or prior to
the Termination Date.
“Material Acquisition” means any acquisition (or series of related acquisitions) permitted by the Loan Documents and
consummated in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents if the aggregate consideration paid in respect of such acquisition
(including any Indebtedness assumed in connection therewith) exceeds $200,000,000.
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, liabilities (actual or contingent),
condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) the ability
of the Borrower or any other Loan Party to perform its obligations under any Loan Document to which it is a party, (c) the legality,
validity, binding effect or enforceability against any Loan Party of any Loan Document to which it is a party or (d) the rights and remedies
of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents.
“Material Contract” means any contract or other arrangement (other than Loan Documents, Specified Derivatives Contracts
and Specified Cash Management Agreements), whether written or oral, to which the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Loan Party is
a party as to which the breach, nonperformance, cancellation or failure to renew by any party thereto could reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.
“Material Facility” means, with respect to the Borrower and any Subsidiary, (a) the Prudential Note Purchase Agreement,
including any renewals, extensions, amendments, supplements, restatements, replacements or refinancing thereof; (b) the AIG Purchase
Agreement, including any renewals, extensions, amendments, supplements, restatements, replacements or refinancing thereof and (c) any
other agreement(s) creating, evidencing or governing Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount of $70,000,000 or more incurred after
the Agreement Date by the Borrower or any Subsidiary permitted hereunder (but excluding Indebtedness incurred after the Agreement
Date owed to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or a HUD, Fannie Mae or
Freddie Mac qualified lender, in each case, of a type similar to the Indebtedness listed as items 1 and 5-14 on Schedule 10.3 of the
Prudential Note Purchase Agreement).
“Material Indebtedness” has the meaning given that term in Section 10.1.(d)(i).
“Material Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower having assets (including any Equity Interests in any direct or
indirect Subsidiary of the Borrower that is a Material Subsidiary) with a Fair Market Value greater than or equal to $5,000,000.
“MLPF&S” means Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and its successors and assigns.
“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its successors.
“Mortgage Receivable” means the principal amount of an obligation owing to the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower
that is secured by a mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt or other similar security instrument granting a Lien on real property as
security for the payment of such obligation, so long as the mortgagor or grantor with respect to such Mortgage Receivable is not
delinquent sixty (60) days or more in interest or principal payments due thereunder.
“Multiemployer Plan” means at any time a multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA to which
any member of the ERISA Group (a) is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions or (b) has within the preceding six
plan years made contributions, including for these purposes any Person which ceased to be a member of the ERISA Group during such
six-year period, but in the case of a plan described in clause (b), only to the extent that any member of the ERISA Group could reasonably
be expected to have liability.

“Negative Pledge” means, with respect to a given asset, any provision of a document, instrument or agreement (other than any
Loan Document) which prohibits or purports to prohibit the creation or assumption of any Lien on such asset as security for Indebtedness
of the Person owning such asset or any other Person; provided, however, that an agreement that establishes a maximum ratio of
unsecured debt to unencumbered assets or of secured debt to total assets, or that otherwise conditions a Person’s ability to encumber its
assets upon the maintenance of one or more specified ratios that limit such Person’s ability to encumber its assets but that do not generally
prohibit the encumbrance of its assets, or the encumbrance of specific assets, shall not constitute a Negative Pledge.
“Net Operating Income” means, for any Property and for a given period, the following (without duplication and determined on a
consistent basis with prior periods): (a) rents and other revenues received in cash in the ordinary course from such Property (whether in
the nature of base rent, minimum rent, percentage rent, additional rent, proceeds from rent loss or business interruption insurance or
otherwise, but excluding (x) pre-paid rents and revenues, security deposits, earnest money deposits, advance rentals, reserves for capital
expenditures, impounds, escrows, charges, expenses or items required to be paid or reimbursed by the tenant thereunder, except to the
extent applied in satisfaction of tenants’ obligations for rent and (y) proceeds from the sale of such Property) pursuant to the Facility
Lease applicable to such Property, minus (b) all expenses paid by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries and not reimbursed by a Person that is
the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower (excluding interest but including an appropriate accrual for property taxes and insurance)
related to the ownership, operation or maintenance of such Property, including but not limited to property taxes, assessments and the like,
insurance, utilities, payroll costs, maintenance, repair and landscaping expenses, marketing expenses, and general and administrative
expenses (including an appropriate allocation for legal, accounting, advertising, marketing and other expenses incurred in connection with
such Property, but specifically excluding general overhead expenses of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and any property management
fees).
“Net Proceeds” means with respect to an Equity Issuance by a Person, the aggregate amount of all cash and the Fair Market
Value of all other property (other than securities of such Person being converted or exchanged in connection with such Equity Issuance)
received by such Person in respect of such Equity Issuance net of investment banking fees, legal fees, accountants’ fees, underwriting
discounts and commissions and other customary fees and expenses actually incurred by such Person in connection with such Equity
Issuance.
“Non-Consenting Lender” means any Lender that does not approve any consent, approval, amendment or waiver that
(a) requires the consent of all Lenders or all affected Lenders in accordance with the terms of Section 12.6. and (b) has been approved by
the Requisite Lenders.
“Non-Defaulting Lender” means, at any time, each Lender that is not a Defaulting Lender at such time.
“Non-Government Reimbursed Properties” means Healthcare Facilities (other than hospitals) that are not Government
Reimbursed Properties (e.g., assisted living facilities, independent living facilities, memory care facilities, medical office buildings, etc.).
“Nonrecourse Indebtedness” means, with respect to a Person, Indebtedness for borrowed money in respect of which recourse
for payment (except for customary exceptions for fraud, misapplication of funds, environmental indemnities, voluntary bankruptcy,
collusive involuntary bankruptcy and other similar customary exceptions to nonrecourse liability) is contractually limited to specific assets
of such Person encumbered by a Lien securing such Indebtedness; provided, however, except with respect to Indebtedness of the
Borrower, any Guarantor or any Eligible Property Subsidiary, such Indebtedness may be recourse to the Person or Persons that own the
assets encumbered by the Lien securing such Indebtedness so long as (x) such Person or Persons do not own any assets that are not
subject to such Lien (other than assets customarily excluded from an all assets financing) and (y) in the event such Person or Persons
directly or indirectly own Equity Interests in any other Person, all assets of such Person or Persons (other than assets customarily
excluded from an all assets financing) are also encumbered by the Lien securing such financing.
“Note” means a promissory note of the Borrower substantially in the form of Exhibit J, payable to the order of a Lender in a
principal amount equal to the amount of such Lender’s Term Loan.
“Notice of Borrowing” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit D (or such other form reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and containing the information required in such Exhibit) to be delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.2.(b) evidencing the Borrower’s request for a borrowing of Term Loans.
“Notice of Continuation” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit E (or such other form reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and containing the information required in such Exhibit) to be delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.9. evidencing the Borrower’s request for the Continuation of a LIBOR Loan.
“Notice of Conversion” means a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit F (or such other form reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent and containing the information required in such Exhibit) to be delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Section 2.10. evidencing the Borrower’s request for the Conversion of a Loan from one Type to another Type.
“Obligations” means, individually and collectively: (a) the aggregate principal balance of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on,
all Loans; and (b) all other indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties of the Borrower and the other Loan Parties owing to
the Administrative Agent or any Lender of every kind, nature and description, under or in respect of this Agreement or any of the other

Loan Documents, including, without limitation, the Fees and indemnification obligations, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent,
due or not due, contractual or tortious, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether or not evidenced by any promissory note. For the avoidance
of doubt, “Obligations” shall not include any indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, covenants or duties in respect of Specified Derivatives
Contracts or Specified Cash Management Agreements.
“OFAC” means the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.
“Off-Balance Sheet Obligations” means, with respect to a Person: (a) obligations of such Person in respect of any financing
transaction or series of financing transactions (including factoring arrangements) pursuant to which such Person or any Subsidiary of such
Person has sold, conveyed or otherwise transferred, or granted a security interest in, accounts, payments, receivables, rights to future
lease payments or residuals or similar rights to payment to a special purpose Subsidiary or Affiliate of such Person; (b) obligations of such
Person under a sale and leaseback transaction that do not create a liability on the balance sheet of such Person; (c) obligations of such
Person under any so-called “synthetic” lease transaction; (d) obligations of such Person under any other transaction which is the
functional equivalent of, or takes the place of, a borrowing but which does not constitute a liability on the balance sheet of such Person;
and (e) in the case of the Borrower, liabilities and obligations of the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Person in respect of “offbalance sheet arrangements” (as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act) which the
Borrower would be required to disclose in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
section of the Borrower’s report on Form 10-Q or Form 10-K (or their equivalents) which the Borrower is required to file with the SEC.
“OpCo” has the meaning given that term in the definition of “Permitted UPREIT Reorganization”.
“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection
between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Recipient having executed,
delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under,
engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan
Document).
“Other Non-Mortgage Receivables” means any mezzanine loans or loan or note receivables (other than Mortgage
Receivables), whether senior or subordinated (in right of payment or otherwise), owing to the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower
by any Person (other than an Affiliate of the Borrower), so long as the obligor with respect to such Other Non-Mortgage Receivable is
not delinquent sixty (60) days or more in interest or principal payments due thereunder.
“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise
from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of
a security interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes
imposed with respect to an assignment (other than an assignment made pursuant to Section 4.6.).
“Ownership Share” means, with respect to any Subsidiary of a Person (other than a Wholly Owned Subsidiary) or any
Unconsolidated Affiliate of a Person, the greater of (a) such Person’s relative nominal direct and indirect ownership interest (expressed as
a percentage) in such Subsidiary or Unconsolidated Affiliate or (b) such Person’s relative direct and indirect economic interest (calculated
as a percentage) in such Subsidiary or Unconsolidated Affiliate determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of the declaration
of trust, articles or certificate of incorporation, articles of organization, partnership agreement, joint venture agreement or other applicable
organizational document of such Subsidiary or Unconsolidated Affiliate.
“Parent” means National Health Investors, Inc., a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Maryland.
“Participant” has the meaning given that term in Section 12.5.(d).
“Participant Register” has the meaning given that term in Section 12.5.(d).
“Patriot Act” means The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct
Terrorism Act of 2001 (Title III of Pub. L. No. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)).
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation and any successor agency.
“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any asset or property of a Person, (a) Liens securing taxes, assessments and other
charges or levies imposed by any Governmental Authority (excluding any Lien imposed pursuant to any of the provisions of ERISA or
pursuant to any Environmental Laws), which, in each case, are not yet due or which are being contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of such Person in accordance
with GAAP; (b) the claims of materialmen, mechanics, carriers, warehousemen or landlords for labor, materials, supplies or rentals
incurred in the ordinary course of business, which, in each case, are not overdue for a period of more than thirty (30) days or which are
being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained
on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP; (c) Liens consisting of deposits or pledges made, in the ordinary course of
business, in connection with, or to secure payment of, obligations under workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or similar
Applicable Laws; (d) Liens consisting of encumbrances in the nature of zoning restrictions, easements, and rights or restrictions of record

on the use of real property, which do not materially detract from the value of such property or impair the intended use thereof in the
business of such Person; (e) the rights of tenants under leases or subleases not interfering with the ordinary conduct of business of such
Person; (f) judgment Liens not constituting a Default; (g) Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent for its benefit and the benefit of the
Lenders, each Specified Cash Management Bank and each Specified Derivatives Provider; (h) Liens in existence on the Agreement Date
and set forth on Schedule 1.1.(a); and (i) Resident Mortgage Liens.
“Permitted UPREIT Reorganization” means any transaction in which the Borrower becomes a limited partnership (including a
limited liability limited partnership) (“OpCo”), the general partner of which shall be the Parent or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the
Parent organized under the laws of a State of the United States, with (a) the Parent or such Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Parent being
the record and beneficial owners, cumulatively, of 100% of each class of outstanding Equity Interests of OpCo, (b) all of the Parent’s
Subsidiaries and other assets being thereafter held directly or indirectly by OpCo and (c) OpCo thereafter being the sole Borrower
hereunder; provided that (i) the Borrower shall have delivered written notice of any such transaction to the Administrative Agent not less
than thirty (30) days prior thereto; (ii) as of the date of notice of such transaction and at the time of, and after giving effect to, such
transaction, (x) no Default or Event of Default shall exist and (y) the representations and warranties made or deemed made by the
Borrower and each other Loan Party in the Loan Documents to which any of them is a party, shall be true and correct in all material
respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall
be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the date of such notice and on the effective date of such transaction with the same force
and effect as if made on and as of such date except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an
earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except in the
case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all
respects) on and as of such earlier date); (iii) concurrently with the effectiveness of such transaction, to the extent reasonably requested
by the Administrative Agent, the Parent, OpCo and the other Loan Parties shall have executed and delivered assumption, guaranty and
reaffirmation documentation in connection herewith, and pursuant to which OpCo shall expressly assume all the obligations of the
Borrower under this Agreement and the Parent shall Guaranty the Obligations, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent, together with such organizational documentation, certificates, resolutions, opinions of counsel and other
documentation as the Administrative Agent deems reasonably necessary or appropriate to implement such assumption, guaranty and
reaffirmation (and which documentation, certificates, resolutions, opinions of counsel and other documentation shall be substantially similar
to the documentation delivered as of the Effective Date), and, if requested by any applicable Lender, Notes in favor of such Lender
executed by OpCo; (iv) the Parent, OpCo and each other Loan Party shall have provided all information requested by the Administrative
Agent and each Lender in order to comply with applicable “know your customer” and Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including, without
limitation, the Patriot Act, as determined in the good faith judgment of the Administrative Agent; and (v) the Parent and OpCo shall have
delivered to the Administrative Agent an officer’s certificate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
certifying the compliance with clause (ii) above.
“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited partnership, general partnership, joint stock company, limited liability
company, limited liability partnership, joint venture, association, company, trust, bank, trust company, land trust, business trust or other
organization, whether or not a legal entity, or any other nongovernmental entity, or any Governmental Authority.
“Plan” means at any time an employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) which is covered by Title IV of
ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code and either (a) is maintained, or
contributed to, by any member of the ERISA Group for employees of any member of the ERISA Group or (b) has at any time within the
preceding six years been maintained, or contributed to, by any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group for
employees of any Person which was at such time a member of the ERISA Group.
“Post-Default Rate” means (a) with respect to any principal of any Loan, the rate otherwise applicable plus an additional two
percent (2.0%) per annum and (b) with respect to any other Obligation, a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate as in effect from time to
time plus the Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans plus two percent (2.0%).
“Preferred Dividends” means, for any period and without duplication, all Restricted Payments paid during such period on
Preferred Equity Interests issued by the Borrower or any Subsidiary. Preferred Dividends shall not include dividends or distributions
(a) paid or payable solely in Equity Interests (other than Mandatorily Redeemable Stock) payable to holders of such class of Equity
Interests, (b) paid or payable to the Borrower or a Subsidiary, or (c) constituting or resulting in the redemption of Preferred Equity
Interests, other than scheduled redemptions not constituting balloon, bullet or similar redemptions in full.
“Preferred Equity Interests” means, with respect to any Person, Equity Interests in such Person which are entitled to
preference or priority over any other Equity Interest in such Person in respect of the payment of dividends or distribution of assets upon
liquidation or both.
“Prime Rate” means, at any time, the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by the Lender then acting
as the Administrative Agent as its prime rate. Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective as of the opening of business on the day
such change in such prime rate occurs. The parties hereto acknowledge that the rate announced publicly by the Lender acting as
Administrative Agent as its prime rate is an index or base rate and shall not necessarily be its lowest or best rate charged to its customers
or other banks.

“Principal Office” means the office of the Administrative Agent located at 1525 W. W.T. Harris Blvd., 1st Floor, Charlotte, NC
28262-8522, Attention: Agency Services, or any other subsequent office that the Administrative Agent shall have specified as the Principal
Office by written notice to the Borrower and the Lenders.
“Pro Rata Share” means, as to each Lender, the ratio, expressed as a percentage of (a) the amount of such Lender’s
outstanding Term Loans to (b) the aggregate amount of all outstanding Term Loans. If at the time of determination the Commitments have
been terminated or reduced to zero and there are no outstanding Loans, then the Pro Rata Shares of the Lenders shall be determined as of
the most recent date on which Loans were outstanding.
“Property” means a parcel (or group of related parcels) of real property owned or leased (in whole or in part) and developed (or
to be developed) by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any Unconsolidated Affiliate.
“Prudential Note Purchase Agreement” means the Note Purchase Agreement dated as of January 13, 2015, by and among
the Borrower, The Prudential Insurance Company of America and certain of its affiliates party thereto, as purchasers, as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of March 20, 2015, by and among the Borrower, The Prudential
Insurance Company of America and the other noteholders party thereto, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to Note
Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2015, by and among the Borrower, The Prudential Insurance Company of America and the
other noteholders party thereto, and as further amended prior to the date hereof.
“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be
amended from time to time.
“Qualified Plan” means a Benefit Arrangement that is intended to be tax-qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue
Code.
“Rating Agency” means S&P, Moody’s, Fitch or any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by the
Borrower and approved of by the Administrative Agent in writing.
“Ratings-Based Applicable Margin” means the applicable percentage rate set forth in the table below corresponding to the
level (each a “Level”) into which the Borrower’s Credit Rating then falls.

Level

Borrower’s Credit Rating (S&P/Moody’s or
equivalent)

Ratings-Based Applicable
Margin for LIBOR Loans

Ratings-Based Applicable
Margin for Base Rate Loans

1

A+/A1 (or equivalent) or better

0.75%

0%

2

A/A2 (or equivalent)

0.80%

0%

3

A-/A3 (or equivalent)

0.85%

0%

4

BBB+/Baa1 (or equivalent)

0.90%

0%

5

BBB/Baa2 (or equivalent)

1.00%

0.00%

6

BBB-/Baa3 (or equivalent)

1.25%

0.25%

7

Lower than BBB-/Baa3 (or equivalent)

1.65%

0.65%

Any change in the Borrower’s Credit Rating which would cause the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin to be determined with
respect to a different Level shall be effective as of the first day of the first calendar month immediately following receipt by the
Administrative Agent of written notice delivered by the Borrower in accordance with Section 8.4.(o) that the Borrower’s Credit Rating
has changed; provided, however, if the Borrower has not delivered the notice required by such Section but the Administrative Agent
becomes aware that the Borrower’s Credit Rating has changed, then the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion, adjust the Level
effective as of the first day of the first calendar month following the date the Administrative Agent becomes aware that the Borrower’s
Credit Rating has changed. During any period that the Borrower has received three Credit Ratings that are not equivalent, the RatingsBased Applicable Margin shall be determined based on the Level corresponding to (a) the highest Credit Rating if the highest Credit
Rating and the second-highest Credit Rating differ by only one Level or (b) the average of the two highest Credit Ratings if they differ by
two or more Levels (unless the average is not a recognized Level, in which case the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin will be based on
the Credit Rating one Level below the Level corresponding to the highest Credit Rating). During any period for which the Borrower has
received only two Credit Ratings and such Credit Ratings are not equivalent, the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin will be determined by
(i) the highest Credit Rating if they differ by only one Level or (ii) the average of the two Credit Ratings if they differ by two or more

Levels (unless the average is not a recognized Level, in which case the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin will be based on the Credit
Rating one Level below the Level corresponding to the higher Credit Rating). During any period after the Investment Grade Pricing
Effective Date for which the Borrower has received no Credit Rating from Fitch, if the Borrower also ceases to have a Credit Rating
from one of S&P or Moody’s, then the Ratings-Based Applicable Margin shall be determined based on the remaining such Credit Rating.
Notwithstanding any Credit Rating from Fitch, during any period in which the Borrower has not (a) received a Credit Rating from either
S&P or Moody’s corresponding to Level 6 or better or (b) received a Credit Rating from any Rating Agency, the Ratings-Based
Applicable Margin shall be determined based on Level 7.
“RCM” means Regions Capital Markets, and its successors and assigns.
“Recipient” means (a) the Administrative Agent and (b) any Lender, as applicable.
“Recourse Indebtedness” means any Indebtedness of a Person that is not Nonrecourse Indebtedness.
“Regions” means Regions Bank, and its successors and assigns.
“Register” has the meaning given that term in Section 12.5.(c).
“Regulatory Change” means, with respect to any Lender, any change effective after the Agreement Date in Applicable Law
(including without limitation, Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) or the adoption or making after such
date of any interpretation, directive or request applying to a class of banks, including such Lender, of or under any Applicable Law
(whether or not having the force of law and whether or not failure to comply therewith would be unlawful) by any Governmental
Authority or monetary authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof or compliance by any Lender with any request or
directive regarding capital adequacy or liquidity. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (a) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (b) all
requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III,
shall in each case be deemed to be a “Regulatory Change”, regardless of the date enacted, adopted, implemented or issued.
“REIT” means a Person qualifying for treatment as a “real estate investment trust” under the Internal Revenue Code.
“Related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the partners, shareholders, directors, trustees,
officers, employees, agents, counsel, other advisors and representatives of such Person and of such Person’s Affiliates and each of their
respective heirs, successors and assigns.
“Replacement Rate” has the meaning given that term in Section 4.2.(b).
“Required Subsidiary” means (a) each Eligible Property Subsidiary, (b) each other Material Subsidiary (other than Excluded
Subsidiaries and Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiaries) and (c) each Subsidiary of the Borrower that owns, directly or indirectly, any
Equity Interests in any Subsidiary described in the foregoing clause (b).
“Requisite Lenders” means, as of any date, Lenders having more than 50% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the Term Loans; provided that (i) in determining such percentage at any given time, all then existing Defaulting Lenders will be
disregarded and excluded and the pro rata shares of the Lenders shall be redetermined, for voting purposes only, to exclude the pro rata
shares of such Defaulting Lenders, and (ii) at all times when two or more Lenders (excluding Defaulting Lenders) are party to this
Agreement, the term “Requisite Lenders” shall in no event mean less than two Lenders.
“Resident Mortgage Liens” means, collectively, (a) the Liens in existence on the Agreement Date on Properties as set forth
on Schedule 1.1.(b) in favor of individual residents and (b) any other similar Liens on any other Property after the Agreement Date that
shall be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, in each case, that, in the aggregate, do not in any case materially detract from
the value of such Property, or materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as
a whole.
“Responsible Officer” means with respect to the Borrower or any Subsidiary, the chief executive officer, the chief accounting
officer and the Executive Vice President of Finance of the Borrower or such Subsidiary.
“Restricted Payment” means (a) any dividend or other distribution, direct or indirect, on account of any Equity Interest of the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries now or hereafter outstanding, except a dividend payable solely in shares of that class of Equity
Interests to the holders of that class; (b) any redemption, conversion, exchange, retirement, sinking fund or similar payment, purchase or
other acquisition for value, direct or indirect, of any Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries now or hereafter
outstanding; and (c) any payment made to retire, or to obtain the surrender of, any outstanding warrants, options or other rights to acquire
any Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries now or hereafter outstanding.
“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country, territory or region which is, or whose government is, the subject or target
of any Sanctions.

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of designated Persons maintained by
any Governmental Authority of the United States of America, including without limitation, OFAC or the U.S. Department of State, or by
the United Nations Security Council, Her Majesty’s Treasury, the European Union or any other Governmental Authority, (b) any Person
located, operating, organized or resident in a Sanctioned Country, (c) an agency of the government of a Sanctioned Country or (d) any
Person owned or Controlled by any Persons or agencies described in any of the preceding clauses (a) through (c).
“Sanctions” means any sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or enforced by any Governmental Authority of the
United States of America, including without limitation, OFAC or the U.S. Department of State, or by the United Nations Security Council,
Her Majesty’s Treasury, the European Union or any other Governmental Authority.
“SEC” means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any of its principal
functions.
“Secured Indebtedness” means, with respect to a Person as of a given date, the aggregate principal amount of all Indebtedness
of such Person outstanding on such date that is secured in any manner by any Lien on any property and, in the case of the Borrower, shall
include (without duplication) the Borrower’s Ownership Share of the Secured Indebtedness of its Unconsolidated Affiliates.
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933.
“Senior Notes” means the 3.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of March 25,
2014, by and between the Borrower, as issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee.
“Solvent” means, when used with respect to any Person, that (a) the fair value and the fair salable value of its assets (excluding
any Indebtedness due from any Affiliate of such Person) are each in excess of the fair valuation of its total liabilities (including all
contingent liabilities computed at the amount which, in light of all facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that
could reasonably be expected to become an actual and matured liability); (b) such Person is able to pay its debts or other obligations in the
ordinary course as they mature; and (c) such Person has capital not unreasonably small to carry on its business and all business in which it
proposes to be engaged.
“Specified Cash Management Agreement” means any Cash Management Agreement that is made or entered into at any
time, or in effect at any time now or hereafter, whether as a result of an assignment or transfer or otherwise, between or among any Loan
Party and any Specified Cash Management Bank.
“Specified Cash Management Bank” means any Person that (a) at the time it enters into a Cash Management Agreement
with a Loan Party, is a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or (b) at the time it (or its Affiliate) becomes a Lender or the Administrative
Agent (including on the Effective Date), is a party to a Cash Management Agreement with a Loan Party, in each case in its capacity as a
party to such Cash Management Agreement.
“Specified Derivatives Contract” means any Derivatives Contract that is made or entered into at any time, or in effect at any
time now or hereafter, whether as a result of an assignment or transfer or otherwise, between or among any Loan Party and any
Specified Derivatives Provider.
“Specified Derivatives Obligations” means all indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties of a Loan Party under
or in respect of any Specified Derivatives Contract, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or not due, liquidated or
unliquidated, and whether or not evidenced by any written confirmation.
“Specified Derivatives Provider” means any Person that (a) at the time it enters into a Specified Derivatives Contract with a
Loan Party, is a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or (b) at the time it (or its Affiliate) becomes a Lender or the Administrative Agent
(including on the Effective Date), is a party to a Specified Derivatives Contract with a Loan Party, in each case in its capacity as a party
to such Specified Derivatives Contract.
“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business, or any successor.
“Subsidiary” means, for any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or other entity of which at least
a majority of the Equity Interests having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors, trustees
or other individuals performing similar functions of such corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or other entity (without
regard to the occurrence of any contingency) is at the time directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or one or more
Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person and one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, and shall include all Persons the accounts of
which are consolidated with those of such Person pursuant to GAAP. Unless explicitly set forth to the contrary, a reference to a
“Subsidiary” means a direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Borrower.
“Subsidiary Guarantors” means each Subsidiary (other than an Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary) that hereafter joins in the
Guaranty by execution of an Accession Agreement (or Guaranty, as the case may be) pursuant to Section 7.13.(b).

“Subsidiary Guaranty Documents” means, with respect to any Subsidiary that is required to become a Guarantor pursuant to
Section 7.13., the following documents: (x) an Accession Agreement (or if the Guaranty is not then in effect, the Guaranty) executed by
such Subsidiary and (y) the items with respect to such Subsidiary that would have been delivered under Sections 5.1.(a)(iv) through (viii)
and (xv) if such Subsidiary had been a Subsidiary Guarantor on the Agreement Date (in the case of Section 5.1.(a)(iv), only to the extent
reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent), each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
“Substantial Amount” means, at the time of determination thereof, an amount in excess of 10% of total consolidated assets
(exclusive of depreciation) at such time of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis.
“Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Loan Party, any obligation to pay or perform under any agreement, contract or
transaction that constitutes a “swap” within the meaning of Section 1a(47) of the Commodity Exchange Act.
“Syndication Agents” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.
“Tangible Net Worth” means, as of a given date, the stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries determined on a
consolidated basis plus accumulated depreciation and amortization, minus (to the extent included when determining stockholders’ equity of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries): (a) the amount of any write-up in the book value of any assets reflected in any balance sheet of the
Borrower resulting from revaluation thereof or any write-up in excess of the cost of such assets acquired by the Borrower, and (b) the
aggregate of all amounts appearing on the assets side of any such balance sheet for franchises, licenses, permits, patents, patent
applications, copyrights, trademarks, service marks, trade names, goodwill, treasury stock, experimental or organizational expenses and
other like assets which would be classified as intangible assets under GAAP, all determined on a consolidated basis.
“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding),
assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable
thereto.
“Term Loan” means a loan made by a Lender to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.2.
“Term Loan Commitment” means, as to each Lender, such Lender’s obligation to make Term Loans on the Effective Date
pursuant to Section 2.2., in an amount up to, but not exceeding, the amount set forth for such Lender on Schedule I as such Lender’s
“Term Loan Commitment Amount”, and shall include any undertaking to make Additional Term Loan Advances effected in accordance
with Section 2.16.
“Term Loan Facility” means, at any time, the aggregate Term Loan Commitments of all Lenders outstanding at such time, or, if
the Term Loan Commitments have been reduced to zero at such time, the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loans of all Lenders
outstanding.
“Termination Date” means September 15, 2023.
“Titled Agent” has the meaning given that term in Section 11.9.
“Total Asset Value” means, at a given time, the sum (without duplication) of all of the following of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis: (a) cash and Cash Equivalents
(other than tenant deposits and other cash and cash equivalents that are subject to a Lien or a Negative Pledge or the disposition of which
is restricted in any way); plus (b)(i) Net Operating Income for all Properties for the fiscal quarter most recently ended multiplied by 4
divided by (ii) the Capitalization Rate; plus (c) the purchase price paid by the Borrower or any Subsidiary (less any amounts paid to the
Borrower or such Subsidiary as a purchase price adjustment, held in escrow, retained as a contingency reserve, or in connection with
other similar arrangements) for any Property acquired by the Borrower or such Subsidiary during the fiscal quarter most recently ended;
plus (d) the GAAP book value of all Development Properties; plus (e) the GAAP book value of Unimproved Land; plus (f) the GAAP
book value of all Mortgage Receivables, Other Non-Mortgage Receivables and unencumbered marketable securities (at the value
reflected in the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, as of such date, including the effect of
impairment charges). The Borrower’s Ownership Share of assets held by Unconsolidated Affiliates shall be included in the calculation of
Total Asset Value consistent with the above described treatment for assets owned by the Borrower or a Subsidiary. For purposes of
determining Total Asset Value: (t) Net Operating Income from Development Properties, Properties disposed of by the Borrower or any
Subsidiary during the fiscal quarter most recently ended and Properties acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary during the fiscal
quarter most recently ended shall be excluded from the immediately preceding clause (b); (u) to the extent the amount of Total Asset
Value attributable to Development Properties would exceed 15% of Total Asset Value, such excess shall be excluded; (v) to the extent
the amount of Total Asset Value attributable to Unimproved Land would exceed 5% of Total Asset Value, such excess shall be excluded;
(w) to the extent the amount of Total Asset Value attributable to Mortgage Receivables, Other Non-Mortgage Receivables and
unencumbered marketable securities (at the value reflected in the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with
GAAP, as of such date, including the effect of impairment charges) would, in the aggregate, exceed 20% of Total Asset Value, such
excess shall be excluded; (x) to the extent the amount of Total Asset Value attributable to Development Properties, Unimproved Land,
Mortgage Receivables, Other Non-Mortgage Receivables, unencumbered marketable securities (at the value reflected in the Borrower’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, as of such date, including the effect of impairment charges) and

Unconsolidated Affiliates Properties would, in the aggregate, exceed 30% of Total Asset Value, such excess shall be excluded; (y) to the
extent the amount of Total Asset Value attributable to Unconsolidated Affiliates Properties would exceed 20% of Total Asset Value, such
excess shall be excluded and (z) to the extent the amount of Total Asset Value attributable to Eligible Properties located in the United
Kingdom, Australia or Canada would exceed 10% of Total Asset Value, such excess shall be excluded.
“Total Indebtedness” means, as to any Person as of a given date and without duplication: (a) all Indebtedness of such Person
and its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis and (b) such Person’s Ownership Share of the Indebtedness of any
Unconsolidated Affiliate of such Person.
“Type” with respect to any Term Loan, refers to whether such Loan or portion thereof is a LIBOR Loan or a Base Rate Loan.
“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in any applicable jurisdiction.
“Unconsolidated Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person in whom such Person holds an Investment,
which Investment is accounted for in the financial statements of such Person on an equity basis of accounting and whose financial results
would not be consolidated under GAAP with the financial results of such Person on the consolidated financial statements of such Person.
“Unencumbered Asset Value” means, at a given time, the sum (without duplication) of all of the following of the Borrower and
its Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis: (a) the Unencumbered NOI
for the fiscal quarter most recently ended times 4 divided by the Capitalization Rate, plus (b) the GAAP book value of all Eligible
Properties acquired during the fiscal quarter most recently ended, plus (c) the GAAP book value of Development Properties not subject to
any Lien other than Permitted Liens (except for the Permitted Liens described in clause (h) of the definition of Permitted Liens) or subject
to any Negative Pledge, plus (d) the GAAP book value of all Mortgage Receivables and unencumbered marketable securities (at the
value reflected in the Borrower’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, as of such date, including the effect of
impairment charges) not subject to any Lien other than Permitted Liens (except for the Permitted Liens described in clause (h) of the
definition of Permitted Liens) or subject to any Negative Pledge plus (e) Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents. For purposes of this
definition, (x) to the extent that more than 20% of Unencumbered Asset Value would be attributable to Controlled Properties,
Development Properties, Mortgage Receivables and unencumbered marketable securities (at the value reflected in the Borrower’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, as of such date, including the effect of impairment charges), such excess
shall be excluded, (y) to the extent that more than 5% of Unencumbered Asset Value would be attributable to Affected Controlled
Properties, such excess shall be excluded and (z) to the extent that more than 10% of Unencumbered Asset Value would be attributable
to Eligible Properties located in the United Kingdom, Australia or Canada, such excess shall be excluded. For purposes of determining
Unencumbered Asset Value: (x) Net Operating Income from Development Properties, Properties disposed of by the Borrower or any
Subsidiary during the fiscal quarter most recently ended and Properties acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary during the fiscal
quarter most recently ended shall be excluded from the immediately preceding clause (a); and (y) to the extent the amount of
Unencumbered Asset Value attributable to Properties leased under Ground Leases would exceed 10% of Unencumbered Asset Value,
such excess shall be excluded.
“Unencumbered Leverage Increase Period” has the meaning given that term in Section 9.1.(b).
“Unencumbered Leverage Ratio” has the meaning given that term in Section 9.1.(b).
“Unencumbered NOI” means, for any period, the Net Operating Income from all Eligible Properties for such period.
“Unimproved Land” means land on which no development (other than improvements that are not material and are temporary in
nature) has occurred.
“Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents” means the aggregate amount of unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than Excluded Subsidiaries); provided that Unrestricted Cash and Cash Equivalents shall exclude
cash and Cash Equivalents subject to a Lien (other than customary rights of set-off and statutory or common law provisions relating to
bankers’ liens).
“Unsecured Indebtedness” means, with respect to a Person, Indebtedness of such Person that is not Secured Indebtedness;
provided, however, that any Indebtedness that is secured only by a pledge of Equity Interests shall be deemed to be Unsecured
Indebtedness.
“Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower that is a borrower or a guarantor, or otherwise
has a payment obligation in respect of, any Unsecured Indebtedness (other than (a) obligations arising under the Loan Documents, or
(b) subordinated intercompany Indebtedness between or among any of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries); provided, however, that any
non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower that guarantees Unsecured Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Wholly Owned
Subsidiary shall be an Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary.
“U.S. Person” means any Person that is a “United States Person” as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue
Code.

“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.10.(g)(ii)(B)(III).
“Wells Fargo” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and its successors and assigns.
“Wells Fargo Fee Letter” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of “Fee Letters”.
“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of a Person in respect of which all of the Equity Interests (other than, in the
case of a corporation, directors’ qualifying shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or one or more
other Subsidiaries of such Person or by such Person and one or more other Subsidiaries of such Person.
“Withdrawal Liability” means any liability as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan as such
terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.
“Withholding Agent” means (a) the Borrower, (b) any other Loan Party and (c) the Administrative Agent, as applicable.
“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means, with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion
powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which
write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.

Section 1.2.General; References to Eastern Time.
Unless otherwise indicated, all accounting terms, ratios and measurements shall be interpreted or determined in accordance with
GAAP from time to time; provided that, if at any time any change in GAAP would affect the computation of any financial ratio or
requirement set forth in any Loan Document, and either the Borrower or the Requisite Lenders shall so request, the Administrative Agent,
the Lenders and the Borrower shall negotiate in good faith to amend such ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent thereof in
light of such change in GAAP (subject to the approval of the appropriate Lenders pursuant to Section 12.6.); provided further that, until so
amended, (i) such ratio or requirement shall continue to be computed in accordance with GAAP prior to such change therein and (ii) the
Borrower shall provide to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders financial statements and other documents required under this
Agreement or as reasonably requested hereunder setting forth a reconciliation between calculations of such ratio or requirement made
before and after giving effect to such change in GAAP. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the calculation of liabilities shall not
include any fair value adjustments to the carrying value of liabilities to record such liabilities at fair value pursuant to electing the fair value
option election under FASB ASC 825-10-25 (formerly known as FAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities) or other FASB standards allowing entities to elect fair value option for financial liabilities. References in this Agreement to
“Sections”, “Articles”, “Exhibits” and “Schedules” are to sections, articles, exhibits and schedules herein and hereto unless otherwise
indicated. References in this Agreement to any document, instrument or agreement (a) shall include all exhibits, schedules and other
attachments thereto, (b) except as expressly provided otherwise in any Loan Document, shall include all documents, instruments or
agreements issued or executed in replacement thereof, to the extent permitted hereby and (c) shall mean such document, instrument or
agreement, or replacement or predecessor thereto, as amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time to the
extent not otherwise stated herein or prohibited hereby and in effect at any given time. Wherever from the context it appears appropriate,
each term stated in either the singular or plural shall include the singular and plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine or
neuter gender shall include the masculine, the feminine and the neuter. Except as expressly provided otherwise in any Loan Document,
(i) any reference to any law shall include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing, supplementing or
interpreting such law and any reference to any law or regulation shall, unless otherwise specified, refer to such law or regulation as
amended, modified, extended, restated, replaced or supplemented from time to time and (ii) any reference to any Person shall be
construed to include such Person’s permitted successors and permitted assigns. Titles and captions of Articles, Sections, subsections and
clauses in this Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of this Agreement. Unless otherwise
indicated, (a) all references to time are references to Eastern time daylight or standard, as applicable and (b) when any date specified
herein as the due date for a payment, notice or other deliverable is not a Business Day, such due date shall be extended to the next
following Business Day.

Section 1.3.Financial Attributes of Non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries.
When determining the Applicable Margin and compliance by the Parent (from and after the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization)
or the Borrower with any financial covenant contained in any of the Loan Documents (a) only the Ownership Share of the Parent or the
Borrower, as applicable, of the financial attributes of a Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary shall be included and (b) the
Parent’s Ownership Share of the Borrower shall be deemed to be 100.0%.

Section 1.4.Rates.
The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the
administration, submission or any other matter related to the rates in the definition of “LIBOR”.

ARTICLE II. Credit Facility

Section 2.1.[Reserved].
Section 2.2.Term Loans.
(a) Making of Term Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, on the Effective Date, each Lender severally and not
jointly agrees to make a Term Loan denominated in Dollars to the Borrower in the aggregate principal amount equal to the amount of such
Lender’s Term Loan Commitment. Upon a Lender’s funding of its Term Loan, the Term Loan Commitment of such Lender shall be
reduced to zero and terminate. Any unused Term Loan Commitments shall be reduced to zero and terminate at 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on
the Effective Date.
(b) Requests for Term Loans. Not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time on the anticipated Effective Date for Term Loans that are
to be Base Rate Loans and not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time at least 3 Business Days prior to the anticipated Effective Date for
Term Loans that are to be LIBOR Loans, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a Notice of Borrowing, in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, requesting that the Lenders make the Term Loans on the Effective Date
and specifying the aggregate principal amount of Term Loans to be borrowed, the Type of the Term Loans, and if such Term Loans are
to be LIBOR Loans, the initial Interest Period for the Term Loans. Such notice shall be irrevocable once given and binding on the
Borrower. Upon receipt of such notice the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender.
(c) Funding of Term Loans. Each Lender shall deposit an amount equal to the Term Loan to be made by such Lender to the
Borrower with the Administrative Agent at the Principal Office, in immediately available funds, not later than 1:00 p.m. Eastern time on
the Effective Date. Subject to fulfillment of all applicable conditions set forth herein, the Administrative Agent shall make available to the
Borrower in the account specified by the Borrower in the Disbursement Instruction Agreement, not later than 2:00 p.m. Eastern time on
the Effective Date, the proceeds of such amounts received by the Administrative Agent. The Borrower may not reborrow any portion of
the Term Loans once repaid.
Section 2.3.[Reserved].
Section 2.4.[Reserved].
Section 2.5.Rates and Payment of Interest on Loans.
(a) Rates. The Borrower promises to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender interest on the unpaid
principal amount of each Loan made by such Lender for the period from and including the date of the making of such Loan to but
excluding the date such Loan shall be paid in full, at the following per annum rates:
(i) during such periods as such Loan is a Base Rate Loan, at the Base Rate (as in effect from time to time), plus the
Applicable Margin for Base Rate Loans; and
(ii) during such periods as such Loan is a LIBOR Loan, at LIBOR for such Loan for the Interest Period therefor, plus
the Applicable Margin for LIBOR Loans.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) automatically upon any Event of Default under Section 10.1.(a), (e) or (f) or (b) at the option of the
Requisite Lenders (upon notice to the Borrower), while any other Event of Default exists, the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative
Agent for the account of each Lender interest at the Post-Default Rate on the outstanding principal amount of any Loan made by such
Lender and on any other amount payable by the Borrower hereunder or under the Notes held by such Lender to or for the account of
such Lender (including without limitation, accrued but unpaid interest to the extent permitted under Applicable Law).

(b) Payment of Interest. All accrued and unpaid interest on the outstanding principal amount of each Loan shall be payable
(i) with respect to any Base Rate Loan, quarterly in arrears on the first day of each calendar quarter, commencing with the first full
calendar quarter occurring after the Effective Date, (ii) with respect to any LIBOR Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable
thereto and, in the case of any LIBOR Loan with an Interest Period of more than three months’ duration, each day prior to the last day of
such Interest Period that occurs at three months’ duration after the first day of such Interest Period and (iii) on any date on which the
principal balance of such Loan is due and payable in full (whether at maturity, due to acceleration or otherwise). Interest payable at the
Post-Default Rate shall be payable from time to time on demand. All determinations by the Administrative Agent of an interest rate
hereunder shall be conclusive and binding on the Lenders and the Borrower for all purposes, absent manifest error.
(c) Borrower Information Used to Determine Applicable Interest Rates. The parties understand that the applicable interest rate
for the Obligations and certain fees set forth herein may be determined and/or adjusted from time to time based upon certain financial
ratios and/or other information to be provided or certified to the Lenders by the Borrower (the “Borrower Information”). If it is

subsequently determined that any such Borrower Information was incorrect (for whatever reason, including, without limitation, because of
a subsequent restatement of earnings by the Borrower) at the time it was delivered to the Administrative Agent, and if the applicable
interest rate or fees calculated for any period were lower than they should have been had the correct information been timely provided,
then, such interest rate and such fees for such period shall be automatically recalculated using correct Borrower Information. The
Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower in writing of any additional interest and fees due because of such recalculation,
and the Borrower shall pay such additional interest or fees due to the Administrative Agent, for the account of each Lender, within 5
Business Days of receipt of such written notice. Any recalculation of interest or fees required by this provision shall survive the
termination of this Agreement, and this provision shall not in any way limit any of the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s other rights
under this Agreement.

Section 2.6.Number of Interest Periods.
There may be no more than ten (10) different Interest Periods outstanding at the same time.

Section 2.7.Repayment of Loans.
(a) [Reserved].
(b) Term Loans. The Borrower promises to repay the entire outstanding principal amount of, and all accrued but unpaid interest
on, the Term Loans on the Termination Date (or such earlier date on which the Term Loan becomes due or is declared due in accordance
with this Agreement).
Section 2.8.Prepayments.
(a) Optional. Subject to Section 4.4., the Borrower may prepay any Loan at any time without premium or penalty. The Borrower
shall give the Administrative Agent at least 3 Business Days prior written notice of the prepayment of any Loan. Each voluntary
prepayment of Loans shall be in an aggregate minimum amount of $1,000,000 and integral multiples of $500,000 in excess thereof.
(b) [Reserved].
(c) No Effect on Derivatives Contracts. No repayment or prepayment of the Loans pursuant to this Section shall affect any of
the Borrower’s obligations under any Derivatives Contracts entered into with respect to the Loans.
Section 2.9.Continuation.
So long as no Default or Event of Default exists, the Borrower may, on any Business Day, with respect to any LIBOR Loan,
elect to maintain such LIBOR Loan or any portion thereof as a LIBOR Loan by selecting a new Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan.
Each Continuation of a LIBOR Loan shall be in an aggregate minimum amount of $5,000,000 and integral multiples of $500,000 in excess
of that amount, and each new Interest Period selected under this Section shall commence on the last day of the immediately preceding
Interest Period. Each selection of a new Interest Period shall be made by the Borrower giving to the Administrative Agent a Notice of
Continuation not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time on the third Business Day prior to the date of any such Continuation. Such notice by
the Borrower of a Continuation shall be by telecopy, electronic mail or other similar form of communication in the form of a Notice of
Continuation, specifying (a) the proposed date of such Continuation, (b) the LIBOR Loans and portions thereof subject to such
Continuation and (c) the duration of the selected Interest Period, all of which shall be specified in such manner as is necessary to comply
with all limitations on Loans outstanding hereunder. Each Notice of Continuation shall be irrevocable by and binding on the Borrower once
given. Promptly after receipt of a Notice of Continuation, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender of the proposed Continuation.
If the Borrower shall fail to select in a timely manner a new Interest Period for any LIBOR Loan in accordance with this Section, such
Loan will automatically, on the last day of the current Interest Period therefor, continue as a LIBOR Loan with an Interest Period of one
month; provided, however that if a Default or Event of Default exists, unless repaid such Loan will automatically, on the last day of the
current Interest Period therefor, Convert into a Base Rate Loan notwithstanding the first sentence of Section 2.10. or the Borrower’s
failure to comply with any of the terms of such Section.

Section 2.10.Conversion.
The Borrower may, on any Business Day, upon the Borrower’s giving of a Notice of Conversion to the Administrative Agent by
telecopy, electronic mail or other similar form of communication, Convert all or a portion of a Loan of one Type into a Loan of another
Type; provided, however, a Base Rate Loan may not be Converted into a LIBOR Loan if a Default or Event of Default exists. Each
Conversion of Base Rate Loans into LIBOR Loans shall be in an aggregate minimum amount of $5,000,000 and integral multiples of
$500,000 in excess of that amount. Any Conversion of a LIBOR Loan into a Base Rate Loan shall be made on, and only on, the last day
of an Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan. Each such Notice of Conversion shall be given not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time 3
Business Days prior to the date of any proposed Conversion. Promptly after receipt of a Notice of Conversion, the Administrative Agent

shall notify each Lender of the proposed Conversion. Subject to the restrictions specified above, each Notice of Conversion shall be by
telecopy, electronic mail or other similar form of communication in the form of a Notice of Conversion specifying (a) the requested date of
such Conversion, (b) the Type of Loan to be Converted, (c) the portion of such Type of Loan to be Converted, (d) the Type of Loan such
Loan is to be Converted into and (e) if such Conversion is into a LIBOR Loan, the requested duration of the Interest Period of such Loan.
If the Borrower shall elect a conversion to LIBOR Loans but fails to select an Interest Period for any LIBOR Loan in accordance with
this Section, the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month. Each Notice of Conversion shall be
irrevocable by and binding on the Borrower once given.

Section 2.11.Notes.
(a) Notes. To the extent requested by any Lender, the Term Loan made by such Lender shall, in addition to this Agreement, also
be evidenced by a Note, payable to the order of such Lender in a principal amount equal to the amount of its Term Loan and otherwise
duly completed.
(b) Records. The date, amount, interest rate, Type and duration of Interest Periods (if applicable) of each Loan made by each
Lender to the Borrower, and each payment made on account of the principal thereof, shall be evidenced by one or more accounts or
records maintained by such Lender and by the Administrative Agent in the ordinary course of business. The accounts or records
maintained by the Administrative Agent and each Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Any failure to so record or any error
in doing so shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder to pay any amount owing with respect to
the Obligations. In the event of any conflict between the accounts and records maintained by any Lender and the accounts and records of
the Administrative Agent in respect of such matters, the accounts and records of the Administrative Agent shall control in the absence of
manifest error.
(c) Lost, Stolen, Destroyed or Mutilated Notes. Upon receipt by the Borrower of (i) written notice from a Lender that a Note of
such Lender has been lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated, and (ii)(A) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, an unsecured agreement of
indemnity from such Lender in form reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower, or (B) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender and
cancellation of such Note, the Borrower shall at its own expense execute and deliver to such Lender a new Note dated the date of such
lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note.
Section 2.12.[Reserved].
Section 2.13.[Reserved].
Section 2.14.[Reserved].
Section 2.15.[Reserved].
Section 2.16.Additional Term Loan Advances.
(a) The Borrower shall have the right to request Additional Term Loan Advances in respect of the Term Loan Facility (the
“Incremental Term Loans” or the “Incremental Facility”) by providing written notice to the Administrative Agent, which notice shall
be irrevocable once given; provided, however, that the aggregate amount of all Incremental Facilities shall not exceed $300,000,000. Each
such Incremental Facility must be an aggregate minimum amount of $25,000,000 and integral multiples of $5,000,000 in excess thereof.
The Administrative Agent, in consultation with the Borrower, shall manage all aspects of the syndication of such Incremental Facility,
including decisions as to the selection of the existing Lenders and/or other banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders to be
approached with respect to such Incremental Facility and the allocations of the Commitments under such Incremental Facility among such
existing Lenders and/or other banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, participation in all
or any portion of such Incremental Facility may be offered by the Administrative Agent to any existing Lender selected by the Borrower
or to any other bank, financial institution or other institutional lender selected by the Borrower, subject to the approval of the
Administrative Agent, in each case to the extent set forth in clause (w) of subsection (f) below. No Lender shall be obligated in any way
whatsoever to provide any Incremental Facility, and any new Lender becoming a party to this Agreement in connection with any such
Incremental Facility must be an Eligible Assignee.

(b) [Reserved].
(c) If pursuant to this Section 2.16. one or more Additional Lenders shall agree to make an applicable Additional Term Loan
Advance, such Additional Term Loan Advance shall be made, on a date agreed to by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the
Additional Lenders, in accordance with the following conditions and procedures:

(i) Not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time on the proposed date of a borrowing of Base Rate Loans comprising all or a
portion of an Additional Term Loan Advance and not later than 11:00 a.m. Eastern time at least three (3) Business Days prior to a
borrowing of LIBOR Loans comprising all or a portion of an Additional Term Loan Advance, the Borrower shall deliver to the
Administrative Agent (A) a Notice of Borrowing with respect to such Additional Term Loan Advance and (B) Notices of
Continuation and/or Notices of Conversion with respect to the then outstanding Term Loans, such that, on the date of such
Additional Term Loan Advance, the Term Loans then outstanding and such Additional Term Loan Advance shall be combined so
that all Lenders (including such Additional Lenders) hold pro rata amounts of each portion of the Term Loans (including such
Additional Term Loan Advance) of each Type and Interest Period. Each such Notice of Borrowing, Notice of Conversion and
Notice of Continuation shall specify the Type of such Term Loan (or Additional Term Loan Advance, as applicable), and if such
portion of such Term Loan (or Additional Term Loan Advance, as applicable), is to be a LIBOR Loan, the Interest Period
therefor, all in accordance with the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence. Such notices shall be irrevocable once given
and binding on the Borrower.
(ii) Each Additional Lender shall deposit an amount equal to its applicable Additional Term Loan Advances with the
Administrative Agent at the Principal Office, in immediately available funds not later than 1:00 p.m. Eastern time on the date on
which it has agreed to make such Additional Term Loan Advance. Subject to fulfillment of all applicable conditions set forth
herein, the Administrative Agent shall make available to the Borrower at the Principal Office, not later than 2:00 p.m. Eastern
time on such date the proceeds of such amounts received by the Administrative Agent.
(iii) The Borrower shall pay to the Lenders amounts payable, if any, to such Lenders under Section 4.4. as a result of the
Conversion of any portion of the Term Loans as provided above.
(d) Incremental Term Loans may be made hereunder pursuant to an amendment or an amendment and restatement (an
“Incremental Facility Amendment”) of this Agreement and, as appropriate, the other Loan Documents, executed by the Borrower,
each Lender participating in such Incremental Facility and the Administrative Agent. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
Section 12.6., the Incremental Facility Amendment may, without the consent of any other Lenders, effect such amendments to this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents as may be necessary or appropriate, in the reasonable opinion of the Administrative Agent, to
effect the provisions of this Section 2.16. Each Incremental Term Loan will mature and amortize in a manner reasonably acceptable to the
Administrative Agent, each Lender participating in such Incremental Facility and the Borrower, but will not in any event have a shorter
weighted average life to maturity than the remaining weighted average life to maturity of the initial Term Loans hereunder or a maturity
date earlier than the Termination Date.

(e) Loans made pursuant to any Incremental Facility shall rank pari passu in right of payment, and shall be guaranteed on a pari
passu basis, with the Term Loans.
(f) The effectiveness of Incremental Facilities under this Section are subject to the following conditions precedent: (w) the
approval of any new Lender (other than an Eligible Assignee) by the Administrative Agent, (x) no Default or Event of Default shall be in
existence on the effective date of such Incremental Facility, (y) the representations and warranties made or deemed made by the
Borrower and any other Loan Party in any Loan Document to which such Loan Party is a party shall be true and correct in all material
respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall
be true and correct in all respects) on the effective date of such increase except to the extent that such representations and warranties
expressly relate solely to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material
respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall
be true and correct in all respects) on and as of such earlier date), and (z) the Administrative Agent shall have received each of the
following, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent: (i) if not previously delivered to the Administrative
Agent, copies certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of (A) all corporate or other necessary action taken by the Borrower to
authorize such Incremental Facility and (B) all corporate or other necessary action taken by each Guarantor authorizing the guaranty of
such Incremental Facility; (ii) a supplement to this Agreement executed by the Borrower and any Lender providing such Incremental
Facility which supplement may include such amendments to this Agreement as the Administrative Agent deems reasonably necessary or
appropriate to implement the transactions contemplated by this Section 2.16., together with the consent of the Guarantors thereto; (iii) an
opinion of counsel to the Borrower and the Guarantors, and addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders covering such matters
as reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent; and (iv) if requested by any Additional Lender, a new Note or replacement Note
executed by the Borrower payable to such Additional Lender in the amount of such Lender’s Term Loans. In connection with any
Incremental Facility pursuant to this Section 2.16., any Lender becoming a party hereto shall (1) execute such documents and agreements
as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request and (2) in the case of any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction
outside of the United States of America, provide to the Administrative Agent, its name, address, tax identification number and/or such
other information as shall be necessary for the Administrative Agent to comply with “know your customer” and anti-money laundering
rules and regulations, including without limitation, the Patriot Act.

Section 2.17.Funds Transfer Disbursements.
The Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to disburse the proceeds of any Loan made by the Lenders or any of
their Affiliates pursuant to the Loan Documents as requested by an authorized representative of the Borrower to any of the accounts
designated in the Disbursement Instruction Agreement.

ARTICLE III. Payments, Fees and Other General Provisions
Section 3.1.Payments.
(a) Payments by Borrower. Except to the extent otherwise provided herein, all payments of principal, interest, Fees and other
amounts to be made by the Borrower under this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Document shall be made in Dollars, in
immediately available funds, without setoff, deduction or counterclaim (excluding Taxes required to be withheld pursuant to Section 3.10.),
to the Administrative Agent at the Principal Office, not later than 1:00 p.m. Eastern time on the date on which such payment shall become
due (each such payment made after such time on such due date to be deemed to have been made on the next succeeding Business Day).
Subject to Section 10.5., the Borrower shall, at the time of making each payment under this Agreement or any other Loan Document,
specify to the Administrative Agent the amounts payable by the Borrower hereunder to which such payment is to be applied. Each
payment received by the Administrative Agent for the account of a Lender under this Agreement or any Note shall be paid to such
Lender by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with the wiring instructions provided by such Lender to the
Administrative Agent from time to time, for the account of such Lender at the applicable Lending Office of such Lender. If the due date
of any payment under this Agreement or any other Loan Document would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, such date
shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and interest shall continue to accrue at the rate, if any, applicable to such payment
for the period of such extension.
(b) Presumptions Regarding Payments by Borrower. Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the
Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the
Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in
accordance herewith and may (but shall not be obligated to), in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due.
In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the
Administrative Agent on demand that amount so distributed to such Lender, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date
such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Rate
and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.
Section 3.2.Pro Rata Treatment.
Except to the extent otherwise provided herein: (a) [reserved]; (b) [reserved]; (c) the making of Term Loans under Section 2.2.
(a) shall be made from the Lenders, pro rata according to the amounts of their respective Term Loan Commitments; (d) each payment or
prepayment of principal of Term Loans shall be made for the account of the Lenders pro rata in accordance with the respective unpaid
principal amounts of the Term Loans held by them; (e) each payment of interest on Term Loans shall be made for the account of the
Lenders, pro rata in accordance with the amounts of interest on such Term Loans then due and payable to the respective Lenders; and
(f) the Conversion and Continuation of Term Loans of a particular Type (other than Conversions provided for by Sections 4.1.(c) and 4.5.)
shall be made pro rata among the Lenders, according to the amounts of their respective Term Loans, and the then current Interest Period
for each Lender’s portion of each such Loan of such Type shall be coterminous.

Section 3.3.Sharing of Payments by Lenders.
If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or
interest on any of its Loans or other Obligations owing to such Lender (other than Specified Derivatives Obligations) resulting in such
Lender receiving payment of a proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon or other such Obligation
greater than the share thereof as provided in Section 3.2. or Section 10.5., as applicable, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion
shall (a) notify the Administrative Agent of such fact, and (b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans and such other
Obligations owing to the other Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable, so that the benefit of all such payments shall
be shared by the applicable Lenders ratably in accordance with Section 3.2. or Section 10.5., as applicable; provided that:

(i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such
participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest; and
(ii) the provisions of this Section shall not be construed to apply to (x) any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to
and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement (including the application of funds arising from the existence of a
Defaulting Lender) or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of, or sale of a participation in,

any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates (as to which the
provisions of this Section shall apply).
The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under Applicable Law, that any Lender
acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may, subject to Section 12.3., exercise against the Borrower rights of
setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount
of such participation.

Section 3.4.Several Obligations.
No Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make a Loan or to perform any other obligation to be made
or performed by such other Lender hereunder, and the failure of any Lender to make a Loan or to perform any other obligation to be
made or performed by it hereunder shall not relieve the obligation of any other Lender to make any Loan or to perform any other
obligation to be made or performed by such other Lender.

Section 3.5.Fees.
(a) Closing Fee. On the Effective Date, the Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, each Arranger and each
Lender all fees then due and payable as have been agreed to in writing by the Borrower, the Arrangers and the Administrative Agent in
the Fee Letters or otherwise.
(b) [Reserved].
(c) [Reserved].
(d) [Reserved].
(e) Administrative and Other Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay the administrative and other fees of the Administrative Agent
as provided in the Wells Fargo Fee Letter and as may be otherwise agreed to in writing from time to time by the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent.
Section 3.6.Computations.
Unless otherwise expressly set forth herein, any accrued interest on any Loan, any Fees or any other Obligations due hereunder
shall be computed for the actual number of days elapsed on the basis of a year of 365 days, except interest on Base Rate Loans shall be
computed on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable.

Section 3.7.Usury.
In no event shall the amount of interest due or payable on the Loans or other Obligations exceed the maximum rate of interest
allowed by Applicable Law and, if any such payment is paid by the Borrower or any other Loan Party or received by any Lender, then
such excess sum shall be credited as a payment of principal, unless the Borrower shall notify the respective Lender in writing that the
Borrower elects to have such excess sum returned to it forthwith. It is the express intent of the parties hereto that the Borrower not pay
and the Lenders not receive, directly or indirectly, in any manner whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may be lawfully paid by the
Borrower under Applicable Law. The parties hereto hereby agree and stipulate that the only charge imposed upon the Borrower for the
use of money in connection with this Agreement is and shall be the interest specifically described in Section 2.5.(a)(i) and (ii).
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties hereto further agree and stipulate that all agency fees, syndication fees, facility fees, closing
fees, underwriting fees, default charges, late charges, funding or “breakage” charges, increased cost charges, attorneys’ fees and
reimbursement for costs and expenses paid by the Administrative Agent or any Lender to third parties or for damages incurred by the
Administrative Agent or any Lender, in each case, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, are charges made to compensate the Administrative Agent or any such Lender for underwriting or administrative services
and costs or losses performed or incurred, and to be performed or incurred, by the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in connection
with this Agreement and shall under no circumstances be deemed to be charges for the use of money. All charges other than charges for
the use of money shall be fully earned and nonrefundable when due.

Section 3.8.Statements of Account.
The Administrative Agent will account to the Borrower monthly with a statement of Loans, accrued interest and Fees, charges
and payments made pursuant to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and such account rendered by the Administrative Agent
shall be deemed conclusive upon the Borrower absent manifest error. The failure of the Administrative Agent to deliver such a statement
of accounts shall not relieve or discharge the Borrower from any of its obligations hereunder.

Section 3.9.Defaulting Lenders.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until
such time as such Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law:

(a) Waivers and Amendments. Such Defaulting Lender’s right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent with
respect to this Agreement shall be restricted as set forth in the definition of Requisite Lenders and in Section 12.6.
(b) Defaulting Lender Waterfall. Any payment of principal, interest, Fees or other amounts received by the Administrative
Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Article X. or otherwise) or
received by the Administrative Agent from a Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 12.3. shall be applied at such time or times as may be
determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the
Administrative Agent hereunder; second, as the Borrower may request (so long as no Default or Event of Default exists), to the funding
of any Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion thereof as required by this Agreement, as
determined by the Administrative Agent; third, to the payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court
of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its
obligations under this Agreement; fourth, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to the payment of any amounts owing to the
Borrower as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a
result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and fifth, to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise
directed by a court of competent jurisdiction; provided that if (x) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any Loans, in
respect of which such Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share, and (y) such Loans were made at a time when the
conditions set forth in Article V. were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be applied solely to pay the Loans of all Non-Defaulting
Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being applied to the payment of any Loans of such Defaulting Lender until such time as all Term
Loans are held by the Lenders pro rata as if there had been no Lenders that are Defaulting Lenders. Any payments, prepayments or other
amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this
subsection shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents thereto.
(c) [Reserved].
(d) [Reserved].
(e) [Reserved].
(f) Defaulting Lender Cure. If the Borrower and the Administrative Agent agree in writing that a Lender is no longer a
Defaulting Lender, the Administrative Agent will so notify the parties hereto, whereupon as of the effective date specified in such notice
and subject to any conditions set forth therein, that Lender will, to the extent applicable, purchase at par that portion of outstanding Loans
of the other Lenders or take such other actions as the Administrative Agent may determine to be necessary to cause the Term Loans to
be held by the Lenders pro rata as if there had been no Lenders that were Defaulting Lenders, whereupon such Lender will cease to be a
Defaulting Lender; provided that no adjustments will be made retroactively with respect to Fees accrued or payments made by or on
behalf of the Borrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that, subject to Section 12.19., except to the
extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver
or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender.
(g) [Reserved].
(h) Purchase of Defaulting Lender’s Commitment/Loans. During any period that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender, the Borrower
may, by the Borrower’s giving written notice thereof to the Administrative Agent, such Defaulting Lender and the other Lenders, demand
that such Defaulting Lender, and upon such demand such Defaulting Lender shall promptly, so long as such assignment shall not conflict
with Applicable Law, assign its Commitment and Loans and all of its other interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement and the
Loan Documents to an Eligible Assignee subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.5.(b). No party hereto shall have
any obligation whatsoever to initiate any such replacement or to assist in finding an Eligible Assignee. In addition, any Lender who is not a
Defaulting Lender may, but shall not be obligated, in its sole discretion, to acquire the face amount of all or a portion of such Defaulting
Lender’s Commitment and Loans via an assignment subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.5.(b). In connection
with any such assignment, such Defaulting Lender shall promptly execute all documents reasonably requested to effect such assignment,
including an appropriate Assignment and Assumption and, notwithstanding Section 12.5.(b), shall pay to the Administrative Agent an
assignment fee in the amount of $7,500. The exercise by the Borrower of its rights under this Section shall be at the Borrower’s sole cost
and expense and at no cost or expense to the Administrative Agent or any of the Lenders.
Section 3.10.Taxes.

(a) [Reserved].
(b) Payments Free of Taxes. Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower or any other Loan Party
under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, except as required by Applicable Law. If any
Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable Withholding Agent) requires the deduction or withholding of
any Tax from any such payment by a Withholding Agent, then the applicable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to make such deduction
or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with
Applicable Law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the Borrower or other applicable Loan Party shall be
increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable
to additional sums payable under this Section) the applicable Recipient receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no
such deduction or withholding been made.
(c) Payment of Other Taxes by the Borrower. The Borrower and the other Loan Parties shall timely pay to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law, or at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the
payment of, any Other Taxes.
(d) Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower and the other Loan Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify each
Recipient, within 15 days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or
asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable or paid by such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted
from a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such
Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount
of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative
Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
(e) Indemnification by the Lenders. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent, within 10 days after
demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower or another Loan
Party has not already indemnified the Administrative Agent for such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower
and the other Loan Parties to do so), (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 12.5.
relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are
payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or
with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A
certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent
manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to
such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against
any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this subsection. The provisions of this subsection shall continue to inure to the benefit
of an Administrative Agent following its resignation as Administrative Agent.
(f) Evidence of Payments. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrower or any other Loan Party to a
Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section, the Borrower or such other Loan Party shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the
original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting
such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
(g) Status of Lenders.
(i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made
under any Loan Document shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested
by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of
withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other
documentation prescribed by Applicable Law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will enable
the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or
information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion,
execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in the immediately following clauses (ii)
(A), (ii)(B) and (ii)(D)) shall not be required if in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission
would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial
position of such Lender.
(ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to
the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), an electronic copy (or an original if requested by the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent) of an executed IRS Form W-9 (or any successor form) certifying that such
Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;
(B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which
such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable
request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the following is applicable:
(I) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United
States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under any Loan Document, an electronic copy (or an
original if requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent) of an executed IRS Form W-8BEN, or W8BEN-E, as applicable, establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to
the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan
Document, IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, as applicable, establishing an exemption from, or reduction of,
U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or “other income” article of such tax treaty;
(II) an electronic copy (or an original if requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent) of an
executed IRS Form W-8ECI;
(III) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under
Section 881(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit K-1 to the
effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Internal
Revenue Code, a “10 percent shareholder” of the Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the
Internal Revenue Code, or a “controlled foreign corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Internal
Revenue Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) an electronic copy (or an original if requested
by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent) of IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, as applicable; or
(IV) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner, an electronic copy (or an original if
requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent) of an executed IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by
IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E, as applicable, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate
substantially in the form of Exhibit K-2 or Exhibit K-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents from
each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct
or indirect partners of such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lender
may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit K-4 on behalf of each such
direct and indirect partner;
(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which
such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable
request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), an electronic copy (or an original if requested by the Borrower or
the Administrative Agent) of any other form prescribed by Applicable Law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a
reduction in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be
prescribed by Applicable Law to permit the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or
deduction required to be made; and
(D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax
imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA
(including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable), such Lender shall
deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by Applicable Law and at such time
or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by Applicable
Law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Internal Revenue Code) and such additional
documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has
complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such

payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (D), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date
of this Agreement.
Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it
shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do
so.

(h) Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a
refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant
to this Section), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made
under this Section with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such
indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund).
Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant
to this subsection (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such
indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
subsection, in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this subsection the
payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the indemnified party would have been
in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the
indemnification payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid. This subsection shall not be construed to
require any indemnified party to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to
the indemnifying party or any other Person.
(i) Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent
or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or
discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.
ARTICLE IV. Yield Protection, Etc.
Section 4.1.Additional Costs; Capital Adequacy.
(a) Capital Adequacy. If any Lender determines that any Regulatory Change affecting such Lender or any lending office of
such Lender or such Lender’s holding company, if any, regarding capital or liquidity ratios or requirements, has or would have the effect of
reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s capital or on the capital of such Lender’s holding company, if any, as a consequence of this
Agreement, the Commitments of such Lender or the Loans made by such Lender, to a level below that which such Lender or such
Lender’s holding company could have achieved but for such Regulatory Change (taking into consideration such Lender’s policies and the
policies of such Lender’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time the Borrower will pay to
such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender’s holding company for any such
reduction suffered.
(b) Additional Costs. In addition to, and not in limitation of the immediately preceding subsection (a), the Borrower shall promptly
pay to the Administrative Agent on its own account or for the account of a Lender from time to time such amounts as the Administrative
Agent or such Lender may determine to be necessary to compensate the Administrative Agent or such Lender for any costs incurred by
the Administrative Agent or such Lender that it determines are attributable to its making of or maintaining, continuing or converting any
Loans or its obligation to make, maintain, continue or convert any Loans hereunder, any reduction in any amount receivable by the
Administrative Agent or such Lender under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents in respect of any of such Loans or such
obligation or the maintenance by the Administrative Agent or such Lender of capital or liquidity in respect of its Loans or its Commitments
(such increases in costs and reductions in amounts receivable being herein called “Additional Costs”), resulting from any Regulatory
Change that:
(i) changes the basis of taxation of any amounts payable to the Administrative Agent or such Lender under this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents in respect of any of such Loans or its Commitments (other than Indemnified
Taxes, Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and Connection Income Taxes);
(ii) imposes or modifies any reserve, special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirements (other
than Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or other similar reserve requirement applicable to
any other category of liabilities or category of extensions of credit or other assets by reference to which the interest rate on
LIBOR Loans is determined to the extent utilized when determining LIBOR for such Loans) relating to any extensions of credit
or other assets of, or any deposits with or other liabilities of, or other credit extended by, or any other acquisition of funds by such
Lender (or its parent corporation), or any commitment of such Lender (including, without limitation, the Commitments of such

Lender hereunder); or

(iii) imposes on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes)
affecting this Agreement or the Loans made by such Lender.
(c) Lender’s Suspension of LIBOR Loans. Without limiting the effect of the provisions of the immediately preceding
subsections (a) and (b), if by reason of any Regulatory Change, any Lender either (i) incurs Additional Costs based on or measured by the
excess above a specified level of the amount of a category of deposits or other liabilities of such Lender that includes deposits by
reference to which the interest rate on LIBOR Loans is determined as provided in this Agreement or a category of extensions of credit or
other assets of such Lender that includes LIBOR Loans or (ii) becomes subject to restrictions on the amount of such a category of
liabilities or assets that it may hold, then, if such Lender so elects by notice to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), the
obligation of such Lender to make or Continue, or to Convert Base Rate Loans into, LIBOR Loans hereunder shall be suspended until
such Regulatory Change ceases to be in effect (in which case the provisions of Section 4.5. shall apply).
(d) [Reserved].
(e) Notification and Determination of Additional Costs. Each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, as the case may be,
agrees to notify the Borrower (and in the case of a Lender, to notify the Administrative Agent) of any event occurring after the
Agreement Date entitling the Administrative Agent or such Lender to compensation under any of the preceding subsections of this Section
as promptly as practicable. The failure of the Administrative Agent or any Lender to give such notice shall not release the Borrower from
any of its obligations hereunder; provided, however, that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this
Section for any increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine months prior to the date that such Lender notifies the
Borrower of the Regulatory Change giving rise to such increased costs or reductions, and of such Lender’s intention to claim
compensation therefor (except that, if the Regulatory Change giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the ninemonth period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof). The Administrative Agent and each
Lender, as the case may be, agrees to furnish to the Borrower (and in the case of a Lender, to the Administrative Agent as well) a
certificate setting forth the basis and amount of each request for compensation under this Section. Determinations by the Administrative
Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, of the effect of any Regulatory Change shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent
manifest error. The Borrower shall pay the Administrative Agent and/or any such Lender, as the case may be, the amount shown as due
on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.
Section 4.2.Suspension of LIBOR Loans.
(a) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if, on or prior to the determination of LIBOR for any Interest Period:
(i) the Administrative Agent shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive) that reasonable and adequate
means do not exist for ascertaining LIBOR for such Interest Period;
(ii) the Administrative Agent reasonably determines (which determination shall be conclusive) that quotations of interest
rates for the relevant deposits referred to in the definition of LIBOR are not being provided in the relevant amounts or for the
relevant maturities for purposes of determining rates of interest for LIBOR Loans as provided herein; or
(iii) the Administrative Agent reasonably determines (which determination shall be conclusive) that the relevant rates of
interest referred to in the definition of LIBOR upon the basis of which the rate of interest for LIBOR Loans for such Interest
Period is to be determined are not likely to adequately cover the cost to any Lender of making or maintaining LIBOR Loans for
such Interest Period;
then the Administrative Agent shall give the Borrower and each Lender prompt notice thereof and, so long as such condition remains in
effect, the Lenders shall be under no obligation to, and shall not, make additional LIBOR Loans, Continue LIBOR Loans or Convert
Loans into LIBOR Loans and the Borrower shall, on the last day of each current Interest Period for each outstanding LIBOR Loan,
either prepay such Loan or Convert such Loan into a Base Rate Loan.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 4.2.(a) above, if the Administrative Agent has made the determination
(such determination to be conclusive absent manifest error) that (i) the circumstances described in Section 4.2.(a)(i) or (a)(ii) have arisen
and that such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary, (ii) any applicable interest rate specified herein is no longer a widely recognized
benchmark rate for newly originated loans in the U.S. syndicated loan market in the applicable currency or (iii) the applicable supervisor or
administrator (if any) of any applicable interest rate specified herein or any Governmental Authority having, or purporting to have,
jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which any applicable interest rate
specified herein shall no longer be used for determining interest rates for loans in the U.S. syndicated loan market in the applicable

currency, then the Administrative Agent may, to the extent practicable (as determined by the Administrative Agent to be generally in
accordance with similar situations in other transactions in which it is serving as administrative agent or otherwise consistent with market
practice generally), in good faith consultation with the Borrower following notice to the Borrower, establish a replacement interest rate
(the “Replacement Rate”), in which case, the Replacement Rate shall, subject to the next two sentences, replace such applicable
interest rate for all purposes under the Loan Documents unless and until (A) an event described in Section 4.2.(a)(i), (a)(ii), (b)(i), (b)(ii) or
(b)(iii) occurs with respect to the Replacement Rate or (B) the Requisite Lenders (directly, or through the Administrative Agent) notify
the Borrower that the Replacement Rate does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funding the Loans bearing
interest at the Replacement Rate. In connection with the establishment and application of the Replacement Rate, this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents shall be amended solely with the consent of the Administrative Agent and the Borrower, as may be necessary or
appropriate, in the reasonable opinion of the Administrative Agent, to effect the provisions of this Section 4.2.(b). Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents (including, without limitation, Section 12.6.), such amendment
shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as the Administrative Agent
shall not have received, within five (5) Business Days of the delivery of such amendment to the Lenders, written notices from such
Lenders that in the aggregate constitute Requisite Lenders, with each such notice stating that such Lender objects to such amendment. To
the extent the Replacement Rate is approved by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower in connection with this clause (b), the
Replacement Rate shall consist of an interest rate consistent with and shall be applied in a manner consistent with market practice;
provided that, in each case, to the extent such market practice is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, such
Replacement Rate shall be applied as otherwise reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent in good faith consultation with the
Borrower (it being understood that any such modification by the Administrative Agent shall not require the consent of, or consultation with,
any of the Lenders).

Section 4.3.Illegality.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if any Lender shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive
and binding) that it is unlawful for such Lender to honor its obligation to make or maintain LIBOR Loans hereunder, then such Lender
shall promptly notify the Borrower thereof (with a copy of such notice to the Administrative Agent) and such Lender’s obligation to make
or Continue, or to Convert Loans of any other Type into, LIBOR Loans shall be suspended until such time as such Lender may again
make and maintain LIBOR Loans (in which case the provisions of Section 4.5. shall be applicable).

Section 4.4.Compensation.
The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender, upon the request of the Administrative
Agent, such amount or amounts as the Administrative Agent shall determine in its sole discretion shall be sufficient to compensate such
Lender for any loss, cost or expense attributable to (or reasonably expected to be incurred in connection with):

(i) any payment or prepayment (whether mandatory or optional) of a LIBOR Loan, or Conversion of a LIBOR Loan,
made by such Lender for any reason (including, without limitation, acceleration or the exercise by the Borrower of its rights under
Section 4.6.) on a date other than the last day of the Interest Period for such Loan; or
(ii) any failure by the Borrower for any reason (including, without limitation, the failure of any of the applicable
conditions precedent specified in Section 5.2. to be satisfied) to borrow a LIBOR Loan from such Lender on the date for such
borrowing, or to Convert a Base Rate Loan into a LIBOR Loan or Continue a LIBOR Loan on the requested date of such
Conversion or Continuation.
Not in limitation of the foregoing, such compensation shall include, without limitation, in the case of a LIBOR Loan, an amount equal to the
then present value of (A) the amount of interest that would have accrued on such LIBOR Loan for the remainder of the Interest Period at
the rate applicable to such LIBOR Loan, less (B) the amount of interest that would accrue on the same LIBOR Loan for the same period
if LIBOR were set on the date on which such LIBOR Loan was repaid, prepaid or Converted or the date on which the Borrower failed to
borrow, Convert or Continue such LIBOR Loan, as applicable, calculating present value by using as a discount rate LIBOR quoted on
such date. The Borrower shall also pay any customary administrative fees charged by such Lender in connection with the foregoing.
Upon the Borrower’s request, the Administrative Agent shall provide the Borrower with a statement setting forth the basis for requesting
such compensation and the method for determining the amount thereof. Any such statement shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

Section 4.5.Treatment of Affected Loans.
If the obligation of any Lender to make LIBOR Loans or to Continue, or to Convert Base Rate Loans into, LIBOR Loans shall be
suspended pursuant to Section 4.1.(c), Section 4.2., or Section 4.3., then such Lender’s LIBOR Loans shall be automatically Converted
into Base Rate Loans on the last day(s) of the then current Interest Period(s) for LIBOR Loans (or, in the case of a Conversion required
by Section 4.1.(c), Section 4.2., or Section 4.3., on such earlier date as such Lender or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, may
specify to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent, as applicable)) and, unless and until such Lender or the Administrative
Agent, as applicable, gives notice as provided below that the circumstances specified in Section 4.1., Section 4.2. or Section 4.3. that gave

rise to such Conversion no longer exist:

(i) to the extent that such Lender’s LIBOR Loans have been so Converted, all payments and prepayments of principal
that would otherwise be applied to such Lender’s LIBOR Loans shall be applied instead to its Base Rate Loans; and
(ii) all Loans that would otherwise be made or Continued by such Lender as LIBOR Loans shall be made or Continued
instead as Base Rate Loans, and all Base Rate Loans of such Lender that would otherwise be Converted into LIBOR Loans shall
remain as Base Rate Loans.
If such Lender or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, gives notice to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent, as
applicable) that the circumstances specified in Section 4.1.(c), Section 4.2. or Section 4.3. that gave rise to the Conversion of such
Lender’s LIBOR Loans pursuant to this Section no longer exist (which such Lender or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, agrees to
do promptly upon such circumstances ceasing to exist) at a time when LIBOR Loans made by other Lenders are outstanding, then such
Lender’s Base Rate Loans shall be automatically Converted, on the first day(s) of the next succeeding Interest Period(s) for such
outstanding LIBOR Loans, to the extent necessary so that, after giving effect thereto, all Loans held by the Lenders holding LIBOR
Loans and by such Lender are held pro rata (as to principal amounts, Types and Interest Periods) in accordance with their respective Pro
Rata Shares.

Section 4.6.Replacement of Lenders.
If (a) a Lender requests compensation pursuant to Section 3.10. or 4.1., and the Requisite Lenders are not also doing the same or
(b) the obligation of any Lender to make LIBOR Loans or to Continue, or to Convert Base Rate Loans into, LIBOR Loans shall be
suspended pursuant to Section 4.1.(c) or 4.3. but the obligation of the Requisite Lenders shall not have been suspended under such
Sections, and in the case of clause (a) or (b) such Lender has declined or is unable to designate a different Lending Office in accordance
with Section 4.7., or (c) a Lender is a Defaulting Lender or a Non-Consenting Lender, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and
effort, so long as there does not then exist any Default or Event of Default, demand that such Lender, and upon such demand such Lender
shall promptly, assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents
required by, Section 12.5.(b)), all of its interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Section 3.10. or Section 4.1.
and rights to indemnification under Section 12.9.) and obligations under this Agreement and the related Loan Documents to an Eligible
Assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that:

(i) the Borrower shall have paid to the Administrative Agent the assignment fee (if any) specified in Section 12.5.(b)(iv);
(ii) such Lender shall have received payment of (x) the aggregate principal balance of all Loans then owing to such
Lender, plus (y) any accrued but unpaid interest thereon and accrued but unpaid fees owing to such Lender, or any other amount
as may be mutually agreed upon by such Lender and Eligible Assignee;
(iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 4.1. or payments required
to be made pursuant to Section 3.10., such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or payments thereafter;
(iv) such assignment does not conflict with Applicable Law; and
(v) in the case of any assignment resulting from a Lender becoming a Non-Consenting Lender, the applicable assignee
shall have consented to the applicable consent, approval, amendment or waiver.
A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or
otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

Section 4.7.Change of Lending Office.
If any Lender (i) requests compensation under Section 4.1., (ii) requires the Borrower to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional
amounts to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 3.10., or (iii) determines
pursuant to Section 4.3. that it is unlawful for such Lender to make LIBOR Loans hereunder, then such Lender shall (at the written
request of the Borrower) use reasonable efforts to designate a different Lending Office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to
assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such
designation or assignment (a) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 3.10. or Section 4.1. or avoid such illegality
pursuant to Section 4.3., as the case may be, in the future, and (b) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense
and would not otherwise be materially disadvantageous to such Lender. In the event that the Borrower desires to request that any such
affected Lender designate a different Lending Office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations
hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, the Borrower may request and such Lender shall provide the Borrower with a
good faith estimate of the reasonable costs and expenses that such Lender expects to incur in connection with any such designation or
assignment. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such

designation or assignment.

Section 4.8.Assumptions Concerning Funding of LIBOR Loans.
Calculation of all amounts payable to a Lender under this Article shall be made as though such Lender had actually funded
LIBOR Loans through the purchase of deposits in the relevant market bearing interest at the rate applicable to such LIBOR Loans in an
amount equal to the amount of such LIBOR Loans and having a maturity comparable to the relevant Interest Period; provided, however,
that each Lender may fund each of its LIBOR Loans in any manner it sees fit and the foregoing assumption shall be used only for
calculation of amounts payable under this Article.

ARTICLE V. Conditions Precedent
Section 5.1.Initial Conditions Precedent.
The obligation of the Lenders to effect or permit the occurrence of the first Credit Event hereunder, including the making of a
Loan, is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions precedent:

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received each of the following, in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent:

(i) counterparts of this Agreement executed by each of the parties hereto;
(ii) Notes executed by the Borrower, payable to each applicable Lender that has requested that it receive Notes,
complying with the terms of Section 2.11.(a);
(iii) the Guaranty executed by each of the Guarantors initially to be a party thereto;
(iv) an opinion of Dentons US LLP, counsel to the Borrower and the other Loan Parties, addressed to the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders and covering such matters as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request;
(v) the certificate or articles of incorporation or formation, articles of organization, certificate of limited partnership,
declaration of trust or other comparable organizational instrument (if any) of each Loan Party certified as of a recent date by the
Secretary of State of the state of formation of such Loan Party;
(vi) a certificate of good standing (or certificate of similar meaning) with respect to each Loan Party issued as of a
recent date by the Secretary of State of the state of formation of each such Loan Party and certificates of qualification to transact
business or other comparable certificates issued as of a recent date by each Secretary of State (and any state department of
taxation, as applicable) of each state in which such Loan Party is required to be so qualified and where failure to be so qualified
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
(vii) a certificate of incumbency signed by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary (or other individual performing similar
functions) of each Loan Party with respect to each of the officers of such Loan Party authorized to execute and deliver the Loan
Documents to which such Loan Party is a party, and in the case of the Borrower, authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of
the Borrower Notices of Borrowing, Notices of Conversion and Notices of Continuation;
(viii) copies certified by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary (or other individual performing similar functions) of each
Loan Party of (A) the by-laws of such Loan Party, if a corporation, the operating agreement, if a limited liability company, the
partnership agreement, if a limited or general partnership, or other comparable document in the case of any other form of legal
entity and (B) all corporate, partnership, member or other necessary action taken by such Loan Party to authorize the execution,
delivery and performance of the Loan Documents to which it is a party;
(ix) a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower certifying (A) that the conditions specified in
Sections 5.1.(b)-(g) and 5.2. have been satisfied and (B) that the Properties identified in Schedule 6.1.(f)(ii) satisfy the
requirements for inclusion in the calculation of Unencumbered Asset Value under this Agreement;
(x) a Compliance Certificate calculated on a pro forma basis for the Borrower’s fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2018;
(xi) a Disbursement Instruction Agreement effective as of the Agreement Date;
(xii) [reserved];

(xiii) to the extent reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, copies of all Material Contracts, Specified
Derivatives Contracts and Specified Cash Management Agreements, in existence on the Agreement Date;
(xiv) evidence that the Fees, if any, then due and payable under Section 3.5., together with all other fees, expenses and
reimbursement amounts due and payable to the Administrative Agent, the Arrangers and any of the Lenders, including, without
limitation, the fees and expenses of counsel to the Administrative Agent, have been paid; and
(xv) such other documents, agreements and instruments as the Administrative Agent, or any Lender through the
Administrative Agent, may reasonably request;
(b) there shall not have occurred or become known to the Administrative Agent or any of the Lenders any event, condition,
situation or status, or any change in status of any previously written disclosed event, condition or situation, since the date of the information
contained in the financial and business projections, budgets, pro forma data and forecasts concerning the Borrower and its Subsidiaries
delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders prior to the Agreement Date that has had or could reasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect;
(c) no litigation, action, suit, investigation or other arbitral, administrative or judicial proceeding shall be pending or threatened in
writing which could reasonably be expected to (i) result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) restrain or enjoin, impose materially
burdensome conditions on, or otherwise materially and adversely affect, the ability of the Borrower and the other Loan Parties taken as a
whole to fulfill their obligations under the Loan Documents;
(d) the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries shall have received all approvals, consents and waivers, and
shall have made or given all necessary filings and notices as shall be required to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby
without the occurrence of any default under, conflict with or violation of (i) any Applicable Law or (ii) any agreement, document or
instrument to which any Loan Party is a party or by which any of them or their respective properties is bound;
(e) the Borrower and each other Loan Party shall have provided all information requested by the Administrative Agent and each
Lender in order to comply with applicable “know your customer” and Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including, without limitation, the
Patriot Act, as determined in the good faith judgment of the Administrative Agent;
(f) at least five (5) days prior to the Agreement Date, the Borrower shall deliver, on behalf of itself and any Guarantor that
qualifies as a “legal entity customer” under the Beneficial Ownership Regulation, a Beneficial Ownership Certification in relation to itself
and to such Guarantor, to each Lender that so requests such a Beneficial Ownership Certification; and
(g) there shall not have occurred or exist any material disruption of financial or capital markets that could reasonably be
expected to materially and adversely affect the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents.
Section 5.2.Conditions Precedent to All Loans.
In addition to satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent to the first Credit Event contained in Section 5.1., the obligations
of the Lenders to make any Loans are subject to the further conditions precedent that: (a) no Default or Event of Default shall exist as of
the date of the making of such Loan or would exist immediately after giving effect thereto; and (b) the representations and warranties
made or deemed made by the Borrower and each other Loan Party in the Loan Documents to which any of them is a party, shall be true
and correct in all material respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such
representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the date of the making of such Loan with the same force
and effect as if made on and as of such date except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an
earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except in the
case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all
respects) on and as of such earlier date). Each Credit Event shall constitute a certification by the Borrower to the effect set forth in the
preceding sentence (both as of the date of the giving of notice relating to such Credit Event and, unless the Borrower otherwise notifies
the Administrative Agent prior to the date of such Credit Event, as of the date of the occurrence of such Credit Event). In addition, the
Borrower shall be deemed to have represented to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders at the time any Loan is made that all
conditions to the making of such Loan contained in this Article V. have been satisfied. Unless set forth in writing to the contrary, the
making of its initial Loan by a Lender shall constitute a certification by such Lender to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders that the conditions precedent for initial Loans set forth in Sections 5.1. and 5.2. that have not
previously been waived by the Lenders in accordance with the terms of this Agreement have been satisfied.

ARTICLE VI. Representations and Warranties
Section 6.1.Representations and Warranties.

In order to induce the Administrative Agent and each Lender to enter into this Agreement and to make Loans, the Borrower
represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and each Lender as follows:

(a) Organization; Power; Qualification. Each of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries is a corporation,
limited liability company, partnership or other legal entity, duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing under the
jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, has the power and authority to own or lease its respective properties and to carry on its
respective business as now being and hereafter proposed to be conducted and is duly qualified and is in good standing as a foreign
corporation, partnership or other legal entity, and authorized to do business, in each jurisdiction in which the character of its properties or
the nature of its business requires such qualification or authorization and where the failure to be so qualified or authorized could reasonably
be expected to have, in each instance, a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is
an EEA Financial Institution.
(b) Ownership Structure. Part I of Schedule 6.1.(b) is, as of the Agreement Date, a complete and correct list of all Subsidiaries
of the Borrower setting forth for each such Subsidiary, (i) the jurisdiction of organization of such Subsidiary, (ii) each Person holding any
Equity Interest in such Subsidiary, (iii) the nature of the Equity Interests held by each such Person and (iv) the percentage of ownership of
such Subsidiary represented by such Equity Interests. As of the Agreement Date, except as disclosed in such Schedule, (A) each of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries owns, free and clear of all Liens, and has the unencumbered right to vote, all outstanding Equity Interests in
each Person shown to be held by it on such Schedule, (B) all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of each such Person organized as
a corporation is validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and (C) there are no outstanding subscriptions, options, warrants,
commitments, preemptive rights or agreements of any kind (including, without limitation, any stockholders’ or voting trust agreements) for
the issuance, sale, registration or voting of, or outstanding securities convertible into, any additional shares of capital stock of any class, or
partnership or other ownership interests of any type in, any such Person. As of the Agreement Date, Part II of Schedule 6.1.(b) correctly
sets forth all Unconsolidated Affiliates of the Borrower, including the correct legal name of such Person, the type of legal entity which
each such Person is, and all Equity Interests in such Person held directly or indirectly by the Borrower.
(c) Authorization of Loan Documents and Borrowings. The Borrower has the right and power, and has taken all necessary
action to authorize it, to borrow and obtain other extensions of credit hereunder. The Borrower and each other Loan Party has the right
and power, and has taken all necessary action to authorize it, to execute, deliver and perform each of the Loan Documents to which it is a
party in accordance with their respective terms and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The Loan
Documents to which the Borrower or any other Loan Party is a party have been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized
officers of such Person and each is a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Person enforceable against such Person in accordance
with its respective terms, except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, and other similar laws affecting the rights of
creditors generally and the availability of equitable remedies for the enforcement of certain obligations (other than the payment of
principal) contained herein or therein and as may be limited by equitable principles generally.
(d) Compliance of Loan Documents with Laws. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents to which any Loan Party is a party in accordance with their respective terms and the borrowings and other extensions of
credit hereunder do not and will not, by the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both: (i) require any Governmental Approval or violate
any Applicable Law (including all Environmental Laws) relating to the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any Eligible Property
Subsidiary; (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default under the organizational documents of any Loan Party or any
Eligible Property Subsidiary, or any indenture, agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower or any other Loan Party is a party or
by which it or any of its respective properties may be bound; or (iii) result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien upon or with
respect to any property now owned or hereafter acquired by any Loan Party, any Eligible Property Subsidiary or any other Subsidiary
other than in favor of the Administrative Agent for its benefit and the benefit of the other Lender Parties.
(e) Compliance with Law; Governmental Approvals. Each of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries is
in compliance with each Governmental Approval and all other Applicable Laws (including, without limitation, Environmental Laws) relating
to it except for noncompliances which, and Governmental Approvals the failure to possess which, could not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to cause a Default or Event of Default or have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f) Title to Properties; Liens.
(i) Schedule 6.1.(f) is, as of the Agreement Date, a complete and correct listing of all real estate assets of the Borrower,
each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary, setting forth, for each such Property, the current occupancy status of such
Property and whether such Property is a Development Property and, if such Property is a Development Property, the status of
completion of such Property.
(ii) Schedule 6.1.(f)(ii) is, as of the Agreement Date, a complete and correct listing of all Properties designated by the
Borrower as Eligible Properties.

(iii) Each of the Borrower, each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary has good, marketable and legal title to, or a
valid leasehold interest in, its respective assets.
(iv) Unless otherwise waived in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, each Eligible Property satisfies all
applicable requirements under the definition of “Eligible Property”.
(g) Existing Indebtedness. Schedule 6.1.(g) is, as of the Agreement Date, a complete and correct listing of all Indebtedness
(including all Guarantees) of each of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries, and if such Indebtedness is secured
by any Lien, a description of all of the property subject to such Lien. As of the Agreement Date, the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and
the other Subsidiaries have performed and are in compliance with all of the terms of such Indebtedness and all instruments and
agreements relating thereto, and no default or event of default, or event or condition which with the giving of notice, the lapse of time, or
both, would constitute a default or event of default, exists with respect to any such Indebtedness.
(h) Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 6.1.(h), there are no actions, suits, investigations or proceedings pending (or, to the
knowledge of the Responsible Officers of the Borrower, any actions, suits or proceedings threatened) against the Borrower, any other
Loan Party, any other Subsidiary or any of their respective property or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any
court or before any arbitrator of any kind or before or by any other Governmental Authority that (i) purport to affect the legality, validity or
enforceability of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or (ii) could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. There are no strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or walkouts or other labor disputes in progress or
threatened relating to, any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary.
(i) Taxes. All federal, state and other material tax returns of the Borrower, each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary
required by Applicable Law to be filed have been duly filed, and all federal, state and other material taxes, assessments and other
governmental charges or levies upon, each Loan Party, each other Subsidiary and their respective properties, income, profits and assets
which are due and payable have been paid, except any such nonpayment or non-filing which is at the time permitted under Section 7.6. As
of the Agreement Date, none of the United States income tax returns of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is
under audit.
(j) Financial Statements. The Borrower has furnished to each Lender copies of (i) the audited consolidated balance sheet of the
Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017, and the related audited
consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the fiscal years ended on such dates, with the opinion thereon
of BDO USA, LLP, and (ii) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the fiscal
quarter ended June 30, 2018, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the
Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for the two-fiscal quarter period ended on such date. Such financial statements (including in
each case related schedules and notes) are complete and correct in all material respects and present fairly, in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied throughout the periods involved, the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as
at their respective dates and the results of operations and the cash flows for such periods (subject, as to interim statements, to changes
resulting from normal year-end audit adjustments). Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries has on the Agreement Date any
material contingent liabilities, liabilities, liabilities for taxes, unusual or long-term commitments or unrealized or forward anticipated losses
from any unfavorable commitments that would be required to be set forth in its financial statements or notes thereto, except as referred to
or reflected or provided for in said financial statements.
(k) No Material Adverse Change. Since December 31, 2017, there has been no event, change, circumstance or occurrence that
could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Borrower, the other Loan
Parties and the other Subsidiaries is Solvent.
(l) ERISA.
(i) Each Benefit Arrangement is in compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and
other Applicable Laws in all material respects. Except with respect to Multiemployer Plans, each Qualified Plan (A) has received
a favorable determination from the Internal Revenue Service applicable to such Qualified Plan’s current remedial amendment
cycle (as defined in Revenue Procedure 2007-44 or “2007-44” for short), (B) has timely filed for a favorable determination letter
from the Internal Revenue Service during its staggered remedial amendment cycle (as defined in 2007-44) and such application is
currently being processed by the Internal Revenue Service, (C) had filed for a determination letter prior to its “GUST remedial
amendment period” (as defined in 2007-44) and received such determination letter and the staggered remedial amendment cycle
first following the GUST remedial amendment period for such Qualified Plan has not yet expired, or (D) is maintained under a
prototype plan and may rely upon a favorable opinion letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to such prototype

plan. To the best knowledge of the Responsible Officers of the Borrower, nothing has occurred which would cause the loss of its
reliance on each Qualified Plan’s favorable determination letter or opinion letter.

(ii) With respect to any Benefit Arrangement that is a retiree welfare benefit arrangement, all amounts have been
accrued on the applicable ERISA Group’s financial statements in accordance with FASB ASC 715. The “benefit obligation” of all
Plans does not exceed the “fair market value of plan assets” for such Plans by more than $10,000,000 all as determined by and
with such terms defined in accordance with FASB ASC 715.
(iii) Except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect:
(A) no ERISA Event has occurred or is expected to occur; (B) there are no pending, or to the best knowledge of the Responsible
Officers of the Borrower, threatened, claims, actions or lawsuits or other action by any Governmental Authority, plan participant
or beneficiary with respect to a Benefit Arrangement; (C) there are no violations of the fiduciary responsibility rules with respect
to any Benefit Arrangement; (D) no member of the ERISA Group has engaged in a non-exempt “prohibited transaction,” as
defined in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code, in connection with any Plan, that would subject
any member of the ERISA Group to a tax on prohibited transactions imposed by Section 502(i) of ERISA or Section 4975 of the
Internal Revenue Code; and (E) no assessment or tax has arisen under Section 4980H of the Internal Revenue Code.
(iv) As of the Effective Date, the Borrower is not and will not be using “plan assets” (within the meaning of 29 CFR
§ 2510.3-101, as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA) of one or more Benefit Plans in connection with the Loans or the
Commitments.
(m) Absence of Default. None of the Loan Parties or any of the other Subsidiaries is in default under its certificate or articles of
incorporation or formation, bylaws, partnership agreement or other similar organizational documents, and no event has occurred, which has
not been remedied, cured or waived: (i) which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default; or (ii) which constitutes, or which with the
passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute, a default or event of default by, any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary
under any agreement (other than this Agreement) or judgment, decree or order to which any such Person is a party or by which any such
Person or any of its respective properties may be bound where such default or event of default could, individually or in the aggregate,
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(n) Environmental Laws. In the ordinary course of business and from time to time, each of the Borrower, each other Loan Party
and each other Subsidiary conducts reviews of the effect of Environmental Laws on its respective business, operations and properties,
including, without limitation, its respective Properties, in the course of which the Borrower, such other Loan Party or such other Subsidiary
identifies and evaluates associated actual and potential liabilities and costs (including, without limitation, determining whether any capital or
operating expenditures are required for clean-up or closure of properties presently or previously owned, determining whether any capital
or operating expenditures are required to achieve or maintain compliance in all material respects with Environmental Laws or required as
a condition of any Governmental Approval, any contract, or any related constraints on operating activities, determining whether any costs
or liabilities exist in connection with on-site or off-site treatment, storage, handling and disposal of wastes or Hazardous Materials, and
determining whether any actual or potential liabilities to third parties, including employees, and any related costs and expenses exist). Each
of the Borrower, each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary: (i) is in compliance with all Environmental Laws applicable to its
business, operations and the Properties, (ii) has obtained all Governmental Approvals which are required under Environmental Laws, and
each such Governmental Approval is in full force and effect, and (iii) is in compliance with all terms and conditions of such Governmental
Approvals, where with respect to each of the immediately preceding clauses (i) through (iii) the failure to obtain or to comply with could
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Except for any of the following matters that
could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, no Loan Party has any knowledge
of, nor has any Loan Party received notice of, any past, present, or pending releases, events, conditions, circumstances, activities,
practices, incidents, facts, occurrences, actions, or plans that, with respect to any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary, their respective
businesses, operations or with respect to the Properties, may: (x) cause or contribute to an actual or alleged violation of or noncompliance
with Environmental Laws, (y) cause or contribute to any other potential common-law or legal claim or other liability, or (z) cause any of
the Properties to become subject to any restrictions on ownership, occupancy, use or transferability under any Environmental Law or
require the filing or recording of any notice, approval or disclosure document under any Environmental Law and, with respect to the
immediately preceding clauses (x) through (z), is based on or related to the on-site or off-site manufacture, generation, processing,
distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport, removal, clean up or handling, or the emission, discharge, release or threatened
release of any Hazardous Material, or any other requirement under Environmental Law. There is no civil, criminal, or administrative
action, suit, demand, claim, hearing, notice, or demand letter, mandate, order, lien, request, investigation, or proceeding pending or, to the
knowledge of the Responsible Officers of the Borrower after due inquiry, threatened, against the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any
other Subsidiary relating in any way to Environmental Laws which could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate,
a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Properties is listed on or proposed for listing on the National Priority List promulgated pursuant to
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 and its implementing regulations, or any state or

local priority list promulgated pursuant to any analogous state or local law. To the knowledge of the Responsible Officers of the Borrower,
no Hazardous Materials generated at or transported from the Properties are or have been transported to, or disposed of at, any location
that is listed or proposed for listing on the National Priority List or any analogous state or local priority list, or any other location that is or
has been the subject of a clean-up, removal or remedial action pursuant to any Environmental Law, except to the extent that such
transportation or disposal could not reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in a Material Adverse Effect.

(o) Investment Company. None of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is (i) an “investment company”
or a company “controlled” by an “investment company” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940 or (ii) subject to any
other Applicable Law which purports to regulate or restrict its ability to borrow money or obtain other extensions of credit or to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to perform its obligations under any Loan Document to which it is a
party.
(p) Margin Stock. None of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is engaged principally, or as one of its
important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of buying or carrying
“margin stock” within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
(q) Affiliate Transactions. Except as permitted by Section 9.9. or as otherwise set forth on Schedule 6.1.(q), none of the
Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is a party to or bound by any agreement or arrangement with any Affiliate.

(r) Intellectual Property. Each of the Loan Parties and each other Subsidiary owns or has the right to use, under valid license
agreements or otherwise, all patents, licenses, franchises, trademarks, trademark rights, service marks, service mark rights, trade names,
trade name rights, trade secrets and copyrights (collectively, “Intellectual Property”) necessary to the conduct of its businesses, without
known conflict with any patent, license, franchise, trademark, trademark right, service mark, service mark right, trade secret, trade name,
copyright, or other proprietary right of any other Person. All such Intellectual Property is fully protected and/or duly and properly
registered, filed or issued in the appropriate office and jurisdictions for such registrations, filing or issuances. Neither the Borrower nor any
other Loan Party has received notice of any material claim that has been asserted by any Person with respect to the use of any such
Intellectual Property by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary, or challenging or questioning the validity or
effectiveness of any such Intellectual Property. The use of such Intellectual Property by the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the
other Subsidiaries does not infringe on the rights of any Person, subject to such claims and infringements as do not, in the aggregate, give
rise to any liabilities on the part of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary that could reasonably be expected to have
a Material Adverse Effect.
(s) Business. As of the Agreement Date, the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries are engaged in the
business of acquiring, developing, owning, operating, and leasing Healthcare Facilities and other healthcare investments and other
properties ancillary to the operation thereof, together with other business activities incidental thereto.
(t) Broker’s Fees. No broker’s or finder’s fee, commission or similar compensation will be payable with respect to the
transactions contemplated hereby. No other similar fees or commissions will be payable by any Loan Party for any other services
rendered to the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary ancillary to the transactions contemplated hereby.
(u) Accuracy and Completeness of Information.
(i) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have disclosed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders all agreements,
instruments and corporate or other restrictions to which the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is subject,
and all other matters known to them, that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect. No financial statement, material report, material certificate or other material information furnished (whether in
writing or orally) by or on behalf of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to the Administrative Agent or
any Lender in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents and the negotiation of the Loan Documents
or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished), taken together as a whole,
contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided that, with respect to projected
financial information, pro forma financial information, estimated financial information and other projected or estimated information,
such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable at the time (it being recognized by
the Lenders that projections are not to be viewed as facts and that the actual results during the period or periods covered by such
projections may vary from such projections) and with the understanding that certain of such information is prepared or provided by
the Borrower or such Loan Party based upon information and assumptions provided to such Loan Parties by tenants of such Loan
Parties and is reasonably believed by the Borrower to have been prepared or provided by such tenants in good faith.

(ii) As of the Agreement Date, the information included in each Beneficial Ownership Certification is true and correct in
all respects.

(v) Not Plan Assets; No Prohibited Transactions. None of the assets of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other
Subsidiary constitute “plan assets” within the meaning of ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and the respective regulations promulgated
thereunder. Assuming that no Lender funds any amount payable by it hereunder with “plan assets,” as that term is defined in 29 C.F.R.
2510.3-101, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and the extensions of credit and
repayment of amounts hereunder and thereunder, do not and will not constitute “prohibited transactions” under ERISA or the Internal
Revenue Code. No transactions between the Borrower or any other Loan Party or Subsidiary, on the one hand, and the Administrative
Agent or any Lender, on the other hand, pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document are or will be subject to federal, state or
local statutes applicable to the Borrower or such Loan Party or Subsidiary regulating investments of fiduciaries with respect to
governmental plans.
(w) Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions. None of the Borrower, any Subsidiary, any of their respective employees, officers, or,
to the knowledge of the Borrower or such Subsidiary, directors, Affiliates or any agent or representative of the Borrower or any
Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from this Agreement, (i) is a Sanctioned Person or currently the
subject or target of any Sanctions, (ii) has its assets located in a Sanctioned Country, (iii) directly or indirectly derives revenues from
investments in, or transactions with, Sanctioned Persons or (iv) has violated any Anti-Money Laundering Law in any material respect.
Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, and to the knowledge of the Borrower, each director, officer, employee, agent and Affiliate of
the Borrower and each such Subsidiary, is in compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws in all material respects. The Borrower has
implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable
Sanctions by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries, their respective directors, officers, employees, Affiliates and agents and representatives of the
Borrower or any Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from this Agreement.
(x) REIT Status. The Borrower qualifies as, and has elected to be treated as, a REIT and is in compliance with all requirements
and conditions imposed under the Internal Revenue Code to allow the Borrower to maintain its status as a REIT.
Section 6.2.Survival of Representations and Warranties, Etc.
All representations and warranties made under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be deemed to be made at and
as of the Agreement Date, the Effective Date, the date on which any Incremental Facility is effectuated pursuant to Section 2.16., the
effective date of the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization and at and as of the date of the occurrence of each Credit Event, except to the
extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an earlier date (in which case such representations and
warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by
materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of such earlier date). All
such representations and warranties shall survive the effectiveness of this Agreement, the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents
and the making of the Loans.

ARTICLE VII. Affirmative Covenants
For so long as this Agreement is in effect, the Borrower shall, and, as applicable, shall cause the other Loan Parties to, comply
with the following covenants:

Section 7.1.Preservation of Existence and Similar Matters.
Except as otherwise permitted under Section 9.4., the Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other
Subsidiary to, (a) preserve and maintain its respective existence in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, (b) preserve and
maintain its respective rights, franchises, licenses and privileges in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation and (c) qualify and
remain qualified and authorized to do business in each jurisdiction in which the character of its properties or the nature of its business
requires such qualification and authorization except in the case of clauses (a) (solely with respect to Subsidiaries that are not Loan Parties
and Eligible Property Subsidiaries), (b) and (c), to the extent that the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have, individually
or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 7.2.Compliance with Applicable Law.
The Borrower shall comply, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to comply, and the Borrower shall
use, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to use, commercially reasonable efforts to cause all other Persons
occupying, using or present on the Properties to comply, with all Applicable Law, including the obtaining of all Governmental Approvals,
the failure with which to comply could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The
Borrower shall maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws and
applicable Sanctions by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries, their respective directors, officers, employees, Affiliates and agents and

representatives of the Borrower or any Subsidiary that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit from this Agreement.

Section 7.3.Maintenance of Property.
In addition to the requirements of any of the other Loan Documents, the Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party
and each other Subsidiary to, (i) protect and preserve (or cause to be protected and preserved) all of its respective material properties,
including, but not limited to, all Intellectual Property necessary to the conduct of its respective business, and (ii) maintain in good repair,
working order and condition all tangible properties, ordinary wear and tear excepted, except where the failure to do so under this clause
(ii) could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 7.4.Conduct of Business.
The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, carry on its respective businesses as
described in Section 6.1.(s).

Section 7.5.Insurance.
In addition to the requirements of any of the other Loan Documents, the Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party
and each other Subsidiary to, maintain insurance (on a replacement cost basis) with financially sound and reputable insurance companies
against such risks and in such amounts as is customarily maintained by Persons engaged in similar businesses or as may be required by
Applicable Law. The Borrower shall from time to time deliver to the Administrative Agent upon request a detailed list, together with
copies of all policies of the insurance then in effect, stating the names of the insurance companies, the amounts and rates of the insurance,
the dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and risks covered thereby.

Section 7.6.Payment of Taxes and Claims.
The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, pay and discharge when due (a) all
taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its income or profits or upon any properties belonging to it,
and (b) all lawful claims of materialmen, mechanics, carriers, warehousemen and landlords for labor, materials, supplies and rentals which,
if unpaid, might become a Lien on any properties of such Person; provided, however, that this Section shall not require the payment or
discharge of any such tax, assessment, charge, levy or claim which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings which
operate to suspend the collection thereof and for which adequate reserves have been established on the books of such Person in
accordance with GAAP.

Section 7.7.Books and Records; Inspections.
The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, keep proper books of record and
account in which full, true and correct entries shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. The
Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, permit representatives of the Administrative Agent or
any Lender to visit and inspect any of their respective properties (subject to the rights of tenants), to examine and make abstracts from
any of their respective books and records and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with their respective principal
officers and independent public accountants (in the presence of an officer of the Borrower if an Event of Default does not then exist), all
at such reasonable times during business hours and, so long as no Event of Default exists, with reasonable prior notice and not more than
twice annually. The Lenders shall use good faith efforts to coordinate such visits and inspections so as to minimize the interference with
and disruption to the normal business operations of the Borrower, each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary. The Borrower shall
be obligated to reimburse the Administrative Agent and the Lenders for their costs and expenses incurred in connection with the exercise
of their rights under this Section only if such exercise occurs while a Default or Event of Default exists. The Borrower hereby authorizes
and instructs its accountants to discuss the financial affairs of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary with the
Administrative Agent or any Lender.

Section 7.8.Use of Proceeds.
The Borrower will use the proceeds of Loans only (a) for the payment of pre-development and development costs incurred in
connection with Properties owned by the Borrower or any Subsidiary; (b) to finance acquisitions permitted under this Agreement; (c) to
finance capital expenditures, equity investments and the repayment of Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and (d) to
provide for the working capital needs of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and for other general corporate purposes (including making
loans and other extensions of credit in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

Section 7.9.Environmental Matters.
The Borrower shall comply, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to comply, and the Borrower shall
use, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to use, commercially reasonable efforts to cause all other Persons
occupying, using or present on the Properties to comply, with all Environmental Laws the failure with which to comply could reasonably be

expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party
and each other Subsidiary to, promptly take all actions and pay or arrange to pay all costs necessary for it and for the Properties to comply
in all material respects with all Environmental Laws and all Governmental Approvals, including actions to remove and dispose of all
Hazardous Materials and to clean up the Properties as required under Environmental Laws; provided, however, that neither any of the
Loan Parties nor any of the Subsidiaries shall be required to undertake any such cleanup, removal, remedial or other action to the extent
that its obligation to do so is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and appropriate reserves are being maintained with
respect to such circumstances. The Borrower shall, and shall cause each other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, promptly take all
actions necessary to prevent the imposition of any Liens on any of their respective properties arising out of or related to any
Environmental Laws. Nothing in this Section shall impose any obligation or liability whatsoever on the Administrative Agent or any
Lender.

Section 7.10.Further Assurances.
At the Borrower’s cost and expense and upon request of the Administrative Agent, the Borrower shall, and shall cause each
other Loan Party and each other Subsidiary to, duly execute and deliver or cause to be duly executed and delivered, to the Administrative
Agent such further instruments, documents and certificates, and do and cause to be done such further acts that may be reasonably
necessary or advisable in the reasonable opinion of the Administrative Agent to carry out more effectively the provisions and purposes of
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

Section 7.11.REIT Status.
The Borrower or, from and after the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization, the Parent, shall operate its business so as to satisfy all
requirements necessary to qualify and maintain the Borrower’s qualification and election as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code.

Section 7.12.Exchange Listing.
The Borrower shall maintain at least one class of common shares of the Borrower having trading privileges on the New York
Stock Exchange or NYSE Amex Equities or which is subject to price quotations on The NASDAQ Stock Market’s National Market
System.

Section 7.13.Guarantors.
(a) Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiaries as Guarantors.
(i) Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary Guarantee Requirement. At all times, not later than the date on which any
Subsidiary of the Borrower becomes an Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary, the Borrower shall cause such Unsecured
Indebtedness Subsidiary to become a Guarantor and deliver or cause to be delivered to the Administrative Agent the applicable
Subsidiary Guaranty Documents. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 7.13.(a) or otherwise in this Agreement,
in no event shall any Excluded Subsidiary be required to become a Guarantor.
(ii) Release of Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary Guarantors. The Borrower may request in writing that the
Administrative Agent release, and upon receipt of such request the Administrative Agent shall promptly release, an Unsecured
Indebtedness Subsidiary from the Guaranty, if: (i) such Subsidiary has ceased to be, or simultaneously with its release from the
Guaranty will cease to be, a Subsidiary or an Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary; (ii) such Subsidiary Guarantor is not otherwise
required to be a party to the Guaranty under this Section 7.13.; (iii) no Default or Event of Default shall then be in existence or
would occur as a result of such release, including, without limitation, a Default or Event of Default resulting from a violation of any
of the covenants contained in Section 9.1.; and (iv) the Administrative Agent shall have received such written request at least ten
(10) Business Days (or such shorter period as may be acceptable to the Administrative Agent) prior to the requested date of
release. Delivery by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent of any such request shall constitute a representation by the
Borrower that the matters set forth in the preceding sentence (both as of the date of the giving of such request and as of the date
of the effectiveness of such request) are true and correct with respect to such request. The Administrative Agent agrees to
furnish to the Borrower, promptly after the Borrower’s request and at the Borrower’s sole cost and expense, any release,
termination, or other agreement or document as is reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and necessary or advisable
to evidence the foregoing release as may be reasonably requested by the Borrower.
(b) Required Subsidiaries as Guarantors. At all times prior to the Investment Grade Release, within 5 Business Days after
(i) any Person becoming a Required Subsidiary after the Agreement Date or (ii) the Guaranty Requirement shall cease to be satisfied, the
Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the applicable Subsidiary Guaranty Documents in respect of each applicable
Subsidiary; provided, however, promptly (and in any event within 5 Business Days) upon any Excluded Subsidiary ceasing to be subject to
the restriction which prevented it from becoming a Guarantor on the Effective Date or delivering an Accession Agreement pursuant to
this Section, as the case may be, such Subsidiary shall comply with the provisions of this Section.

(c) Guaranty Requirement. At all times prior to the Investment Grade Release, after giving pro forma effect to any Subsidiary
that shall become a Subsidiary Guarantor in accordance with Section 7.13.(b), the Borrower shall not permit Adjusted Total Asset Value
attributable to assets owned directly by the Borrower and the Guarantors to be less than 90% of the Adjusted Total Asset Value (the
“Guaranty Requirement”).

(d) Release of Subsidiary Guarantors Prior to Investment Grade Release. The Borrower may request in writing that the
Administrative Agent release, and upon receipt of such request the Administrative Agent shall release, a Subsidiary Guarantor from the
Guaranty so long as: (i) such Subsidiary Guarantor meets, or will meet simultaneously with its release from the Guaranty, all of the
provisions of the definition of the term “Excluded Subsidiary” or has ceased to be, or simultaneously with its release from the Guaranty
will cease to be, a Subsidiary; (ii) such Guarantor is not (or simultaneously upon its release as a Guarantor will not be) required to be a
party to the Guaranty under the immediately preceding subsection (b); (iii) no Default or Event of Default shall then be in existence or
would occur as a result of such release, including, without limitation, a Default or Event of Default resulting from a violation of any of the
covenants contained in Section 9.1.; (iv) the representations and warranties made or deemed made by the Borrower and each other Loan
Party in the Loan Documents to which any of them is a party, shall be true and correct in all material respects (except in the case of a
representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all respects)
on and as of the date of such release with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date except to the extent that such
representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall have
been true and correct in all material respects (except in the case of a representation or warranty qualified by materiality, in which case
such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of such earlier date); and (v) the Administrative Agent
shall have received such written request at least 10 Business Days (or such shorter period as may be acceptable to the Administrative
Agent) prior to the requested date of release. Delivery by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent of any such request shall constitute a
representation by the Borrower that the matters set forth in the preceding sentence (both as of the date of the giving of such request and
as of the date of the effectiveness of such request) are true and correct with respect to such request. The Administrative Agent agrees to
furnish to the Borrower, promptly after the Borrower’s request and at the Borrower’s sole cost and expense, any release, termination, or
other agreement or document as is reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and necessary or advisable to evidence the
foregoing release as may be reasonably requested by the Borrower.
Section 7.14.Investment Grade Release.
If at any time the Investment Grade Ratings Criteria is satisfied, the Administrative Agent shall promptly release all of the
Subsidiary Guarantors (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not include any Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary) from their obligations
under the Guaranty (the “Investment Grade Release”), subject to satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) The Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent, on or prior to the date that is five (5) Business Days (or such
shorter period of time as agreed to by the Administrative Agent) before the date on which the Investment Grade Release is to be effected,
written notice (the “Investment Grade Release Request”) that it is requesting the Investment Grade Release, which notice shall
identify the Subsidiary Guarantors to be released and the proposed effective date for the Investment Grade Release; and
(b) On the date the Investment Grade Release is to become effective, the Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate
signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, certifying that:
(i) the Investment Grade Ratings Criteria have been satisfied and certifying as to the Credit Ratings then in effect;
(ii) no Subsidiary Guarantor to be released is an Unsecured Indebtedness Subsidiary or is otherwise required to remain
as a Guarantor; and
(iii) at the time of the delivery of notice requesting such release, on the proposed effective date of the Investment Grade
Release and immediately before and immediately after giving effect to the Investment Grade Release, (x) no Default or Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing as of the date of the Investment Grade Release Request and as of the proposed effective
date of the Investment Grade Release or would result therefrom and (y) the representations and warranties contained in
Article VI. and in the other Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects (unless in the case of a representation
and warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct in all respects) on
and as of the effective date of the Investment Grade Release with the same force and effect as if made on and as of such date,
except to the extent that such representations and warranties expressly relate solely to an earlier date (in which case such
representations and warranties shall have been true and correct in all material respects (except in the case of a representation or
warranty qualified by materiality, in which case such representation or warranty shall have been true and correct in all respects)
on and as of such earlier date), and except that for purposes of this Section 7.14., the representations and warranties contained in
subsection (j) of Section 6.1. shall be deemed to refer to the most recent statements furnished pursuant to Sections 8.1. and 8.2.

Upon the release of any Person pursuant to this Section 7.14., the Administrative Agent shall (to the extent applicable) deliver to the Loan
Parties, upon the Loan Parties’ request and at the Loan Parties’ expense, such documentation as is reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and necessary to evidence the release of such Person from its obligations under the Loan Documents.

Section 7.15.Compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and Sanctions.
The Borrower will maintain in effect and enforce policies and procedures (including policies and procedures implemented and
maintained by the managers of Properties) reasonably designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower, its Subsidiaries and its directors,
officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions.

Section 7.16.Most Favored Status.
If the Borrower or any Subsidiary maintains, enters into, assumes or otherwise is or becomes bound or obligated under any
agreement creating, evidencing or governing any Material Facility containing one or more Additional Covenants or Additional Defaults, or
amends or otherwise modifies any agreement creating, evidencing or governing such Material Facility to include any Additional Covenants
or Additional Defaults, then for so long as the Borrower or such Subsidiary is bound by such Additional Covenants or Additional Defaults,
the terms of this Agreement shall, without any further action on the part of the Borrower, any such Subsidiary, the Administrative Agent
or any of the Lenders, be deemed to be amended automatically to include each Additional Covenant and each Additional Default
contained in such agreement; provided, however, if and to the extent that the Borrower is no longer bound by any such Additional
Covenants and/or Additional Defaults, this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended automatically as of the date that the Borrower
ceases to be so bound to delete such Additional Covenants and/or Additional Defaults. The Borrower further covenants to promptly
execute and deliver at its expense (including the fees and expenses of counsel for the Administrative Agent) an amendment to this
Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent evidencing the amendment of this Agreement to include such
Additional Covenants and Additional Defaults; provided that the execution and delivery of such amendment shall not be a precondition to
the effectiveness of such amendment as provided for in this Section 7.16., but shall merely be for the convenience of the parties hereto.
For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to the terms and conditions of the AIG Purchase Agreement or the Prudential Note Purchase
Agreement, to the extent constituting Additional Covenants or Additional Defaults as of the Effective Date, this Agreement shall be
deemed to be amended automatically as of the Effective Date to include such Additional Covenants and Additional Defaults and
thereafter shall be deemed to be amended automatically to delete such Additional Covenants and/or Additional Defaults if and to the
extent that the Borrower is no longer bound by such Additional Covenants and/or Additional Defaults. In such event, the Borrower will
provide written notice together with a copy of any amendment or other evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that,
pursuant to this Section 7.16., the Borrower is no longer bound by such Additional Covenants and/or Additional Defaults.

ARTICLE VIII. Information
For so long as this Agreement is in effect, the Borrower shall, or shall cause any other Loan Party, as applicable, to furnish to the
Administrative Agent for distribution to each of the Lenders:

Section 8.1.Quarterly Financial Statements.
As soon as available and in any event within 5 days after the same is required to be filed with the SEC (but in no event later than
45 days after the end of each of the first, second and third fiscal quarters of the Borrower), commencing with the fiscal quarter ending
September 30, 2018, the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such period and the
related unaudited consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period, setting forth in
each case in comparative form the figures as of the end of and for the corresponding periods of the previous fiscal year, all of which shall
be certified by the chief executive officer or chief accounting officer of the Borrower, in his or her opinion, to present fairly, in accordance
with GAAP and in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the date thereof and
the results of operations for such period (subject to normal year-end audit adjustments); provided, that, the Administrative Agent hereby
agrees that a Form 10-Q of the Borrower in substantially the same form as that delivered to the SEC shall satisfy the requirements of this
Section 8.1.

Section 8.2.Year-End Statements.
As soon as available and in any event within 5 days after the same is required to be filed with the SEC (but in no event later than
90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower), commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, the audited
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such fiscal year and the related audited consolidated
statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, setting forth in
comparative form the figures as at the end of and for the previous fiscal year, all of which shall be (a) certified by the chief executive
officer or chief accounting officer of the Borrower, in his or her opinion, to present fairly, in accordance with GAAP and in all material
respects, the financial position of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at the date thereof and the result of operations for such period and
(b) accompanied by the report thereon of BDO USA, LLP or any other independent certified public accountants of recognized national
standing acceptable to the Administrative Agent, whose report shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
and shall not be subject to (i) any “going concern” or like qualification or exception or (ii) any qualification or exception as to the scope of

such audit; provided, that, the Administrative Agent hereby agrees that a Form 10-K of the Borrower in substantially the same form as
that delivered to the SEC shall satisfy the requirements of this Section 8.2.

Section 8.3.Compliance Certificate.
At the time the financial statements are furnished pursuant to Sections 8.1. and 8.2., a certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit L (a “Compliance Certificate”) executed on behalf of the Borrower by the chief accounting officer of the Borrower (i) setting
forth in reasonable detail as of the end of such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as the case may be, the calculations required to establish
whether the Borrower was in compliance with the covenants contained in Section 9.1.; and (ii) stating that no Default or Event of Default
exists, or, if such is not the case, specifying such Default or Event of Default and its nature, when it occurred and the steps being taken by
the Borrower with respect to such event, condition or failure.

Section 8.4.Other Information.
(a) Promptly upon receipt thereof, copies of all reports, if any, submitted to the Borrower or its Board of Directors by its
independent public accountants including, without limitation, any management report;
(b) Within 5 Business Days of the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (excluding the exhibits thereto (unless
requested by the Administrative Agent) and any registration statements on Form S-8 or its equivalent), reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and
8-K (or their equivalents) and all other periodic reports which any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary shall file with the SEC or any
national securities exchange;
(c) Promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of the Borrower generally, copies of all financial statements, reports
and proxy statements so mailed and, promptly upon the issuance thereof, copies of all press releases issued by the Borrower, any other
Loan Party or any other Subsidiary;
(d) Upon request by the Administrative Agent, subject to limitations, if any, imposed under regulatory or confidentiality
agreements to which the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is subject, all financial information in its possession maintained on the
Borrower and its individual real estate projects;
(e) No later than 60 days after the start of each fiscal year of the Borrower beginning prior to the Termination Date, projected
balance sheets, income statements, profit and loss projections and cash flow budgets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis for such fiscal year, all itemized in detail reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent;
(f) If any ERISA Event shall occur that individually, or together with any other ERISA Event that has occurred, could reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, a certificate of the chief executive officer or chief accounting officer of the Borrower
setting forth details as to such occurrence and the action, if any, which the Borrower or applicable member of the ERISA Group is
required or proposes to take;
(g) To the extent any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is aware of the same, prompt notice of the commencement of any
proceeding or investigation by or before any Governmental Authority and any action or proceeding in any court or other tribunal or before
any arbitrator, including any notice alleging any violation of or noncompliance with any Environmental Law, against or in any other way
relating to, or affecting, any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary or any of their respective properties, assets or businesses which could
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, and prompt notice of the receipt of notice that
any United States income tax returns of any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary are being audited;
(h) A copy of any amendment to the certificate or articles of incorporation or formation, bylaws, partnership agreement or other
similar organizational documents of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary within 30 days after the effectiveness
thereof;

(i) Prompt notice of (i) any change in the senior management of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary,
(ii) any change in the business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations or business prospects of any Loan Party or any
other Subsidiary or (iii) the occurrence of any other event which, in the case of any of the immediately preceding clauses (i) through (iii),
has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect;
(j) Prompt notice of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default or any event which constitutes or which with the passage
of time, the giving of notice, or otherwise, would constitute a default or event of default by any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary under
any Material Contract to which any such Person is a party or by which any such Person or any of its respective properties may be bound;
(k) To the extent reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, promptly upon entering into any Material Contract,

Specified Derivatives Contract or Specified Cash Management Agreement after the Agreement Date, a copy of such contract;

(l) Prompt notice of any order, judgment or decree in excess of $15,000,000 having been entered against any Loan Party or any
other Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or assets;
(m) Any notification of a material violation of any Applicable Law or any inquiry shall have been received by any Loan Party or
any other Subsidiary from any Governmental Authority;
(n) Promptly upon the request of the Administrative Agent, evidence of the Borrower’s calculation of the Ownership Share with
respect to a Subsidiary or an Unconsolidated Affiliate, such evidence to be in form and detail satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;
(o) From and after the Investment Grade Pricing Effective Date, promptly, upon any change in any Credit Rating of the
Borrower, a certificate stating that such Credit Rating of the Borrower has changed and the new Credit Rating that is in effect;

(p) Promptly, upon each request, such information and documentation as a Lender may request in order to comply with
applicable “know your customer” and Anti-Money Laundering Laws, including, without limitation, the Patriot Act and the Beneficial
Ownership Regulation;
(q) To the extent the Borrower, any Loan Party or any other Subsidiary is aware of the same, prompt notice of any matter that
has had, or which could reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect;

(r) Promptly upon obtaining knowledge thereof, written notice of any change in the information provided in the Beneficial
Ownership Certification delivered to any Lender that would result in a change to the list of beneficial owners identified in such
certification; and
(s) From time to time and promptly upon each request, such data, certificates, reports, statements, opinions of counsel,
documents or further information regarding any Property or the business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations or
business prospects of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary as the Administrative Agent or any Lender may
reasonably request.
Section 8.5.Electronic Delivery of Certain Information.
(a) Documents required to be delivered pursuant to the Loan Documents may be delivered by electronic communication and
delivery, including, without limitation, the Internet, e-mail or intranet websites to which the Administrative Agent and each Lender have
access (including a commercial, third-party website or a website sponsored or hosted by the Administrative Agent or the Borrower)
provided that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to (A) notices to any Lender pursuant to Article II. and (B) any Lender that has notified the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower that it cannot or does not want to receive electronic communications and (ii) documents required
to be delivered pursuant to Sections 8.1., 8.2. and 8.4.(b) shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which such documents
are filed for public availability on the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering and Retrieval System (it being understood that the Borrower shall
not be required to provide notice to the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such electronic filing of information (other than with
respect to financial statements pursuant to Sections 8.1. and 8.2.) to satisfy its reporting obligations). The Administrative Agent or the
Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic delivery pursuant to
procedures approved by it for all or particular notices or communications. Documents or notices delivered electronically shall be deemed
to have been delivered 24 hours after the date and time on which the Administrative Agent or the Borrower posts such documents or the
documents become available on a commercial website and the Administrative Agent or Borrower notifies each Lender of said posting and
provides a link thereto; provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent or posted during the normal business hours of the
recipient, said posting date and time shall be deemed to have commenced as of 11:00 a.m. Eastern time on the opening of business on the
next business day for the recipient. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the Borrower shall deliver paper copies of any documents
to the Administrative Agent or to any Lender that requests such paper copies until a written request to cease delivering paper copies is
given by the Administrative Agent or such Lender. The Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to request the delivery of or to
maintain paper copies of the documents delivered electronically, and in any event shall have no responsibility to monitor compliance by the
Borrower with any such request for delivery. Each Lender shall be solely responsible for requesting delivery to it of paper copies and
maintaining its paper or electronic documents.
(b) Documents required to be delivered pursuant to Article II. may be delivered electronically to a website provided for such
purpose by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the procedures provided to the Borrower by the Administrative Agent.
Section 8.6.Public/Private Information.

The Borrower shall cooperate with the Administrative Agent in connection with the publication of certain materials and/or
information provided by or on behalf of the Borrower. Documents required to be delivered pursuant to the Loan Documents shall be
delivered by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (collectively, “Information Materials”) pursuant
to this Article and the Borrower shall designate Information Materials (a) that are either available to the public or not material with respect
to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries or any of their respective securities for purposes of United States federal and state securities laws as
“Public Information” and (b) that are not Public Information as “Private Information”. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Lender who
does not wish to receive Private Information agrees to cause at least one individual at or on behalf of such Lender to at all times have
selected the “Private Information” or similar designation on the content declaration screen of any website provided pursuant to
Section 8.5. in order to enable such Lender or its delegate, in accordance with such Lender’s compliance procedures and Applicable Law,
including United States federal and state securities laws, to make reference to Information Materials that are not made available through
the “Public Information” portion of such website provided pursuant to Section 8.5. and that may contain material non-public information
with respect to the Borrower or its securities for purposes of United States federal and state securities laws.

Section 8.7.USA Patriot Act Notice; Compliance.
The Patriot Act and federal regulations issued with respect thereto require all financial institutions to obtain, verify and record
certain information that identifies individuals or business entities which open an “account” with such financial institution. Consequently, the
Administrative Agent and a Lender (for itself and/or as agent for all Lenders hereunder) may from time to time request, and the Borrower
shall, and shall cause the other Loan Parties to, provide promptly upon any such request to the Administrative Agent or such Lender, such
Loan Party’s name, address, tax identification number and/or such other identification information as shall be necessary for the
Administrative Agent or such Lender to comply with federal law. An “account” for this purpose may include, without limitation, a deposit
account, a cash management service, a transaction or asset account, a credit account, a loan or other extension of credit, and/or other
financial services product.

ARTICLE IX. Negative Covenants
For so long as this Agreement is in effect, the Borrower shall comply with the following covenants:

Section 9.1.Financial Covenants.
(a) Maximum Leverage Ratio. The Borrower shall not permit the Leverage Ratio to exceed 0.60 to 1.00 at any time.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may elect upon delivering written notice to the Administrative Agent, concurrently with or
prior to the delivery of a Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 8.3. for any fiscal quarter during which the Borrower shall have
completed a Material Acquisition and provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (other than as a result
of the Leverage Ratio as of the end of such fiscal quarter being greater than 0.60 to 1.00 but less than or equal to 0.65 to 1.00), that the
Leverage Ratio may exceed 0.60 to 1.00 but shall in no event exceed 0.65 to 1.00 for such fiscal quarter and the next succeeding fiscal
quarter (the “Leverage Ratio Increase Period”); provided that (i) the Borrower may not elect more than two Leverage Ratio Increase
Periods during the term of this Agreement and (ii) any such Leverage Ratio Increase Periods shall be non-consecutive.
(b) Maximum Unencumbered Leverage Ratio. The Borrower shall not permit the ratio (the “Unencumbered Leverage
Ratio”) of Unsecured Indebtedness to Unencumbered Asset Value to exceed 0.60 to 1.00 at any time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Borrower may elect upon delivering written notice to the Administrative Agent, concurrently with or prior to the delivery of a Compliance
Certificate pursuant to Section 8.3. for any fiscal quarter during which the Borrower shall have completed a Material Acquisition and
provided that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (other than as a result of the Unencumbered Leverage Ratio
as of the end of such fiscal quarter being greater than 0.60 to 1.00 but less than or equal to 0.65 to 1.00), that the Unencumbered
Leverage Ratio may exceed 0.60 to 1.00 but shall in no event exceed 0.65 to 1.00 for such fiscal quarter and the next succeeding fiscal
quarter (the “Unencumbered Leverage Increase Period”); provided that (i) the Borrower may not elect more than
two Unencumbered Leverage Increase Periods during the term of this Agreement and (ii) any such Unencumbered Leverage Increase
Periods shall be non-consecutive.

(c) Ratio of Consolidated EBITDA to Fixed Charges. The Borrower shall not permit the ratio of (i) Consolidated EBITDA of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ending to (ii) Fixed Charges of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period, to be less than 1.75 to 1.00 as of the last day of such period.
(d) Ratio of Secured Indebtedness to Total Asset Value. The Borrower shall not permit the ratio of (i) Secured Indebtedness of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to (ii) Total Asset Value to exceed 0.30 to 1.00 at any time.
(e) Ratio of Secured Recourse Indebtedness to Total Asset Value. The Borrower shall not permit the ratio of (i) Recourse
Indebtedness constituting Secured Indebtedness (exclusive of the Obligations) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to (ii) Total Asset
Value to exceed 0.10 to 1.00 at any time.

(f) Minimum Tangible Net Worth. The Borrower shall not permit Tangible Net Worth at any time to be less than (i) $965,463,000
plus (ii) 75% of the Net Proceeds of all Equity Issuances effected at any time after March 31, 2017 by the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries to any Person other than the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.
(g) Dividends and Other Restricted Payments. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, declare or
make any Restricted Payment; provided, however, that the Borrower and its Subsidiaries may declare and make the following Restricted
Payments so long as no Default or Event of Default would result therefrom:
(i) the Borrower may declare or make cash distributions to holders of Equity Interests of the Borrower;
(ii) the Borrower may declare and make dividend payments or other distributions payable solely in its common stock;
(iii) the Borrower may make cash distributions to its shareholders of capital gains resulting from gains from certain asset
sales to the extent necessary to avoid payment of taxes on such asset sales imposed under Sections 857(b)(3) and 4981 of the
Internal Revenue Code;
(iv) a Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary may make cash distributions to holders of Equity Interests issued
by such Subsidiary so long as such distributions are made ratably according to the holders’ respective holdings of the type of
Equity Interest in respect of which such distributions are being made (or to the extent otherwise required pursuant to the
organizational documents of such Subsidiary);

(v) Subsidiaries may pay Restricted Payments to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary that is a Guarantor;
(vi) from and after the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization, the Borrower may pay cash dividends to the Parent and
other holders of Equity Interests in the Borrower with respect to any fiscal year ending during the term of this Agreement to the
extent necessary for the Parent to distribute, and the Parent may so distribute, cash dividends to holders of Equity Interests of the
Parent; and

(vii) the Borrower may from time to time purchase shares of its common stock and the Senior Notes subject to the
proviso in the first sentence of Section 9.8. and, from and after the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization, the Borrower may make
cash distributions to the Parent to the extent necessary to enable the Parent to make such purchases of its common stock;
Notwithstanding the foregoing, but subject to the following sentence, if a Default or Event of Default exists, (x) prior to the Permitted
UPREIT Reorganization, the Borrower may only declare or make cash distributions to its shareholders during any fiscal year in an
aggregate amount not to exceed the minimum amount necessary for the Borrower to remain in compliance with Section 7.11. and
Subsidiaries may make the Restricted Payments described in the immediately preceding clause (v) and (y) from and after the Permitted
UPREIT Reorganization, the Borrower may only declare and make cash distributions to the Parent and other holders of Equity Interests in
the Borrower with respect to any fiscal year to the extent necessary for the Parent to distribute, and the Parent may so distribute, an
aggregate amount not to exceed the minimum amount necessary for the Parent to remain in compliance with Section 7.11. If a Default or
Event of Default specified in Section 10.1.(a), Section 10.1.(e) or Section 10.1.(f) shall exist, or if as a result of the occurrence of any
other Event of Default any of the Obligations have been accelerated pursuant to Section 10.2.(a), the Borrower shall not make any
Restricted Payments to any Person.

(h) Calculation of Financial Covenants. For purposes of the financial covenants set forth in this Section 9.1., all references to the
Borrower shall mean the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Only the Borrower’s Ownership Share of the financial
attributes of a non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower shall be considered when determining compliance with financial covenants.
Section 9.2.Negative Pledge.
(a) The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or Subsidiary to, (a) create, assume, incur, permit or suffer
to exist any Lien on any Eligible Property or any direct or indirect ownership interest of the Borrower in any Person owning any Eligible
Property, now owned or hereafter acquired, except for Permitted Liens (other than Permitted Liens described in clause (h) of the
definition of Permitted Liens) or (b) permit any Eligible Property or any direct or indirect ownership interest of the Borrower or in any
Person owning an Eligible Property, to be subject to a Negative Pledge.
(b) The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary (other than an Excluded
Subsidiary) to, enter into, assume or otherwise be bound by any Negative Pledge except for a Negative Pledge contained in (i) an
agreement (x) evidencing Indebtedness which the Borrower, such Loan Party or such Subsidiary may create, incur, assume, or permit or
suffer to exist under this Agreement, (y) which Indebtedness is secured by a Lien permitted to exist under the Loan Documents, and
(z) which prohibits the creation of any other Lien on only the property securing such Indebtedness as of the date such agreement was

entered into; (ii) an agreement relating to the sale of a Subsidiary or assets pending such sale, provided that in any such case the Negative
Pledge applies only to the Subsidiary or the assets that are the subject of such sale; or (iii) a Negative Pledge contained in any agreement
that evidences Unsecured Indebtedness which contains restrictions on encumbering assets that are substantially similar to or not more
restrictive than those restrictions contained in the Loan Documents.

Section 9.3.Restrictions on Intercompany Transfers.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary) to,
create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist or become effective any consensual encumbrance or restriction of any kind on the ability of
any Subsidiary to: (a) pay dividends or make any other distribution on any of such Subsidiary’s Equity Interests owned by the Borrower or
any Subsidiary; (b) pay any Indebtedness owed to the Borrower or any Subsidiary; (c) make loans or advances to the Borrower or any
Subsidiary; or (d) transfer any of its property or assets to the Borrower or any Subsidiary; other than (i) with respect to clauses (a)
through (d), those encumbrances or restrictions contained in any Loan Document or in any agreement that evidences Unsecured
Indebtedness containing encumbrances or restrictions on the actions described above that are substantially similar to, or, taken as a whole,
not more restrictive than, those contained in the Loan Documents (as determined in good faith by the Borrower) or, (ii) with respect to
clause (d), customary provisions restricting assignment of any agreement entered into by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other
Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business.

Section 9.4.Merger, Consolidation, Sales of Assets and Other Arrangements.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, (a) enter into any transaction of
merger or consolidation; (b) liquidate, windup or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution); (c) convey, sell, lease, sublease,
transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or any substantial part of its business or assets, or the
capital stock of or other Equity Interests in any of its Subsidiaries, whether now owned or hereafter acquired; or (d) acquire the assets of,
or make an Investment in, any other Person; provided, however, that:

(i) any Subsidiary may merge with a Loan Party so long as such Loan Party is the survivor (or the surviving entity shall
become a Guarantor in accordance with the applicable requirements of Section 7.13.);
(ii) any Subsidiary may sell, transfer or dispose of its assets to a Loan Party;
(iii) a Loan Party (other than the Borrower or any Loan Party that owns an Eligible Property) and any Subsidiary that is
not (and is not required to be) a Loan Party may convey, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, in one transaction or a series of
transactions, all or any substantial part of its business or assets, or the capital stock of or other Equity Interests in any of its
Subsidiaries, and immediately thereafter liquidate; provided that immediately prior to any such conveyance, sale, transfer,
disposition or liquidation and immediately thereafter and after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default is or would be
in existence;
(iv) any Loan Party and any other Subsidiary may, directly or indirectly, (A) acquire (whether by purchase, acquisition of
Equity Interests of a Person, or as a result of a merger or consolidation) the assets of, or make an Investment in, any other Person
and (B) sell, lease or otherwise transfer, whether by one or a series of transactions, assets (including capital stock or other
securities of Subsidiaries) to any other Person, so long as, in each case, if the aggregate consideration with respect to any such
consolidation, merger, acquisition, Investment, sale, lease or other transfer is greater than or equal to a Substantial Amount, (1) the
Borrower shall have given the Administrative Agent and the Lenders at least 30-days’ prior written notice of such consolidation,
merger, acquisition, Investment, sale, lease or other transfer; (2) immediately prior thereto, and immediately thereafter and after
giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default is or would be in existence, including, without limitation, a Default or Event of
Default resulting from a breach of Section 9.1.; (3) in the case of a consolidation or merger involving the Borrower or a Loan
Party that owns an Eligible Property, the Borrower or such Loan Party shall be the survivor thereof; and (4) at the time the
Borrower gives notice pursuant to clause (1) of this subsection, the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent for
distribution to each of the Lenders a Compliance Certificate, calculated on a pro forma basis, evidencing the continued compliance
by the Loan Parties with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including, without limitation,
the financial covenants contained in Section 9.1., after giving effect to such consolidation, merger, acquisition, Investment, sale,
lease or other transfer;

(v) the Borrower, the other Loan Parties and the other Subsidiaries may lease and sublease their respective assets, as
lessor or sublessor (as the case may be), in the ordinary course of their business; and
(vi) the Borrower may consummate the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization.
Further, no Loan Party nor any Subsidiary, shall enter into any sale-leaseback transactions or other transaction by which such Person shall

remain liable as lessee (or the economic equivalent thereof) of any real or personal property that it has sold or leased to another Person.

Section 9.5.Plans.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, permit any of its respective assets to
become or be deemed to be “plan assets” within the meaning of ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and the respective regulations
promulgated thereunder. The Borrower shall not cause or permit to occur, and shall not permit any other member of the ERISA Group to
cause or permit to occur, any ERISA Event if such ERISA Event could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.6.Fiscal Year.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or other Subsidiary to, change its fiscal year from that in effect
as of the Agreement Date.

Section 9.7.Modifications of Organizational Documents.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, amend, supplement, restate or
otherwise modify or waive the application of any provision of its certificate or articles of incorporation or formation, by-laws, operating
agreement, declaration of trust, partnership agreement or other applicable organizational document if such amendment, supplement,
restatement or other modification (a) is adverse in any material respect to the interest of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders or
(b) could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 9.8.Use of Proceeds.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party, any other Subsidiary or any of its or their respective directors,
officers, employees and agents to, use any proceeds of the Loans to purchase or carry, or to reduce or retire or refinance any credit
incurred to purchase or carry, any margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System) or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such margin stock; provided,
however, to the extent not otherwise prohibited by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, the Borrower may use proceeds of the
Loans to purchase the Borrower’s common stock and to purchase the Senior Notes so long as such use will not result in any of the Loans
or other Obligations being considered to be “purpose credit” directly or indirectly secured by margin stock within the meaning of
Regulation U or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any
other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, use any proceeds of the Loans (a) in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or
authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws, (b) for
the purpose of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or with any Sanctioned Person, or in any
Sanctioned Country or (c) in any manner that would result in the violation of any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.

Section 9.9.Transactions with Affiliates.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, permit to exist or enter into any
transaction (including the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with any Affiliate, except
(a) as set forth on Schedule 6.1.(q) or (b) transactions in the ordinary course of and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of the
business of the Borrower, such other Loan Party or such other Subsidiary and upon fair and reasonable terms which are no less favorable
to the Borrower, such other Loan Party or such other Subsidiary than would be obtained in a comparable arm’s length transaction with a
Person that is not an Affiliate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payments may be made with respect to any items set forth on such
Schedule 6.1.(q) if a Default or Event of Default exists or would result therefrom.

Section 9.10.Derivatives Contracts.
The Borrower shall not, and shall not permit any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary to, enter into or become obligated in
respect of Derivatives Contracts other than Derivatives Contracts entered into by the Borrower, any such Loan Party or any such
Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business and which establish an effective hedge in respect of liabilities, commitments or assets held or
reasonably anticipated by the Borrower, such other Loan Party or such other Subsidiary.

ARTICLE X. Default
Section 10.1.Events of Default.
Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default, whatever the reason for such event and whether it shall be voluntary or
involuntary or be effected by operation of Applicable Law or pursuant to any judgment or order of any Governmental Authority:

(a) Default in Payment. The Borrower shall fail to pay when due under this Agreement or any other Loan Document (whether
upon demand, at maturity, by reason of acceleration or otherwise) (i) the principal of any of the Loans or (ii) any interest or fees on any of

the Loans or any of the other payment Obligations owing by the Borrower under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any
other Loan Party shall fail to pay when due any payment obligation owing by such Loan Party under any Loan Document to which it is a
party, and such failure under this clause (ii) shall continue for a period of five (5) calendar days after the due date thereof.

(b) Default in Performance.
(i) Any Loan Party shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant, condition or agreement on its part to be
performed or observed and contained in Section 7.1.(a) (solely with respect to the existence of the Borrower), Section 7.11.,
Section 7.13., Section 7.15., Article VIII. or Article IX.; or
(ii) Any Loan Party shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant, condition or agreement contained in this
Agreement or any other Loan Document to which it is a party and not otherwise mentioned in this Section, and in the case of this
subsection (b)(ii) only, such failure shall continue for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (x) the date upon which a Responsible
Officer of the Borrower or such other Loan Party obtains knowledge of such failure or (y) the date upon which the Borrower has
received written notice of such failure from the Administrative Agent.
(c) Misrepresentations. Any written statement, representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Loan
Party under this Agreement or under any other Loan Document, or any amendment hereto or thereto, or in any other writing or statement
at any time furnished by, or at the direction of, any Loan Party to the Administrative Agent or any Lender, shall at any time prove to have
been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when furnished or made or deemed made.
(d) Indebtedness Cross-Default.
(i) The Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary shall fail to make any payment when due and payable
(beyond the applicable grace or cure period with respect thereto, if any) in respect of (x) the AIG Purchase Agreement, (y) the
Prudential Note Purchase Agreement or (z) any other Indebtedness (other than the Loans) having an aggregate outstanding
principal amount (including undrawn committed or available amounts) (or, in the case of any Derivatives Contract, having, without
regard to the effect of any close-out netting provision, a Derivatives Termination Value), in each case individually or in the
aggregate with all other Indebtedness as to which such a failure exists, of $25,000,000 or more (collectively under clauses (x)
through (z), “Material Indebtedness”);
(ii) (x) The maturity of any Material Indebtedness shall have been accelerated in accordance with the provisions of any
indenture, contract or instrument evidencing, providing for the creation of or otherwise concerning such Material Indebtedness or
(y) any Material Indebtedness shall have been required to be prepaid, repurchased, redeemed or defeased prior to the stated
maturity thereof; or
(iii) Any other event shall have occurred and be continuing which permits any holder or holders of any Material
Indebtedness, any trustee or agent acting on behalf of such holder or holders or any other Person, to accelerate the maturity of
any such Material Indebtedness or require any such Material Indebtedness to be prepaid, repurchased, redeemed or defeased
prior to its stated maturity.
(e) Voluntary Bankruptcy Proceeding. (A) The Borrower, any other Loan Party, any Eligible Property Subsidiary, any other
Material Subsidiary or any other Subsidiaries of the Borrower having assets (including any Equity Interests in any direct or indirect
subsidiaries) with a Fair Market Value greater than or equal to $40,000,000 in the aggregate shall: (i) commence a voluntary case under
the Bankruptcy Code or other federal bankruptcy laws (as now or hereafter in effect); (ii) file a petition seeking to take advantage of any
other Applicable Laws, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of
debts; (iii) consent to, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under such
bankruptcy laws or other Applicable Laws or consent to any proceeding or action described in the immediately following subsection (f);
(iv) apply for or consent to, or fail to contest in a timely and appropriate manner, the appointment of, or the taking of possession by, a
receiver, custodian, trustee, or liquidator of itself or of a substantial part of its property, domestic or foreign; (v) admit in writing its inability
to pay its debts as they become due; (vi) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (vii) make a conveyance fraudulent as to
creditors under any Applicable Law; or (viii) take any corporate or partnership or other similar action for the purpose of effecting any of
the foregoing or (B) the Borrower or any other Loan Party shall generally not pay its debts as such debts become due.
(f) Involuntary Bankruptcy Proceeding. A case or other proceeding shall be commenced against the Borrower, any other Loan
Party, any Eligible Property Subsidiary, any other Material Subsidiary or any other Subsidiaries of the Borrower having assets (including
any Equity Interests in any direct or indirect subsidiaries) with a Fair Market Value greater than or equal to $40,000,000 in the aggregate
in any court of competent jurisdiction seeking: (i) relief under the Bankruptcy Code or other federal bankruptcy laws (as now or hereafter
in effect) or under any other Applicable Laws, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or

composition or adjustment of debts; or (ii) the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or the like of such Person, or of all or
any substantial part of the assets, domestic or foreign, of such Person, and in the case of either clause (i) or (ii), such case or proceeding
shall continue undismissed or unstayed for a period of 60 consecutive days, or an order granting the remedy or other relief requested in
such case or proceeding (including, but not limited to, an order for relief under such Bankruptcy Code or such other federal bankruptcy
laws) shall be entered.

(g) Revocation of Loan Documents. Any Loan Party shall (or shall attempt to) disavow, revoke or terminate any Loan
Document to which it is a party (except for (i) release of a Subsidiary Guarantor pursuant to Section 7.13. or 7.14. and (ii) termination of
any Loan Document in accordance with its terms) or shall otherwise challenge or contest any action, suit or proceeding in any court or
before any Governmental Authority the validity or enforceability of any Loan Document or any Loan Document shall cease to be in full
force and effect (except as a result of the express terms thereof).
(h) Judgment. A judgment or order for the payment of money or for an injunction or other non-monetary relief shall be entered
against the Borrower, any other Loan Party, or any other Subsidiary by any court or other tribunal and (i) such judgment or order shall
continue for a period of 30 days without being paid, stayed or dismissed through appropriate appellate proceedings and (ii) either (A) the
amount of such judgment or order for which insurance coverage has not been acknowledged in writing by the applicable insurance carrier
(or the amount as to which the insurer has denied liability) exceeds, individually or together with all other such judgments or orders entered
against the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary, $25,000,000 or (B) in the case of an injunction or other non-monetary
relief, such injunction or judgment or order could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(i) Attachment. A warrant, writ of attachment, execution or similar process shall be issued against any property of the Borrower,
any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary, which exceeds, individually or together with all other such warrants, writs, executions and
processes, $25,000,000 in amount and such warrant, writ, execution or process shall not be paid, discharged, vacated, stayed or bonded for
a period of 30 days; provided, however, that if a bond has been issued in favor of the claimant or other Person obtaining such warrant,
writ, execution or process, the issuer of such bond shall execute a waiver or subordination agreement in form and substance satisfactory
to the Administrative Agent pursuant to which the issuer of such bond subordinates its right of reimbursement, contribution or subrogation
to the Obligations and waives or subordinates any Lien it may have on the assets of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other
Subsidiary.
(j) ERISA.
(i) Any ERISA Event shall have occurred that results or could reasonably be expected to result in liability to any
member of the ERISA Group aggregating in excess of $25,000,000; or
(ii) The “benefit obligation” of all Plans exceeds the “fair market value of plan assets” for such Plans by more than
$25,000,000, all as determined, and with such terms defined, in accordance with FASB ASC 715.
(k) Loan Documents. An Event of Default (as defined therein) shall occur under any of the other Loan Documents.
(l) Change of Control/Change in Management.
(i) Any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act becomes the
“beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that a Person will be deemed to have
“beneficial ownership” of all securities that such Person has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or
only after the passage of time), directly or indirectly, of more than 35% of the Equity Interests of the Borrower entitled to vote in
the election of members of the board of directors (or equivalent governing body) of the Borrower;
(ii) During any period of 12 consecutive months ending after the Agreement Date, individuals who at the beginning of
any such 12-month period constituted the Board of Directors of the Borrower (together with any new directors whose election by
such Board or whose nomination for election by the shareholders of the Borrower was approved by a vote of a majority of the
directors then still in office who were either directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election
was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of the Borrower then in
office;
(iii) The Borrower shall fail to own and control, directly or indirectly, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests of each
Eligible Property Subsidiary, free and clear of any Liens (other than those Permitted Liens described in clause (h) of the definition
of Permitted Liens); or
(iv) From and after the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization, (x) the Parent shall cease to own and control, directly or

indirectly, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower, free and clear of any Liens or (y) the Parent, or a Wholly
Owned Subsidiary of the Parent, shall cease to be the sole general partner of the Borrower or shall cease to have the sole and
exclusive power to exercise all management and control over the Borrower.

(m) Damage; Strike; Casualty. Any strike, lockout, labor dispute, embargo, condemnation, act of God or public enemy, or other
casualty which causes, for more than 30 consecutive days beyond the coverage period of any applicable business interruption insurance,
the cessation or substantial curtailment of revenue producing activities of the Borrower, any other Loan Party, or any other Subsidiary
taken as a whole and only if any such event or circumstance could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Section 10.2.Remedies Upon Event of Default.
Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default the following provisions shall apply:

(a) Acceleration; Termination of Term Loan Facility.
(i) Automatic. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default specified in Sections 10.1.(e) or 10.1.(f), (1)(A) the principal
of, and all accrued interest on, the Loans and the Notes at the time outstanding and (B) all of the other Obligations, including, but
not limited to, the other amounts owed to the Lenders and the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, the Notes or any of the
other Loan Documents, in each case, shall become immediately and automatically due and payable without presentment, demand,
protest, or other notice of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by the Borrower on behalf of itself and the other Loan
Parties, and (2) the Commitments hereunder shall all immediately and automatically terminate.
(ii) Optional. If any other Event of Default shall exist, the Administrative Agent may, and at the direction of the
Requisite Lenders, shall: (1) declare (A) the principal of, and accrued interest on, the Loans and the Notes at the time outstanding
and (B) all of the other Obligations, including, but not limited to, the other amounts owed to the Lenders and the Administrative
Agent under this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan Documents, in each case, to be forthwith due and payable,
whereupon the same shall immediately become due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind,
all of which are expressly waived by the Borrower on behalf of itself and the other Loan Parties, and (2) terminate the
Commitments hereunder.

(b) Loan Documents. The Requisite Lenders may direct the Administrative Agent to, and the Administrative Agent if so
directed shall, exercise any and all of its rights under any and all of the other Loan Documents.
(c) Applicable Law. The Requisite Lenders may direct the Administrative Agent to, and the Administrative Agent if so directed
shall, exercise all other rights and remedies it may have under any Applicable Law.
(d) Appointment of Receiver. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall be
entitled to the appointment of a receiver for the assets and properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, without notice of any kind
whatsoever and without regard to the adequacy of any security for the Obligations or the solvency of any party bound for its payment, to
take possession of all or any portion of the property and/or the business operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and to exercise
such power as the court shall confer upon such receiver.
(e) Remedies in Respect of Specified Derivatives Contracts and Specified Cash Management Agreements. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Agreement or other Loan Document, each Specified Derivatives Provider and Specified Cash Management Bank
shall have the right, with prompt notice to the Administrative Agent, but without the approval or consent of or other action by the
Administrative Agent or the Lenders, and without limitation of other remedies available to such Specified Derivatives Provider or
Specified Cash Management Bank, as applicable, under contract or Applicable Law, to undertake any of the following: (a) in the case of a
Specified Derivatives Provider, to declare an event of default, termination event or other similar event under any Specified Derivatives
Contract and to create an “Early Termination Date” (as defined therein) in respect thereof, (b) in the case of a Specified Derivatives
Provider, to determine net termination amounts in respect of any and all Specified Derivatives Contracts in accordance with the terms
thereof, and to set off amounts among such contracts, (c) in the case of a Specified Derivatives Provider, to set off or proceed against
deposit account balances, securities account balances and other property and amounts held by such Specified Derivatives Provider and
(d) to prosecute any legal action against the Borrower, any Loan Party or other Subsidiary to enforce or collect net amounts owing to such
Specified Derivatives Provider or Specified Cash Management Bank, as applicable, pursuant to any Specified Derivatives Contract or
Specified Cash Management Agreement, as applicable.
Section 10.3.Remedies Upon Default.
Upon the occurrence of a Default specified in Section 10.1.(f), the Commitments shall immediately and automatically terminate.

Section 10.4.Marshaling; Payments Set Aside.
No Lender Party shall be under any obligation to marshal any assets in favor of any Loan Party or any other party or against or in
payment of any or all of the Guaranteed Obligations. To the extent that any Loan Party makes a payment or payments to a Lender Party,
or a Lender Party enforces its security interest or exercises its right of setoff, and such payment or payments or the proceeds of such
enforcement or setoff or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or preferential, set aside and/or required
to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party under any bankruptcy law, state or federal law, common law or equitable cause, then
to the extent of such recovery, the Guaranteed Obligations, or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied, and all Liens, rights and
remedies therefor, shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such enforcement or
setoff had not occurred.

Section 10.5.Allocation of Proceeds.
If an Event of Default exists, all payments received by the Administrative Agent (or any Lender as a result of its exercise of
remedies permitted under Section 12.3.) under any of the Loan Documents in respect of any Guaranteed Obligations shall be applied in
the following order and priority:

(i) to payment of that portion of the Guaranteed Obligations constituting fees, indemnities, expenses and other amounts,
including attorney fees, payable to the Administrative Agent in its capacity as such;

(ii) to payment of that portion of the Guaranteed Obligations constituting fees, indemnities and other amounts (other than
principal and interest) payable to the Lenders under the Loan Documents, including attorney fees, ratably among the Lenders in
proportion to the respective amounts described in this clause (ii) payable to them;
(iii) [reserved];
(iv) to payment of that portion of the Guaranteed Obligations constituting accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans,
ratably among the Lenders in proportion to the respective amounts described in this clause (iv) payable to them;
(v) [reserved];
(vi) to payment of that portion of the Guaranteed Obligations constituting unpaid principal of the Loans and payment
obligations then owing under Specified Derivatives Contracts and Specified Cash Management Agreements, ratably among the
Lenders, the Specified Derivatives Providers and the Specified Cash Management Banks in proportion to the respective amounts
described in this clause (vi) payable to them; and
(vii) the balance, if any, after all of the Guaranteed Obligations have been indefeasibly paid in full, to the Borrower or as
otherwise required by Applicable Law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Guaranteed Obligations arising under Specified Cash Management Agreements and Specified Derivatives
Contracts shall be excluded from the application described above if the Administrative Agent has not received written notice thereof,
together with such supporting documentation as the Administrative Agent may request, from the applicable Specified Cash Management
Bank or Specified Derivatives Provider, as the case may be. Each Specified Cash Management Bank or Specified Derivatives Provider
not a party to this Agreement that has given the notice contemplated by the preceding sentence shall, by such notice, be deemed to have
acknowledged and accepted the appointment of the Administrative Agent pursuant to the terms of Article XI. for itself and its Affiliates
as if a “Lender” party hereto.

Section 10.6.[Reserved].
Section 10.7.Rescission of Acceleration by Requisite Lenders.
If at any time after acceleration of the maturity of the Loans and the other Obligations, the Borrower shall pay all arrears of
interest and all payments on account of principal of the Obligations which shall have become due otherwise than by acceleration (with
interest on principal and, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, on overdue interest, at the rates specified in this Agreement) and all
Events of Default and Defaults (other than nonpayment of principal of and accrued interest on the Obligations due and payable solely by
virtue of acceleration) shall become remedied or waived to the satisfaction of the Requisite Lenders, then by written notice to the
Borrower, the Requisite Lenders may elect, in the sole discretion of such Requisite Lenders, to rescind and annul the acceleration and its
consequences. The provisions of the preceding sentence are intended merely to bind all of the Lenders to a decision which may be made
at the election of the Requisite Lenders, and are not intended to benefit the Borrower and do not give the Borrower the right to require the
Lenders to rescind or annul any acceleration hereunder, even if the conditions set forth herein are satisfied.

Section 10.8.Performance by Administrative Agent.
If the Borrower or any other Loan Party shall fail to perform any covenant, duty or agreement contained in any of the Loan
Documents, the Administrative Agent may, after notice to the Borrower, perform or attempt to perform such covenant, duty or agreement
on behalf of the Borrower or such other Loan Party after the expiration of any cure or grace periods set forth herein. In such event, the
Borrower shall, at the request of the Administrative Agent, promptly pay any amount reasonably expended by the Administrative Agent in
such performance or attempted performance to the Administrative Agent, together with interest thereon at the applicable Post-Default
Rate from the date of such expenditure until paid. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Administrative Agent nor any Lender shall
have any liability or responsibility whatsoever for the performance of any obligation of the Borrower under this Agreement or any other
Loan Document.

Section 10.9.Rights Cumulative.
(a) Generally. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement and each of the other
Loan Documents, of the Specified Derivatives Providers under the Specified Derivatives Contracts, and of the Specified Cash
Management Banks under the Specified Cash Management Agreements, shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies
which any of them may otherwise have under Applicable Law. In exercising their respective rights and remedies the Administrative
Agent, the Lenders, the Specified Derivatives Providers and the Specified Cash Management Banks may be selective and no failure or
delay by any such Lender Party in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver of it, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any power
or right preclude its other or further exercise or the exercise of any other power or right.
(b) Enforcement by Administrative Agent. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Loan
Document, the authority to enforce rights and remedies hereunder and under the other Loan Documents against the Loan Parties or any
of them shall be vested exclusively in, and all actions and proceedings at law in connection with such enforcement shall be instituted and
maintained exclusively by, the Administrative Agent in accordance with Article X. for the benefit of all the Lenders; provided that the
foregoing shall not prohibit (i) the Administrative Agent from exercising on its own behalf the rights and remedies that inure to its benefit
(solely in its capacity as Administrative Agent) hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, (ii) any Specified Derivatives Provider or
Specified Cash Management Bank from exercising the rights and remedies that inure to its benefit under any Specified Derivatives
Contract or Specified Cash Management Agreement, as applicable, (iii) any Lender from exercising setoff rights in accordance with
Section 12.3. (subject to the terms of Section 3.3.), or (iv) any Lender from filing proofs of claim or appearing and filing pleadings on its
own behalf during the pendency of a proceeding relative to any Loan Party under any Debtor Relief Law; and provided, further, that if at
any time there is no Person acting as Administrative Agent hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, then (x) the Requisite
Lenders shall have the rights otherwise ascribed to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Article X. and (y) in addition to the matters set
forth in clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) of the preceding proviso and subject to Section 3.3., any Lender may, with the consent of the Requisite
Lenders, enforce any rights and remedies available to it and as authorized by the Requisite Lenders.
ARTICLE XI. The Administrative Agent
Section 11.1.Appointment and Authorization.
Each Lender hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes the Administrative Agent to take such action as contractual
representative on such Lender’s behalf and to exercise such powers under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as are
specifically delegated to the Administrative Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental
thereto. Not in limitation of the foregoing, each Lender authorizes and directs the Administrative Agent to enter into the Loan Documents
for the benefit of the Lenders. Each Lender hereby agrees that, except as otherwise set forth herein, any action taken by the Requisite
Lenders in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement or the Loan Documents, and the exercise by the Requisite Lenders of the
powers set forth herein or therein, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto, shall be authorized and binding
upon all of the Lenders. Nothing herein shall be construed to deem the Administrative Agent a trustee or fiduciary for any Lender or to
impose on the Administrative Agent duties or obligations other than those expressly provided for herein. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, the use of the terms “Agent”, “Administrative Agent”, “agent” and similar terms in the Loan Documents with reference to
the Administrative Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of
any Applicable Law. Instead, use of such terms is merely a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an
administrative relationship between independent contracting parties. The Administrative Agent shall deliver or otherwise make available to
each Lender, promptly upon receipt thereof by the Administrative Agent, copies of each of the financial statements, certificates, notices
and other documents delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Article VIII. that the Borrower is not otherwise required to deliver
directly to the Lenders. The Administrative Agent will furnish to any Lender, upon the request of such Lender, a copy (or, where
appropriate, an original) of any document, instrument, agreement, certificate or notice furnished to the Administrative Agent by the
Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Affiliate of the Borrower, pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document not
already delivered or otherwise made available to such Lender pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any such other Loan Document.
As to any matters not expressly provided for by the Loan Documents (including, without limitation, enforcement or collection of any of the
Obligations), the Administrative Agent shall not be required to exercise any discretion or take any action, but shall be required to act or to

refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or refraining from acting) upon the instructions of the Requisite Lenders (or all
of the Lenders if explicitly required under any other provision of this Agreement), and such instructions shall be binding upon all Lenders
and all holders of any of the Obligations; provided, however, that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the
Administrative Agent shall not be required to take any action which exposes the Administrative Agent to personal liability or which is
contrary to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or Applicable Law. Not in limitation of the foregoing, the Administrative Agent
may exercise any right or remedy it or the Lenders may have under any Loan Document upon the occurrence of a Default or an Event of
Default unless the Requisite Lenders have directed the Administrative Agent otherwise. Without limiting the foregoing, no Lender shall
have any right of action whatsoever against the Administrative Agent as a result of the Administrative Agent acting or refraining from
acting under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents in accordance with the instructions of the Requisite Lenders, or where
applicable, all the Lenders. The Lenders hereby authorize the Administrative Agent to release any Guarantor from the Guaranty (i) in the
case of a Subsidiary Guarantor, upon satisfaction of the conditions to release set forth in Section 7.13. or Section 7.14.; (ii) if approved,
authorized or ratified in writing by the Requisite Lenders or all of the Lenders hereunder, as required under the circumstances; or (iii) on
the Termination Date. In connection with any such release of a Guarantor pursuant to the preceding sentence, the Administrative Agent
shall (and is hereby irrevocably authorized by each Lender to) execute and deliver to any Loan Party, at such Loan Party’s expense, all
documents that such Loan Party shall reasonably request to evidence such termination or release (any execution and delivery of such
documents being without recourse to or warranty by the Administrative Agent).

Section 11.2.Administrative Agent as Lender.
The Lender acting as Administrative Agent shall have the same rights and powers as a Lender, a Specified Derivatives Provider
or a Specified Cash Management Bank, as the case may be, under this Agreement, any other Loan Document, any Specified Derivatives
Contract or any Specified Cash Management Agreement, as the case may be, as any other Lender, Specified Derivatives Provider or any
Specified Cash Management Bank and may exercise the same as though it were not the Administrative Agent; and the term “Lender” or
“Lenders” shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated, include the Lender acting as Administrative Agent in each case in its individual
capacity. Such Lender and its Affiliates may each accept deposits from, maintain deposits or credit balances for, invest in, lend money to,
act as trustee under indentures of, serve as financial advisor to, and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower, any other
Loan Party or any other Affiliate thereof as if it were any other bank and without any duty to account therefor to the other Lenders, any
Specified Derivatives Providers or any Specified Cash Management Banks. Further, the Administrative Agent and any Affiliate may
accept fees and other consideration from the Borrower for services in connection with this Agreement, any Specified Derivatives
Contract or any Specified Cash Management Agreement, or otherwise without having to account for the same to the other Lenders, any
Specified Derivatives Providers or any Specified Cash Management Banks. The Lenders acknowledge that, pursuant to such activities,
the Lender acting as Administrative Agent or its Affiliates may receive information regarding the Borrower, other Loan Parties, other
Subsidiaries and other Affiliates (including information that may be subject to confidentiality obligations in favor of such Person) and
acknowledge that the Administrative Agent shall be under no obligation to provide such information to them.

Section 11.3.Approvals of Lenders.
All communications from the Administrative Agent to any Lender requesting such Lender’s determination, consent or approval
(a) shall be given in the form of a written notice to such Lender, (b) shall be accompanied by a description of the matter or issue as to
which such determination, consent or approval is requested, or shall advise such Lender where information, if any, regarding such matter
or issue may be inspected, or shall otherwise describe the matter or issue to be resolved and (c) shall include, if reasonably requested by
such Lender and to the extent not previously provided to such Lender, written materials provided to the Administrative Agent by the
Borrower in respect of the matter or issue to be resolved. Unless a Lender shall give written notice to the Administrative Agent that it
specifically objects to the requested determination, consent or approval within 10 Business Days (or such lesser or greater period as may
be specifically required under the express terms of the Loan Documents) of receipt of such communication, such Lender shall be deemed
to have conclusively approved such requested determination, consent or approval.

Section 11.4.Notice of Events of Default.
The Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of a Default or Event of Default
unless the Administrative Agent has received notice from a Lender or the Borrower referring to this Agreement, describing with
reasonable specificity such Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a “notice of default.” If any Lender (excluding the
Lender which is also serving as the Administrative Agent) becomes aware of any Default or Event of Default, it shall promptly send to
the Administrative Agent such a “notice of default”; provided, a Lender’s failure to provide such a “notice of default” to the
Administrative Agent shall not result in any liability of such Lender to any other party to any of the Loan Documents. Further, if the
Administrative Agent receives such a “notice of default,” the Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Lenders.

Section 11.5.Administrative Agent’s Reliance.
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement or any other Loan Documents, neither the Administrative Agent nor any
of its Related Parties shall be liable for any action taken or not taken by it under or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan
Document, except for its or their own gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with its duties expressly set forth herein or
therein as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealable judgment. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel (including its own counsel or counsel for the Borrower or any other

Loan Party), independent public accountants and other experts selected by it and shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be
taken in good faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts. Neither the Administrative Agent nor any
of its Related Parties: (a) makes any warranty or representation to any Lender or any other Person, or shall be responsible to any Lender
or any other Person for any statement, warranty or representation made or deemed made by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any
other Person in or in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document; (b) shall have any duty to ascertain or to inquire as to
the performance or observance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the
satisfaction of any conditions precedent under this Agreement or any Loan Document on the part of the Borrower or other Persons, or to
inspect the property, books or records of the Borrower or any other Person; (c) shall be responsible to any Lender for the due execution,
legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, any other instrument or
document furnished pursuant thereto or any collateral covered thereby or the perfection or priority of any Lien in favor of the
Administrative Agent on behalf of the Lender Parties in any such collateral; (d) shall have any liability in respect of any recitals,
statements, certifications, representations or warranties contained in any of the Loan Documents or any other document, instrument,
agreement, certificate or statement delivered in connection therewith; and (e) shall incur any liability under or in respect of this Agreement
or any other Loan Document by acting upon any notice, consent, certificate or other instrument or writing (which may be by telephone,
telecopy or electronic mail) believed by it to be genuine and signed, sent or given by the proper party or parties. The Administrative Agent
may execute any of its duties under the Loan Documents by or through agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact and shall not be responsible
for the negligence or misconduct of any agent or attorney-in-fact that it selects in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct in
the selection of such agent or attorney-in-fact as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final non-appealable judgment.

Section 11.6.Indemnification of Administrative Agent.
Each Lender agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower and without limiting the
obligation of the Borrower to do so) pro rata in accordance with such Lender’s respective Pro Rata Share (determined as of the time that
the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought), from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages,
penalties, actions, judgments, suits and reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of any kind or nature whatsoever which may at any
time be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against the Administrative Agent (in its capacity as Administrative Agent but not as a
Lender) in any way relating to or arising out of the Loan Documents, any transaction contemplated hereby or thereby or any action taken
or omitted by the Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents (collectively, “Indemnifiable Amounts”); provided, however, that no
Lender shall be liable for any portion of such Indemnifiable Amounts to the extent resulting from the Administrative Agent’s gross
negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final, non-appealable judgment; provided, further,
that no action taken in accordance with the directions of the Requisite Lenders (or all of the Lenders, if expressly required hereunder)
shall be deemed to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct for purposes of this Section. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, each Lender agrees to reimburse the Administrative Agent (to the extent not reimbursed by the Borrower and without limiting
the obligation of the Borrower to do so) promptly upon demand for its Pro Rata Share (determined as of the time that the applicable
reimbursement is sought) of any out-of-pocket expenses (including the reasonable fees and expenses of the counsel to the Administrative
Agent) incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution, administration, or enforcement
(whether through negotiations, legal proceedings, or otherwise) of, or legal advice with respect to the rights or responsibilities of the parties
under, the Loan Documents, any suit or action brought by the Administrative Agent to enforce the terms of the Loan Documents and/or
collect any Obligations, any “lender liability” suit or claim brought against the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders, and any claim or
suit brought against the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders arising under any Environmental Laws. Such out-of-pocket expenses
(including counsel fees) shall be advanced by the Lenders on the request of the Administrative Agent notwithstanding any claim or
assertion that the Administrative Agent is not entitled to indemnification hereunder upon receipt of an undertaking by the Administrative
Agent that the Administrative Agent will reimburse the Lenders if it is actually and finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction
that the Administrative Agent is not so entitled to indemnification. The agreements in this Section shall survive the payment of the Loans
and all other Obligations and the termination of this Agreement. If the Borrower shall reimburse the Administrative Agent for any
Indemnifiable Amount following payment by any Lender to the Administrative Agent in respect of such Indemnifiable Amount pursuant to
this Section, the Administrative Agent shall share such reimbursement on a ratable basis with each Lender making any such payment.

Section 11.7.Lender Credit Decision, Etc.
Each of the Lenders expressly acknowledges and agrees that neither the Administrative Agent nor any of its Related Parties has
made any representations or warranties to such Lender and that no act by the Administrative Agent hereafter taken, including any review
of the affairs of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary or Affiliate, shall be deemed to constitute any such
representation or warranty by the Administrative Agent to any Lender. Each of the Lenders acknowledges that it has made its own credit
and legal analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, independently and without reliance
upon the Administrative Agent, the Titled Agents (as defined in Section 11.9.), any other Lender or counsel to the Administrative Agent,
or any of their respective Related Parties, and based on the financial statements of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties, the other
Subsidiaries and other Affiliates, and inquiries of such Persons, its independent due diligence of the business and affairs of the Borrower,
the other Loan Parties, the other Subsidiaries and other Persons, its review of the Loan Documents, the legal opinions required to be
delivered to it hereunder, the advice of its own counsel and such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate. Each of
the Lenders also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, the Titled Agents (as
defined in Section 11.9.), any other Lender or counsel to the Administrative Agent or any of their respective Related Parties, and based on
such review, advice, documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own decisions in taking or

not taking action under the Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent shall not be required to keep itself informed as to the performance
or observance by the Borrower or any other Loan Party of the Loan Documents or any other document referred to or provided for therein
or to inspect the properties or books of, or make any other investigation of, the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary.
Except for notices, reports and other documents and information expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Administrative
Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, the Administrative Agent shall have no duty or responsibility to provide
any Lender with any credit or other information concerning the business, operations, property, financial and other condition or
creditworthiness of the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Affiliate thereof which may come into possession of the
Administrative Agent or any of its Related Parties. Each of the Lenders acknowledges that the Administrative Agent’s legal counsel in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is only acting as counsel to the Administrative Agent and is not acting as
counsel to any Lender.

Section 11.8.Successor Administrative Agent.
The Administrative Agent may resign at any time as Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents by giving written notice
thereof to the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Requisite Lenders shall have the right to appoint a successor
Administrative Agent which appointment shall, provided no Default or Event of Default exists, be subject to the Borrower’s approval,
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed (except that the Borrower shall, in all events, be deemed to have approved
each Lender and any of its Affiliates as a successor Administrative Agent). If no successor Administrative Agent shall have been so
appointed in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, and shall have accepted such appointment, within 30 days after the
current Administrative Agent’s giving of notice of resignation, then the current Administrative Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders,
appoint a successor Administrative Agent, which shall be a Lender, if any Lender shall be willing to serve, and otherwise shall be an
Eligible Assignee (but in no event shall any such successor Administrative Agent be a Defaulting Lender or an Affiliate of a Defaulting
Lender); provided that if the Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders that no Lender has accepted such
appointment, then such resignation shall nonetheless become effective in accordance with such notice and (1) the Administrative Agent
shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents and (2) all payments, communications
and determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Administrative Agent shall instead be made to each Lender directly, until
such time as a successor Administrative Agent has been appointed as provided for above in this Section; provided, further that such
Lenders so acting directly shall be and be deemed to be protected by all indemnities and other provisions herein for the benefit and
protection of the Administrative Agent as if each such Lender were itself the Administrative Agent. Upon the acceptance of any
appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor Administrative Agent shall
thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the current Administrative Agent, and the
current Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under the Loan Documents. After any Administrative
Agent’s resignation hereunder as Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Article XI. shall continue to inure to its benefit as to any
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents. Notwithstanding anything
contained herein to the contrary, the Administrative Agent may assign its rights and duties under the Loan Documents to any of its
Affiliates by giving the Borrower and each Lender prior written notice.

Section 11.9.Titled Agents.
Each of the Arrangers, Syndication Agents and Documentation Agents (each a “Titled Agent”) in each such respective
capacity, assumes no responsibility or obligation hereunder, including, without limitation, for servicing, enforcement or collection of any of
the Loans, nor any duties as an agent hereunder for the Lenders. The titles given to the Titled Agents are solely honorific and imply no
fiduciary responsibility on the part of the Titled Agents to the Administrative Agent, any Lender, the Borrower or any other Loan Party
and the use of such titles does not impose on the Titled Agents any duties or obligations greater than those of any other Lender or entitle
the Titled Agents to any rights other than those to which any other Lender is entitled.

Section 11.10.Specified Derivatives Contracts and Specified Cash Management Agreements.
No Specified Cash Management Bank or Specified Derivatives Provider that obtains the benefits of Section 10.5. by virtue of the
provisions hereof or of any Loan Document shall have any right to notice of any action or to consent to, direct or object to any action
hereunder or under any other Loan Document or otherwise in respect of any Loan Document other than in its capacity as a Lender and,
in such case, only to the extent expressly provided in the Loan Documents. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article to the
contrary, the Administrative Agent shall not be required to verify the payment of, or that other satisfactory arrangements have been made
with respect to, Specified Cash Management Agreements and Specified Derivatives Contracts unless the Administrative Agent has
received written notice of such Specified Cash Management Agreements and Specified Derivatives Contracts, together with such
supporting documentation as the Administrative Agent may request, from the applicable Specified Cash Management Bank or Specified
Derivatives Provider, as the case may be.

Section 11.11.Additional ERISA Matters.
(a)
Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, and (y) covenants,
from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of,
the Administrative Agent, each Arranger and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the
Borrower or any other Loan Party, that at least one of the following is and will be true:

(i) such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of 29 CFR § 2510.3-101, as modified by Section 3(42) of
ERISA) of one or more Benefit Plans in connection with the Loans or the Commitments;
(ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions
determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions
involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance
company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective
investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is
applicable with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans,
the Commitments and this Agreement;
(iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of
Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such
Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the
entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement
satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such
Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance
into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement; or
(iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its
sole discretion, and such Lender.
(b)
In addition, unless sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or such Lender
has not provided another representation, warranty and covenant as provided in sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a),
such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, and (y) covenants, from the
date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the
Administrative Agent, each Arranger and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the
Borrower or any other Loan Party, that:
(i) none of the Administrative Agent or any Arranger or any of their respective Affiliates is a fiduciary with respect to the
assets of such Lender (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent
under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any documents related to hereto or thereto);
(ii) the Person making the investment decision on behalf of such Lender with respect to the entrance into, participation in,
administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement is independent (within the meaning
of 29 CFR § 2510.3-21) and is a bank, an insurance carrier, an investment adviser, a broker-dealer or other person that
holds, or has under management or control, total assets of at least $50 million, in each case as described in 29 CFR
§ 2510.3-21(c)(1)(i)(A)-(E);
(iii) the Person making the investment decision on behalf of such Lender with respect to the entrance into, participation in,
administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement is capable of evaluating
investment risks independently, both in general and with regard to particular transactions and investment strategies
(including in respect of the Obligations);
(iv) the Person making the investment decision on behalf of such Lender with respect to the entrance into, participation in,
administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement is a fiduciary under ERISA or the
Internal Revenue Code, or both, with respect to the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement and is responsible for
exercising independent judgment in evaluating the transactions hereunder; and
(v) no fee or other compensation is being paid directly to the Administrative Agent or any Arranger or any of their respective
Affiliates for investment advice (as opposed to other services) in connection with the Loans, the Commitments or this
Agreement.
(c)
The Administrative Agent and each Arranger hereby informs the Lenders that each such Person is not undertaking to
provide impartial investment advice, or to give advice in a fiduciary capacity, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and
that such Person has a financial interest in the transactions contemplated hereby in that such Person or an Affiliate thereof (i) may receive
interest or other payments with respect to the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (ii) may recognize a gain if it extended the
Loans, or the Commitments for an amount less than the amount being paid for an interest in the Loans, or the Commitments by such
Lender or (iii) may receive fees or other payments in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the Loan Documents or
otherwise, including structuring fees, commitment fees, arrangement fees, facility fees, upfront fees, underwriting fees, ticking fees,
agency fees, administrative agent or collateral agent fees, utilization fees, minimum usage fees, fronting fees, deal-away or alternate
transaction fees, amendment fees, processing fees, term out premiums, banker’s acceptance fees, breakage or other early termination
fees or fees similar to the foregoing.

ARTICLE XII. Miscellaneous
Section 12.1.Notices.
Unless otherwise provided herein (including, without limitation, as provided in Section 8.5.), communications provided for
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be mailed, telecopied, or delivered as follows:
If to the Borrower:
National Health Investors, Inc.
225 Robert Rose Drive
Murfreesboro, TN 37129
Attention: Eric Mendelsohn, Chief Executive Officer
Telephone Number: (615) 203-6272
If to the Administrative Agent:
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
301 S. College Street, 14th Floor
Charlotte, NC 28202
Attn: Darin Mullis
Telephone: (704) 715-4361
If to the Administrative Agent under Article II.:
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
MAC D1109-019
1525 West W.T. Harris Blvd
Charlotte, NC 28262
Attn: Syndication Agency Services
Telephone: (704) 590-2703
If to any other Lender:
To such Lender’s address or telecopy number as set forth in the applicable Administrative Questionnaire
or, as to each party at such other address as shall be designated by such party in a written notice to the other parties delivered in
compliance with this Section; provided, that a Lender shall only be required to give notice of any such other address to the Administrative
Agent and the Borrower. All such notices and other communications shall be effective (i) if mailed, upon the first to occur of receipt or
the expiration of 3 days after the deposit in the United States Postal Service mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the address of the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent and Lenders at the addresses specified; (ii) if telecopied, when transmitted; (iii) if hand delivered or
sent by overnight courier, when delivered; or (iv) if delivered in accordance with Section 8.5. to the extent applicable; provided, however,
that, in the case of the immediately preceding clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), non-receipt of any communication as of the result of any change of
address of which the sending party was not notified or as the result of a refusal to accept delivery shall be deemed receipt of such
communication. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, all notices or communications to the Administrative Agent or any
Lender under Article II. shall be effective only when actually received. None of the Administrative Agent or any Lender shall incur any
liability to any Loan Party (nor shall the Administrative Agent incur any liability to the Lenders) for acting upon any telephonic notice
referred to in this Agreement which the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, believes in good faith to have been
given by a Person authorized to deliver such notice or for otherwise acting in good faith hereunder. Failure of a Person designated to
receive a copy of a notice to receive such copy shall not affect the validity of notice properly given to another Person.

Section 12.2.Expenses.
The Borrower agrees (a) to pay or reimburse each of the Administrative Agent and each Arranger, from time to time on demand,
upon presentation of a summary statement, for all of its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
preparation, negotiation and execution of, and any amendment, supplement or modification to, any of the Loan Documents (including due
diligence expenses), and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including the reasonable fees and
disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent and all costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent in connection with the use
of IntraLinks, SyndTrak or other similar information transmission systems in connection with the Loan Documents and of the
Administrative Agent in connection with the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent relating to all such
activities, (b) to pay or reimburse the Administrative Agent and the Lenders for all their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in
connection with the enforcement or preservation of any rights under the Loan Documents, including the reasonable fees and
disbursements of their respective counsel (including the allocated fees and expenses of in-house counsel) and any payments in
indemnification or otherwise payable by the Lenders to the Administrative Agent pursuant to the Loan Documents, (c) to pay, and

indemnify and hold harmless the Administrative Agent and the Lenders from, any and all recording and filing fees and any and all liabilities
with respect to, or resulting from any failure to pay or delay in paying, documentary, stamp, excise and other similar taxes, if any, which
may be payable or determined to be payable in connection with the execution and delivery of any of the Loan Documents, or
consummation of any amendment, supplement or modification of, or any waiver or consent under or in respect of, any Loan Document
and (d) to the extent not already covered by any of the preceding subsections, to pay or reimburse the fees and disbursements of counsel
to the Administrative Agent or any Lender incurred in connection with the representation of the Administrative Agent or such Lender in
any matter relating to or arising out of any bankruptcy or other proceeding of the type described in Sections 10.1.(e) or 10.1.(f), including,
without limitation, (i) any motion for relief from any stay or similar order, (ii) the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of any
document relating to the Obligations and (iii) the negotiation and preparation of any debtor-in-possession financing or any plan of
reorganization of the Borrower or any other Loan Party, whether proposed by the Borrower, such Loan Party, the Lenders or any other
Person, and whether such fees and expenses are incurred prior to, during or after the commencement of such proceeding or the
confirmation or conclusion of any such proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligation to reimburse the Administrative Agent,
the Arrangers and the Lenders for fees and expenses of counsel in connection with the matters described in the foregoing clauses (a), (c)
and (d) shall be limited to the reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of one primary counsel identified by the Administrative Agent,
and, if necessary, one specialty counsel in each relevant specialty, one local counsel in each relevant local jurisdiction, and, in the case of
an actual or perceived conflict of interest, one additional counsel in each relevant jurisdiction to the affected Lender Parties similarly
situated. If the Borrower shall fail to pay any amounts required to be paid by it pursuant to this Section within 15 days after written invoice
therefor is received by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders may pay such amounts on behalf of the Borrower and
such amounts shall be deemed to be Obligations owing hereunder.

Section 12.3.Setoff.
Subject to Section 3.3. and in addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under Applicable Law and not by way of limitation of
any such rights, the Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, each Lender, each Affiliate of the Administrative Agent or any
Lender, and each Participant, at any time or from time to time while an Event of Default exists, without notice to the Borrower or to any
other Person, any such notice being hereby expressly waived, but in the case of a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, or a Participant,
subject to receipt of the prior written consent of the Requisite Lenders exercised in their sole discretion, to set off and to appropriate and
to apply any and all deposits (general or special, including, but not limited to, indebtedness evidenced by certificates of deposit, whether
matured or unmatured) and any other indebtedness at any time held or owing by the Administrative Agent, such Lender, any Affiliate of
the Administrative Agent or such Lender, or such Participant, to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against and on account
of any of the Obligations, irrespective of whether or not any or all of the Loans and all other Obligations have been declared to be, or have
otherwise become, due and payable as permitted by Section 10.2., and although such Obligations shall be contingent or unmatured.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section, if any Defaulting Lender shall exercise any such right of setoff, (x) all amounts so
set off shall be paid over immediately to the Administrative Agent for further application in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.9.
and, pending such payment, shall be segregated by such Defaulting Lender from its other funds and deemed held in trust for the benefit of
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders and (y) such Defaulting Lender shall provide promptly to the Administrative Agent a statement
describing in reasonable detail the Obligations owing to such Defaulting Lender as to which it exercised such right of setoff. Each of the
Administrative Agent and each Lender, each Affiliate of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, and each Participant agrees promptly to
notify the Borrower after any such set-off and application; provided, however, that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the
validity of such set-off and application.

Section 12.4.Litigation; Jurisdiction; Other Matters; Waivers.
(a) EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES THAT ANY DISPUTE OR CONTROVERSY BETWEEN OR AMONG
THE BORROWER, THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ANY OF THE LENDERS WOULD BE BASED ON DIFFICULT AND
COMPLEX ISSUES OF LAW AND FACT AND WOULD RESULT IN DELAY AND EXPENSE TO THE PARTIES.
ACCORDINGLY, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE LENDERS, THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY
ACTION OR PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND OR NATURE IN ANY COURT OR TRIBUNAL IN WHICH AN ACTION MAY
BE COMMENCED BY OR AGAINST ANY PARTY HERETO ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT OR BY REASON OF ANY OTHER SUIT, CAUSE OF ACTION OR DISPUTE WHATSOEVER BETWEEN OR
AMONG THE BORROWER, THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ANY OF THE LENDERS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE
RELATING TO ANY OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS.
(b) THE BORROWER IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT COMMENCE
ANY ACTION, LITIGATION OR PROCEEDING OF ANY KIND OR DESCRIPTION, WHETHER IN LAW OR EQUITY,
WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR IN TORT OR OTHERWISE, AGAINST THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ANY LENDER OR
ANY RELATED PARTY OF THE FOREGOING IN ANY WAY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATING HERETO OR THERETO, IN ANY FORUM OTHER THAN THE
COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN NEW YORK COUNTY, AND OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT
COURT OF THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, AND ANY APPELLATE COURT FROM ANY THEREOF, AND
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF

SUCH COURTS AND AGREES THAT ALL CLAIMS IN RESPECT OF ANY SUCH ACTION, LITIGATION OR PROCEEDING
MAY BE HEARD AND DETERMINED IN SUCH NEW YORK STATE COURT OR, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW, IN SUCH FEDERAL COURT. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGREES THAT A FINAL
JUDGMENT IN ANY SUCH ACTION, LITIGATION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE CONCLUSIVE AND MAY BE
ENFORCED IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS BY SUIT ON THE JUDGMENT OR IN ANY OTHER MANNER PROVIDED BY
LAW. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT OR IN ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT SHALL AFFECT ANY RIGHT THAT THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT OR ANY LENDER MAY OTHERWISE HAVE TO BRING ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT AGAINST THE BORROWER OR ITS
PROPERTIES IN THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION. EACH PARTY FURTHER WAIVES ANY OBJECTION THAT IT
MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT
OR THAT SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING WAS BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM AND EACH AGREES NOT
TO PLEAD OR CLAIM THE SAME.

(c) THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT, OR
OTHER PROCESS OR PAPERS ISSUED THEREIN, AND AGREES THAT SERVICE OF SUCH SUMMONS AND
COMPLAINT, OR OTHER PROCESS OR PAPERS MAY BE MADE BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL
ADDRESSED TO THE BORROWER AT ITS ADDRESS FOR NOTICES PROVIDED FOR HEREIN. SHOULD THE
BORROWER FAIL TO APPEAR OR ANSWER ANY SUMMONS, COMPLAINT, PROCESS OR PAPERS SO SERVED
WITHIN 30 DAYS AFTER THE MAILING THEREOF, THE BORROWER SHALL BE DEEMED IN DEFAULT AND
AN ORDER AND/OR JUDGMENT MAY BE ENTERED AGAINST IT AS DEMANDED OR PRAYED FOR IN SUCH
SUMMONS, COMPLAINT, PROCESS OR PAPERS.
(d) THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED BY EACH PARTY WITH THE ADVICE OF
COUNSEL AND WITH A FULL UNDERSTANDING OF THE LEGAL CONSEQUENCES THEREOF, AND SHALL SURVIVE
THE PAYMENT OF THE LOANS AND ALL OTHER AMOUNTS PAYABLE HEREUNDER OR UNDER THE OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENTS AND THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.
Section 12.5.Successors and Assigns.
(a) Successors and Assigns Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that neither the Borrower nor any other Loan Party
may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder or under any other Loan Document without the prior written
consent of the Administrative Agent and each Lender except in connection with the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization, and no Lender
may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to an Eligible Assignee in accordance with the
provisions of the immediately following subsection (b), (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of the immediately
following subsection (d) or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of the immediately
following subsection (e) (and, subject to the last sentence of the immediately following subsection (b), any other attempted assignment or
transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any
Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in the
immediately following subsection (d) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement. The parties hereby agree that
MLPF&S in its capacity as an Arranger and joint bookrunner may, without notice to the Borrower, assign its rights and obligations in such
capacities under this Agreement to any other registered broker-dealer wholly-owned by Bank of America Corporation to which all or
substantially all of Bank of America Corporation’s or any of its subsidiaries’ investment banking, commercial lending services or related
businesses may be transferred following the date of this Agreement.

(b) Assignments by Lenders. Any Lender may at any time assign to one or more Eligible Assignees all or a portion of its rights
and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Term Loan Commitment and the Loans at the time owing to it);
provided that any such assignment shall be subject to the following conditions:
(i) Minimum Amounts.
(A) in the case of an assignment of the entire remaining amount of an assigning Lender’s Term Loans at the
time owing to it, or in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund, no minimum
amount need be assigned; and
(B) in any case not described in the immediately preceding subsection (A), the principal outstanding balance of
the Term Loan subject to such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to

such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent or, if “Trade Date” is specified in the Assignment and
Assumption, as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than $1,000,000, unless each of the Administrative Agent and, so long
as no Default or Event of Default shall exist, the Borrower otherwise consents (each such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed); provided, however, that if, after giving effect to such assignment, the outstanding principal balance
of the Loans of such assigning Lender would be less than $1,000,000, then such assigning Lender shall assign the entire
amount of the Loans at the time owing to it.

(ii) Proportionate Amounts. Each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the
assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Loan assigned.
(iii) Required Consents. No consent shall be required for any assignment except to the extent required by clause (i)(B)
of this subsection (b) and, in addition:
(A) the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall be required
unless (x) a Default or Event of Default shall exist at the time of such assignment or (y) such assignment is to a Lender,
an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund; provided that the Borrower shall be deemed to have consented to any such
assignment unless it shall object thereto by written notice to the Administrative Agent within 5 Business Days after having
received notice thereof and provided, further, that the Borrower’s consent shall not be required during the primary
syndication of the Term Loan Facility; and
(B) the consent of the Administrative Agent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall be
required for assignments in respect of a Term Loan to a Person who is not a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an
Approved Fund with respect to a Lender.
(iv) Assignment and Assumption; Notes. The parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative
Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of $4,500 (or $7,500 in the event that such
transferor Lender is a Defaulting Lender) for each assignment (which fee the Administrative Agent may, in its sole discretion,
elect to waive), and the assignee, if it is not a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire. If
requested by the transferor Lender or the assignee, upon the consummation of any assignment, the transferor Lender, the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall make appropriate arrangements so that, to the extent requested by the assignees or
transferor Lender, new Notes are issued to the assignee and such transferor Lender, as appropriate.
(v) No Assignment to Certain Persons. No such assignment shall be made to (A) the Borrower or any of the
Borrower’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries or (B) to any Defaulting Lender or any of its Subsidiaries, or to any Person who, upon
becoming a Lender hereunder, would constitute a Defaulting Lender or a Subsidiary thereof.
(vi) No Assignment to Natural Persons. No such assignment shall be made to a natural Person (or a holding company,
investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of, a natural Person).
(vii) Certain Additional Payments. In connection with any assignment of rights and obligations of any Defaulting Lender
hereunder, no such assignment shall be effective unless and until, in addition to the other conditions thereto set forth herein, the
parties to the assignment shall make such additional payments to the Administrative Agent in an aggregate amount sufficient, upon
distribution thereof as appropriate (which may be outright payment, purchases by the assignee of participations or
subparticipations, or other compensating actions, including funding, with the consent of the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent, the applicable pro rata share of Loans previously requested but not funded by the Defaulting Lender, to each of which the
applicable assignee and assignor hereby irrevocably consent), to pay and satisfy in full all payment liabilities then owed by such
Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent and each other Lender hereunder (and interest accrued thereon). Notwithstanding
the foregoing, in the event that any assignment of rights and obligations of any Defaulting Lender hereunder shall become
effective under Applicable Law without compliance with the provisions of this paragraph, then the assignee of such interest shall
be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender for all purposes of this Agreement until such compliance occurs.
Subject to acceptance and recording thereof by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the immediately following subsection (c), from and
after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption, the assignee thereunder shall be a party to this Agreement and, to
the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement,
and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its
obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and
obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto) but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of
Sections 4.4., 12.2. and 12.9. and the other provisions of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as provided in Section 12.10. with
respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment; provided, that except to the extent otherwise

expressly agreed by the affected parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any
party hereunder arising from that Lender having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or
obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this paragraph shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by
such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with the immediately following subsection (d).

(c) Register. The Administrative Agent, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at
the Principal Office a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and
addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts (and stated interest) of the Loans owing to, each Lender
pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “Register”). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and
the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the
terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower
and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
(d) Participations. Any Lender may at any time, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrower or the Administrative Agent,
sell participations to any Person (other than a natural Person, or a holding company, investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated
for the primary benefit of, a natural Person, or the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a “Participant”)
in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans owing to it);
provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible
to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall
continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any
agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to
enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such
agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to (w) increase such
Lender’s Commitment, (x) extend the date fixed for the payment of principal on the Loans or portions thereof owing to such Lender,
(y) reduce the rate at which interest is payable thereon (other than a waiver of default interest and changes in calculation of the Leverage
Ratio that may indirectly affect pricing) or (z) release any Guarantor from its Obligations under the Guaranty except as contemplated by
Sections 7.13. and 7.14., in each case, as applicable to that portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligations that are subject to the
participation. The Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 3.10., 4.1. and 4.4. (subject to the
requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 3.10.(g) (it being understood that the documentation required
under Section 3.10.(g) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its
interest by assignment pursuant to subsection (b) of this Section; provided that such Participant (A) agrees to be subject to the provisions
of Section 3.9.(h) or 4.6. as if it were an assignee under subsection (b) of this Section; and (B) shall not be entitled to receive any greater
payment under Sections 3.10. or 4.1., with respect to any participation, than its participating Lender would have been entitled to receive,
except to the extent such entitlement to receive a greater payment results from a Regulatory Change that occurs after the Participant
acquired the applicable participation. Each Lender that sells a participation agrees, at the Borrower’s request and expense, to use
reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Borrower to effectuate the provisions of Section 3.9.(h) or 4.6. with respect to any Participant.
To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 12.3. as though it were a Lender; provided
that such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 3.3. as though it were a Lender. Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting
solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each
Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant’s interest in the Loans or other obligations under the Loan
Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the
Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any commitments,
loans or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish
that such commitment, loan or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations.
The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is
recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the
contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, the Administrative Agent (in its capacity as Administrative Agent) shall have no responsibility for
maintaining a Participant Register.
(e) Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this
Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank;
provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee
or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.
(f) No Registration. Each Lender agrees that, without the prior written consent of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, it
will not make any assignment hereunder in any manner or under any circumstances that would require registration or qualification of, or
filings in respect of, any Loan or Note under the Securities Act or any other securities laws of the United States of America or of any
other jurisdiction.

(g) USA Patriot Act Notice; Compliance. In order for the Administrative Agent to comply with “know your customer” and antimoney laundering rules and regulations, including without limitation, the Patriot Act, prior to any Lender that is organized under the laws of
a jurisdiction outside of the United States of America becoming a party hereto, the Administrative Agent may request, and such Lender
shall provide to the Administrative Agent, its name, address, tax identification number and/or such other identification information as shall
be necessary for the Administrative Agent to comply with federal law.
Section 12.6.Amendments and Waivers.
(a) Generally. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, (i) any consent or approval required or permitted by
this Agreement or any other Loan Document to be given by the Lenders may be given, (ii) any term of this Agreement or of any other
Loan Document may be amended, (iii) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary of
any terms of this Agreement or such other Loan Document may be waived, and (iv) the continuance of any Default or Event of Default
may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) with, but only with, the written
consent of the Requisite Lenders (or the Administrative Agent at the written direction of the Requisite Lenders), and, in the case of an
amendment to any Loan Document, the written consent of each Loan Party which is party thereto. Subject to the immediately following
subsection (b), any term of this Agreement or of any other Loan Document relating to the rights or obligations of the Lenders, and not any
other Lenders, may be amended, and the performance or observance by the Borrower or any other Loan Party or any Subsidiary of any
such terms may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) with, but only with, the
written consent of the Requisite Lenders (and, in the case of an amendment to any Loan Document, the written consent of each Loan
Party a party thereto). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section, a Fee Letter may only be amended, and the
performance or observance by any Loan Party thereunder may only be waived, in a writing executed by the parties thereto.

(b) Additional Lender Consents. In addition to the foregoing requirements, no amendment, waiver or consent shall:
(i) increase, extend or reinstate the Commitments of a Lender or subject a Lender to any additional obligations without
the written consent of such Lender;
(ii) reduce the principal of, or interest that has accrued or the rates of interest that will be charged (subject to the last
sentence of Section 12.6.(d)) on the outstanding principal amount of, any Loans or other Obligations (other than a waiver of
default interest and changes in calculation of the Leverage Ratio that may indirectly affect pricing) without the written consent of
each Lender directly affected thereby; provided, however, that only the written consent of the Requisite Lenders shall be required
(x) for the waiver of interest payable at the Post-Default Rate, retraction of the imposition of interest at the Post-Default Rate
and amendment of the definition of “Post-Default Rate” and (y) to amend any financial covenant hereunder (or any defined term
used therein) even if the effect of such amendment would be to reduce the rate of interest on any Loan or to reduce any fee
payable hereunder;
(iii) reduce the amount of any Fees payable to a Lender without the written consent of such Lender;
(iv) modify the definition of “Termination Date”, or otherwise postpone any date fixed for, or forgive, any payment of
principal of, or interest on, any Term Loans or for the payment of Fees or any other Obligations owing to the Lenders, in each
case, without the written consent of each Lender;
(v) [reserved];
(vi) modify the definition of “Pro Rata Share” or amend or otherwise modify the provisions of Section 3.2. or
Section 10.5. without the written consent of each Lender;
(vii) amend subsection (a) or this subsection (b) of this Section 12.6. or amend the definitions of the terms used in this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents insofar as such definitions affect the substance of this Section without the written
consent of each Lender;
(viii) modify the definition of the term “Requisite Lenders” or modify in any other manner the number or percentage of
the Lenders required to make any determinations or waive any rights hereunder or to modify any provision hereof without the
written consent of each Lender; or
(ix) release any Guarantor from its obligations under the Guaranty (except as contemplated by Sections 7.13. and 7.14.)
without the written consent of each Lender.
(c) Amendment of Administrative Agent’s Duties, Etc. No amendment, waiver or consent unless in writing and signed by the

Administrative Agent, in addition to the Lenders required hereinabove to take such action, shall affect the rights or duties of the
Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or modify Section 11.11. Any amendment, waiver or
consent with respect to any Loan Document that (i) diminishes the rights of a Specified Derivatives Provider or a Specified Cash
Management Bank in a manner or to an extent dissimilar to that affecting the Lenders or (ii) increases the liabilities or obligations of a
Specified Derivatives Provider or a Specified Cash Management Bank shall, in addition to the Lenders required hereinabove to take such
action, require the consent of the Lender that is (or having an Affiliate that is) such Specified Derivatives Provider or such Specified Cash
Management Bank, as applicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve
or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hereunder (and any amendment, waiver or consent which by its terms requires the
consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender may be effected with the consent of the applicable Lenders other than Defaulting
Lenders), except that (x) the Commitments of any Defaulting Lender may not be increased, reinstated or extended without the written
consent of such Defaulting Lender and (y) any waiver, amendment or modification requiring the consent of all Lenders or each affected
Lender that by its terms affects any Defaulting Lender more adversely than other affected Lenders shall require the written consent of
such Defaulting Lender. No waiver shall extend to or affect any obligation not expressly waived or impair any right consequent thereon
and any amendment, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose set forth therein. No
course of dealing or delay or omission on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right shall operate as a
waiver thereof or otherwise be prejudicial thereto. Any Event of Default occurring hereunder shall continue to exist until such time as
such Event of Default is waived in writing in accordance with the terms of this Section, notwithstanding any attempted cure or other
action by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Person subsequent to the occurrence of such Event of Default. Except as
otherwise explicitly provided for herein or in any other Loan Document, no notice to or demand upon the Borrower shall entitle the
Borrower to other or further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances.

(d) Technical Amendments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 12.6., if the Administrative Agent and the
Borrower have jointly identified an ambiguity, omission, mistake or defect in any provision of this Agreement or an inconsistency between
provisions of this Agreement, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall be permitted to amend such provision or provisions to cure
such ambiguity, omission, mistake, defect or inconsistency so long as to do so would not adversely affect the interests of the Lenders. Any
such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any of other party to this Agreement. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower may, without the consent of any Lender, (x) enter into amendments or
modifications to this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or (y) enter into additional Loan Documents, in each case, as the
Administrative Agent reasonably deems appropriate in order to implement any Replacement Rate or otherwise effectuate the terms of
Section 4.2.(b) in accordance with the terms of Section 4.2.(b).
(e) Amendments for Incremental Facilities, Permitted UPREIT Reorganization and Permitted Amendments. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, this Agreement may be amended (or amended and restated) with only the written consent of the Administrative Agent and the
Borrower (a) to provide for the making of any Incremental Facility as contemplated by Section 2.16. and to permit the accrued interest
and fees in respect thereof to share ratably in the benefits of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents with the Loans and the
accrued interest and fees in respect thereof, (b) to include appropriately the Lenders in respect of such Incremental Facilities in any
determination of the Requisite Lenders and (c) to provide for the Permitted UPREIT Reorganization.
Section 12.7.Nonliability of Administrative Agent and Lenders.
The relationship between the Borrower, on the one hand, and the Lenders and the Administrative Agent, on the other hand, shall
be solely that of borrower and lender. None of the Administrative Agent, any Lender Party or any of their respective Affiliates shall have
any fiduciary responsibilities to the Borrower or any other Loan Party and no provision in this Agreement or in any of the other Loan
Documents, and no course of dealing between or among any of the parties hereto, shall be deemed to create any fiduciary duty owing by
the Administrative Agent, any Lender Party or any of their respective Affiliates to any Lender, the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other
Loan Party. None of the Administrative Agent, any Lender Party or any of their respective Affiliates undertakes any responsibility to the
Borrower to review or inform the Borrower of any matter in connection with any phase of the Borrower’s business or operations. The
Administrative Agent, each Lender Party and any of their respective Affiliates may have economic interests that conflict with those of the
Loan Parties, their stockholders and partners and/or their Affiliates.

Section 12.8.Confidentiality.
The Administrative Agent and each Lender shall maintain the confidentiality of all Information (as defined below) but in any event
may make disclosure: (a) to its Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates’ other respective Related Parties (it being understood that the Persons
to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information
confidential); (b) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any actual or proposed
assignee, Participant or other transferee in connection with a potential transfer of any Loan or participation therein as permitted hereunder,
or (ii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its
obligations; (c) as required or requested by any Governmental Authority or representative thereof or pursuant to legal process or in

connection with any legal proceedings, or as otherwise required by Applicable Law; (d) to the Administrative Agent’s or such Lender’s
independent auditors, consultants, and other professional advisors (provided they shall be notified of the confidential nature of the
information); (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies under any Loan Document (or any Specified Derivatives Contract or
Specified Cash Management Agreement) or any action or proceeding relating to any Loan Document (or any Specified Derivatives
Contract or Specified Cash Management Agreement) or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder; (f) to the extent such
Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section actually known by the Administrative Agent or
such Lender to be a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any Affiliate of the
Administrative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower or any Affiliate of the Borrower;
(g) to the extent requested by, or required to be disclosed to, any regulatory or similar authority purporting to have jurisdiction over such
Person or its Related Parties (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners);
(h) of deal terms and other information customarily reported to Thomson Reuters, other bank market data collectors and similar service
providers to the lending industry and service providers to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in connection with the administration
of the Loan Documents; (i) to any other party hereto; (j) on a confidential basis (1) upon the Borrower’s request, to any rating agency in
connection with rating the Borrower or its Subsidiaries or the credit facility provided for herein or (2) to the CUSIP Service Bureau or any
similar agency in connection with the issuance and monitoring of CUSIP numbers with respect to the Loan Documents; (k) for purposes
of establishing a “due diligence” defense; and (l) with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrative Agent and each Lender may disclose any such confidential information,
without notice to the Borrower or any other Loan Party, to Governmental Authorities in connection with any regulatory examination of the
Administrative Agent or such Lender or in accordance with the regulatory compliance policy of the Administrative Agent or such Lender.
As used in this Section, the term “Information” means all information received from the Borrower, any other Loan Party, any other
Subsidiary or Affiliate relating to any Loan Party or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to
the Administrative Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower, any other Loan Party, any other
Subsidiary or any Affiliate, provided that, in the case of any such information received from the Borrower, any other Loan Party, any
other Subsidiary or any Affiliate after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any
Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its
obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Section 12.9.Indemnification.
(a) The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent (and any sub-agent thereof), each Arranger, each Lender and each
Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnified Party”) against, and hold each
Indemnified Party harmless from, and shall pay or reimburse promptly, and in any event within fifteen (15) Business Days following
demand therefor, any such Indemnified Party for, any and all losses, claims (including without limitation, Environmental Claims), damages,
liabilities and related reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses (including, without limitation, the reasonable and documented
fees, charges and disbursements of one primary counsel to the Indemnified Parties, one specialty counsel to the Indemnified Parties in
each relevant specialty, one local counsel to the Indemnified Parties in each relevant local jurisdiction, in the case of an actual or perceived
conflict of interest, one additional counsel to the affected Indemnified Parties that are similarly situated in each relevant jurisdiction),
incurred by any Indemnified Party or asserted against any Indemnified Party by any Person (including the Borrower, any other Loan
Party or any other Subsidiary) other than such Indemnified Party and its Related Parties, arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of
(i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or
thereby, the performance by the parties hereto or thereto of their respective obligations hereunder or thereunder or the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any Loan or the use or proposed use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any actual or
alleged presence or release of Hazardous Materials on or from any property owned or operated by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or
any other Subsidiary, or any Environmental Claim related in any way to the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Subsidiary,
(iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort
or any other theory, whether brought by a third party, an Indemnified Party or by the Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other
Subsidiary, and regardless of whether any Indemnified Party is a party thereto, or (v) any claim (including without limitation, any
Environmental Claims), investigation, litigation or other proceeding (whether or not the Administrative Agent, any Arranger or any Lender
is a party thereto) and the prosecution and defense thereof, arising out of or in any way connected with the Loans, this Agreement, any
other Loan Document, or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the transactions contemplated hereby or
thereby, including without limitation, reasonable attorneys and consultant’s fees; provided, however, that such indemnity shall not, as to any
Indemnified Party, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses (x) are determined by a court
of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct or
material breach of the obligations hereunder or under any other Loan Document of such Indemnified Party or (y) result from any dispute
solely among the Indemnified Parties (except in connection with claims or disputes (1) against the Administrative Agent and/or the
Arrangers in their respective capacities relating to whether the conditions to any Credit Event have been satisfied, (2) against the
Administrative Agent and/or the Arrangers in their respective capacities with respect to a Defaulting Lender or the determination of
whether a Lender is a Defaulting Lender, (3) against the Administrative Agent and/or the Arrangers in their respective capacities as such
and (4) directly resulting from any act or omission on the part of the Borrower, any other Loan Parties or any other Subsidiary).

(b) If and to the extent that the obligations of the Borrower under this Section are unenforceable for any reason, the Borrower
hereby agrees to make the maximum contribution to the payment and satisfaction of such obligations which is permissible under
Applicable Law.
(c) The Borrower’s obligations under this Section shall survive any termination of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents and the payment in full in cash of the Obligations, and are in addition to, and not in substitution of, any of the other obligations
set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to which it is a party.
References in this Section 12.9. to “Lender” or “Lenders” shall be deemed to include such Persons (and their Affiliates) in their capacity
as Specified Derivatives Providers and Specified Cash Management Banks, as applicable.

Section 12.10.Termination; Survival.
This Agreement shall terminate at such time as (a) all of the Commitments have been terminated, (b) none of the Lenders is
obligated any longer under this Agreement to make any Loans and (c) all Obligations (other than obligations which survive as provided in
the following sentence) have been paid and satisfied in full. The indemnities to which the Administrative Agent and the Lenders are
entitled under the provisions of Sections 3.10., 4.1., 4.4., 11.6., 12.2. and 12.9. and any other provision of this Agreement and the other
Loan Documents, and the provisions of Section 12.4., shall continue in full force and effect and shall protect the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders (i) notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement, or of the other Loan Documents, against events arising after such
termination as well as before and (ii) at all times after any such party ceases to be a party to this Agreement with respect to all matters
and events existing on or prior to the date such party ceased to be a party to this Agreement.

Section 12.11.Severability of Provisions.
If any provision of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents shall be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
invalid or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed severed from the Loan Documents, and the validity, legality and enforceability of
the remaining provisions shall remain in full force as though the invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been part of the Loan
Documents.

Section 12.12.GOVERNING LAW.
THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTS EXECUTED, AND TO BE FULLY PERFORMED, IN SUCH STATE.

Section 12.13.Counterparts.
To facilitate execution, this Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or supplements may be executed in any number
of counterparts as may be convenient or required (which may be effectively delivered by facsimile, in portable document format (“PDF”)
or other similar electronic means). It shall not be necessary that the signature of, or on behalf of, each party, or that the signature of all
persons required to bind any party, appear on each counterpart. All counterparts shall collectively constitute a single document. It shall not
be necessary in making proof of this document to produce or account for more than a single counterpart containing the respective
signatures of, or on behalf of, each of the parties hereto.

Section 12.14.Obligations with Respect to Loan Parties and Subsidiaries.
The obligations of the Borrower to direct or prohibit the taking of certain actions by the other Loan Parties and Subsidiaries as
specified herein shall be absolute and not subject to any defense the Borrower may have that the Borrower does not control such Loan
Parties or Subsidiaries.

Section 12.15.Independence of Covenants.
All covenants hereunder shall be given in any jurisdiction independent effect so that if a particular action or condition is not
permitted by any of such covenants, the fact that it would be permitted by an exception to, or be otherwise within the limitations of,
another covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default if such action is taken or condition exists.

Section 12.16.Limitation of Liability.
None of the Administrative Agent, any Lender, or any of their respective Related Parties shall have any liability with respect to,
and the Borrower hereby waives, releases, and agrees not to sue any of them upon, any claim for any special, indirect, incidental,
consequential or punitive damages suffered or incurred by the Borrower in connection with, arising out of, or in any way related to, this
Agreement, any of the other Loan Documents or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents.

Section 12.17.Entire Agreement.
This Agreement and the other Loan Documents embody the final, entire agreement among the parties hereto and supersede any
and all prior commitments, agreements, representations, and understandings, whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof
and thereof and may not be contradicted or varied by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements or discussions
of the parties hereto. To the extent any term of this Agreement is inconsistent with a term of any other Loan Document to which the
parties of this Agreement are party, the term of this Agreement shall control to the extent of such inconsistency. There are no oral
agreements among the parties hereto.

Section 12.18.Construction.
The Administrative Agent, the Borrower and each Lender acknowledge that each of them has had the benefit of legal counsel of
its own choice and has been afforded an opportunity to review this Agreement and the other Loan Documents with its legal counsel and
that this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be construed as if jointly drafted by the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and
each Lender.

Section 12.19.Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial Institutions.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among
any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any EEA Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document, to
the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the Write-Down and Conversion Powers of an EEA Resolution Authority and
agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(a) the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by an EEA Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising
hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an EEA Financial Institution; and
(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:
(i) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;
(ii) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such EEA Financial
Institution, its parent undertaking, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred on it, and that such shares
or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement
or any other Loan Document; or
(iii) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the Write-Down and Conversion Powers
of any EEA Resolution Authority.
Section 12.20.Headings.
The paragraph and section headings in this Agreement are provided for convenience of reference only and shall not affect its
construction or interpretation.

[Signatures on Following Pages]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their authorized officers all as of
the day and year first above written.
NATIONAL HEALTH INVESTORS, INC.
By: /s/ D. Eric Mendelsohn
Name: D. Eric Mendelsohn
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
[Signature Page to Term Loan Agreement with National Health Investors, Inc.]

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Administrative Agent and as a
Lender
By: /s/ Darin Mullis
Name: Darin Mullis
Title: Managing Director

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]

[Signature Page to Term Loan Agreement with National Health Investors, Inc.]
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as a Syndication Agent and as a Lender
By: /s/ H. Hope Walker
Name: H. Hope Walker
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
[Signature Page to Term Loan Agreement with National Health Investors, Inc.]
KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Syndication Agent and as a Lender
By: /s/ Laura Conway
Name: Laura Conway
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]

[Signature Page to Term Loan Agreement with National Health Investors, Inc.]
REGIONS BANK, as a Syndication Agent and as a Lender
By: /s/ John E. Boudler
Name: John E. Boudler
Title: Senior Vice President

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
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BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Lender
By: /s/ Loyd Baron
Name: Loyd Baron
Title: Director

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
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CAPITAL ONE, N.A., as a Lender
By: /s/ Jason LaGrippe
Name: Jason LaGrippe
Title: Duly Authorized Signatory

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
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GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, as a Lender
By: /s/ Annie Carr
Name: Annie Carr
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender
By: /s/ Chiara Carter
Name: Chiara Carter
Title: Executive Director

[Signatures Continued on Next Page]
[Signature Page to Term Loan Agreement with National Health Investors, Inc.]
PINNACLE BANK, as a Lender
By: /s/ Allison H. Jones
Name: Allison H. Jones
Title: Senior Vice President

[End of Signatures]
SCHEDULE I
Term Loan Commitments

Lender
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
Bank of America, N.A.
KeyBank National Association

Term Loan Commitment Amount
$40,000,000
$40,000,000
$40,000,000

Regions Bank
Bank of Montreal
Capital One, N.A.
Goldman Sachs Bank USA
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Pinnacle Bank
TOTAL

$40,000,000
$34,000,000
$34,000,000
$24,000,000
$24,000,000
$24,000,000
$300,000,000
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Section 3: EX-31.1 (CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER)
Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, D. Eric Mendelsohn, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant, National Health Investors, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2018

/s/ D. Eric Mendelsohn
D. Eric Mendelsohn
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Section 4: EX-31.2 (CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL
OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER)
Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Roger R. Hopkins, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant, National Health Investors, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions) :
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2018

/s/ Roger R. Hopkins
Roger R. Hopkins

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Section 5: EX-32 (CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND PFO AND PAO)
Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as added by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the
undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for National Health Investors, Inc. ("Issuer") for the period ended
September 30, 2018 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"):
(a)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Issuer.

Date: November 5, 2018

/s/ D. Eric Mendelsohn
D. Eric Mendelsohn
President and Chief Executive Officer,

Date: November 5, 2018

/s/ Roger R. Hopkins
Roger R. Hopkins
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

(Back To Top)

